
Courage You can call it character

You can call It determination

Oryou can just call it guts ut courage

changes everything Ask any rider

Its the stuff that gives you the confidence

to power forward seise the road and

live your dream And its at the heart of

every hard decision OOO was year

that called on I1arleyavidson to focus

our direction move boldly and do the

right things to fuel our future

After all theres reason weve been

around 107 years We know what it

takes to succeed
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COURAGE rocus
AND DIRECTION

DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS In the worst economic downturn in decades 2009 was year

that required Harley-Davidson to respond with tough courageous decisions

We had two key priorities First we executed on our strategy to manage the business

effectively in the near term and address the immediate challenges But we needed to

do more than simply persevere We needed to establish bold clear strategic direction

that would maximize our opportunities going forward and restore the Company as

strong business that could consistently grow over the long haul We set that direction

and the word that best describes our new strategy is focus

We wasted no time in bringing this strategy

to life moving quickly to focus our resourc

es behind the unique strengths and growth

potential of the Harley-Davidson brand

In light of the 2009 landscape and the

actions we took our 2009 financial results

were not surprising Income from con

tinuing operations of $70.6 million or

$0.30 per share decreased 89.7 percent

from the prior year on 23.1 percent

drop in revenue from motorcycles and

related products to $4.29 billion These

results primarily reflect the impact of re

duced motorcycle shipments restructuring

and Buell exit costs and non-cash charges

related to Harley-Davidson Financial Ser

vices When the loss from MV Agusta

discontinued operations is included the

Company reported full-year net loss of

$55.1 million At the same time even with

the decrease in profitability due to the

reduction in motorcycle shipments and

restructuring spending the Companys

continuing operations generated $609 mil

lion in cash flow from operating activities

in 2009 This speaks well for the ability

to generate cash even in challenging

business environment

ADDRESSING THE IMMEDIATE CHALLENGES

To address the immediate challenges of

2009 and the deep recession we decreased

Harley-Davidson motorcycle shipments to

dealers by nearly 27 percent compared

to 2008 Managing supply in line with

demand remains top priority as key

underpinning of brand strength

We embarked on major consolidation

and restructuring of our production

operations to get our cost structure right

at lower volumes

We also succeeded in obtaining the fund

ing needed to support the lending activities

of Harley-Davidson Financial Services

another priority for us in 2009 Our ability

to fund motorcycle loans for customers was

key strategic advantage in 2009 and was

one of the reasons for our market share

growth during the year As result of our

actions HDFS is on much stronger footing

and we believe we have provided for its

anticipated funding needs for 2010

STRATEGIC FOCUS

Looking out across longer horizon in

October we unveiled our long-term Deliv

ering Results Through Focus business

strategy with its four pillars growth

continuous improvement leadership de

velopment and sustainability As part of

this strategy to focus our efforts we

announced we would exit from the Buell

product line and sell MV Agusta focusing

our resources on the Harley-Davidson

brand which includes continuing to

expand the brand globally

HIGH-POTENTIAL BRAND

The heart of our strategy is our strong

belief that focusing our investment behind

the powerful Harley-Davidson brand pro
vides superior path to tapping the full

potential of the brand and to sustained

long-term growth The Harley-Davidson

brand consistently ranks among the stron

gest globally across many demographic

groups Even in todays more practical

cautious consumer environment people

of all ages and backgrounds still dream

about the Harley-Davidson experience

We see great potential to drive growth

globally and in the U.S through unique

products and experiences both through

outreach to new customers and our com

mitment to core customers

Our strategy is multi-generational and

multi-cultural It calls for us to grow sales

to our core customers while growing sales

to outreach customers at faster rate

Our Dark Custom products including

the Iron 883 are strong draw for young

adults and motorcycles like the Street

Glide Tn Glide and Electra Glide Ultra

Limited have earned the ongoing com

mitment of core riders

In international markets we plan to add

100 to 150 dealer points through 2014

and in the same period increase inter

national retail unit sales to more than 40

percent of total retail unit sales up from

about 33 percent in 2009
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PART

Note regarding forward-looking statements

The Company intends that certain matters discussed by the Company are forward-looking statements

intended to qualify for the safe harbor from liability established by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act

of 1995 These forward-looking statements can generally be identified as such by reference to this note or

because the context of the statement will include words such as the Company believes anticipates

expects plans or estimates or words of similarmeaning Similarly statements that describe future plans

objectives outlooks targets guidance or goals are also forward-looking statements Such forward-looking

statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from

those anticipated as of the date of this report Certain of such risks and uncertainties are described in close

proximity to such statements or elsewhere in this report including under the caption Risk Factors in Item 1A

of this report and under Cautionary Statements in Item of this report Shareholders potential investors and

other readers are urged to consider these factors in evaluating the forward-looking statements and cautioned not

to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements The forward-looking statements included in this

report are made as of the date indicated or if date is not indicated as of the date of the filing of this report

February 23 2010 and the Company disclaims any obligation to publicly update such forward-looking

statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances

Item Business

Harley-Davidson Inc was incorporated in 1981 at which time it purchased the Har1eyDavidson

motorcycle business from AMF Incorporated in management buyout In 1986 Harley-Davidson Inc became

publicly held Unless the context otherwise requires all references to the Company include Harley-Davidson

Inc and all of its subsidiaries The Company operates in two segments the Motorcycles Related Products

Motorcycles segment and the Financial Services Financial Services segment The Companys reportable

segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services They are managed separately

based on the fundamental differences in their operations

The Motorcycles segment designs manufactures and sells at wholesale primarily heavyweight engine

displacement of 651 cc touring custom and performance motorcycles as well as line of motorcycle parts

accessories general merchandise and related services The Company conducts business on global basis with

sales in North America Europe/Middle EastlAfrica AsialPacific and Latin America The Motorcycles segment

includes the Harley-Davidson and Buell product lines On October 15 2009 the Company announced that it

would exit from the Buell product line

During 2008 the Company acquired Italian motorcycle manufacturer MV Agusta MV The results of MV
were included in the Motorcycles segment On October 15 2009 the Company announced its intent to divest

MV The Motorcycles segment financial information has been adjusted to reflect MV as discontinued operation

for all periods presented Please refer to the section titled Overview within Item Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further discussion

The Motorcycles segment discussion that follows is specific to the Harley-Davidson brand unless otherwise

specifically noted

The Financial Services segment consists of Harley-Davidson Financial Services HDFS FIDFS provides

wholesale and retail financing and as an agent provides insurance and insurance-related programs primarily to

Harley-Davidson and Buell dealers and their retail customers HDFS conducts business principally in the United

States and Canada

See Note 21 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for financial information related to the

Companys business segments



Motorcycles and Related Products

Motorcycles The primary business of the Motorcycles segment is to design and manufacture premium

motorcycles for the heavyweight market and sell them at wholesale The Companys worldwide motorcycle sales

generated approximately 75% 78% and 79% of the total net revenue in the Motorcycles segment during each of

the years 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Harley-Davidson branded motorcycle products emphasize traditional styling design simplicity durability

and quality The Company manufactures five families of motorcycles Touring Dyna Softail Sportster and

VRSC The first four of these motorcycle families are powered by an air-cooled twin-cylinder engine with

45-degree configuration The VRSC family is powered by liquid-cooled twin-cylinder engine with

60-degree configuration The Companys Harley-Davidson engines range in displacement size from 883ccs

to 1803ccs

The total on-highway motorcycle market including the heavyweight portion of the market is comprised of

the following four segments

standard emphasizes simplicity and cost

performance emphasizes handling and acceleration

custom emphasizes styling and individual owner customization

touring emphasizes comfort and amenities for long-distance travel

The touring segment of the heavyweight market was pioneered by the Company and includes the Harley-Davidson

Touring family of motorcycles including three-wheeled motorcycles which are generally equipped with fairings

windshields saddlebags and/or Tour pak luggage carriers The custom segment of the market includes motorcycles

featuring the distinctive styling associated with classic Harley-Davidson motorcycles and includes the Companys Dyna
Softail and VRSC motorcycle families as well as portion of the motorcycles in the Sportster family The Companys
Sportster family also serves the standard segment of the market

The worldwide heavyweight motorcycle market is highly competitive The Companys major competitors

are based outside the U.S In addition to these larger established competitors the Company has competitors

headquartered in the U.S These competitors generally offer heavyweight motorcycles with traditional styling

that compete directly with many of the Companys products

Competition in the heavyweight motorcycle market is based upon number of factors including price

quality reliability styling product features customer preference warranties and availability of financing In the

U.S suggested retail prices for the Companys Harley-Davidson motorcycles range from being comparable to

being moderately higher than suggested retail prices for comparable motorcycles available in the market The

Company believes that its larger-displacement products continue to command premium price The Company
emphasizes quality reliability and styling in its products and generally offers two-year warranty for its

motorcycles The Company regards its support of the motorcycling lifestyle across wide demographic range in

the form of events rides rallies including Harley Owners Group H.O.G and through the availability of

line of motorcycle parts accessories and general merchandise as competitive advantages Additionally the

Company considers the availability of financing through HDFS as competitive advantage

In the U.S the Company competes most heavily in the touring and custom segments of the heavyweight

motorcycle market According to the Motorcycle Industry Council these segments accounted for approximately

83% 84% and 80% of total heavyweight retail unit registrations in the U.S during 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively The larger-displacement custom and touring motorcycles are generally the most profitable for the

Company During 2009 the heavyweight portion of the market represented approximately 58% of the total U.S

motorcycle market on- and off-highway motorcycles scooters and three-wheeled motorcycles in terms of new
units registered



For the last 22 years Harley-Davidson motorcycles have led the industry in the U.S for retail unit

registrations of new heavyweight motorcycles The following chart includes U.S retail registration data for

Harley-Davidson motorcycles for the years 2007 through 2009

U.S Heavyweight Motorcycle Registration Dataa

Engine Displacement Size of 65 lcc
Units in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Total market new registrations
304.0 479.8 516.1

Harley-Davidson new registrations
162.0 218.2 251.4

53.3% 45.5% 48.7%

U.S industry data includes 651 cc models derived from submission of motorcycle retail sales by each major manufacturer to an

independent third party This third party data is subject to revision and update 2009 and 2008 U.S industry data includes three-wheeled

vehicles The Company did not ship three-wheeled vehicles until 2008 and does not believe three-wheeled vehicle retail registrations

were significant
in the U.S for 2007 The retail registration data for Harley-Davidson motorcycles presented in this table may differ

slightly from the Harley-Davidson retail sales data presented in Item of this report The Companys source for retail sales data in Item

of this report is sales and warranty registrations provided by Harley-Davidson dealers as compiled by the Company The differences are

not significant and generally relate to the timing of data submissions to the independent sources

The European heavyweight motorcycle market as defined below is similar in size to the U.S market but

customer preferences vary across the region For example in Europe the performance segment represented

nearly 45% of the total heavyweight market in 2009 compared to approximately 15% in the U.S Touring

motorcycles popular in the U.S represented less than 10% of the European heavyweight motorcycle market The

Companys traditional Harley-Davidson products compete primarily
in the custom and touring segments In

addition the Company offers products to compete in the standard and performance segments
with motorcycles

such as Harley-Davidsons XR1 200TM and Nightster

The following chart includes European retail registration data for Harley-Davidson for the years
2007

through 2009

European Heavyweight Motorcycle Registration Dataa

Engine Displacement Size of 65 1cc
Units in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Total market new registrations
313.6 389.7 387.9

Harley-Davidson new registrations
37.7 41.1 38.7

12.0% 10.6% 10.0%

Europe data includes retail sales in Austria Belgium Denmark Finland France Germany Greece Italy Netherlands Norway

Portugal Spain Sweden Switzerland and the United Kingdom The Company derives its market registration data and market share

calculations presented above from information provided by Giral S.A an independent agency This third party data is subject to revision

and update Europe industry data includes three-wheeled vehicles for all periods presented The retail registration data for Harley-

Davidson motorcycles presented in this table may differ slightly
from the Harley-Davidson retail sales data presented in Item of this

report The Companys source for retail sales data in Item of this report is sales and warranty registrations provided by Harley

Davidson dealers as compiled by the Company The differences are not significant and generally relate to the timing of data submissions

to the independent sources

The Company also competes in several other markets around the world Based on Company data the most

significant of these markets in terms of volume are Canada Japan Australia and Brazil In Canada the

Companys market share based on registrations was 39.1% 41.9% and 39.0% during 2009 2008 and 2007



respectively Source Moped and Motorcycle Industry of Canada Market share information for the remaining
international markets has not been presented because the Company does not believe that definitive and reliable

registration data is available at this time

Parts Accessories Parts and Accessories PA products are comprised of replacement parts Genuine
Motor Parts and mechanical and cosmetic accessories Genuine Motor Accessories Worldwide PA net
revenue comprised 17.9% 15.4% and 15.2% of net revenue in the Motorcycles segment in 2009 2008 and 2007
respectively

General Merchandise Worldwide General Merchandise net revenue which includes revenue from
MotorClothes apparel and accessories comprised 6.6% 5.6% and 5.3% of net revenue in the Motorcycles

segment in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Licensing The Company creates an awareness of the Harley-Davidson brand among its customers and the

non-riding public through wide range of products for enthusiasts by licensing the name Harley-Davidson and
other trademarks owned by the Company The Companys licensed products include t-shirts vehicle and vehicle

accessories jewelry small leather goods toys and numerous other products Although the majority of licensing
activity occurs in the U.S the Company continues to expand these activities in international markets Royalty
revenues from licensing included in Motorcycles segment net revenue were $38.3 million $45.4 million and
$46.0 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Harley-Davidson Museum In 2008 the Company opened the Harley-Davidson Museum in Milwaukee
Wisconsin The Museum is unique experience that the Company believes builds and strengthens bonds between
riders and the Company and enhances the brand among the public at large The 130000 square foot

facility
houses the Harley-Davidson Museum and Archives restaurant cafØ retail store and special event space The
Museum gives the Company new way to create memories for customers through visiting planning rides and

hosting special events at the Museum

Other Services The Company also provides variety of services to its independent dealers including
service and business management training programs customized dealer software packages and delivery of its

motorcycles Motorcycle rental and tour programs are available through the Companys independent dealers

International Sales The Companys revenue from the sale of motorcycles and related products to

independent dealers and distributors located outside of the United States was approximately $1.38 billion $1.73
billion and $1.52 billion or approximately 32% 31% and 27% of net revenue of the Motorcycles segment
during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Patents and Trademarks The Company strategically manages its portfolio of patents trade secrets

copyrights trademarks and other intellectual property

The Company and its subsidiaries own and continue to obtain patent rights that relate to its motorcycles
and related products and processes for their production Certain

technology-related intellectual property is also

protected where appropriate by license agreements confidentiality agreements or other agreements with

suppliers employees and other third parties The Company diligently protects its intellectual property including
patents and trade secrets and its rights to innovative and proprietary technology This protection including
enforcement is important as the Company moves forward with investments in new products designs and

technologies While the Company believes patents are important to its business
operations and in the aggregate

constitute valuable asset the success of the business is not dependent on any one patent or group of patents
The Companys active patent portfolio has an average age

for
patents of approximately seven years patent

review committee which is comprised of number of key executives manages the patent strategy and portfolio

of the Company



Trademarks are important to the Companys motorcycle business and licensing activities The Company has

vigorous worldwide program of trademark registration and enforcement to maintain and strengthen the value of

the trademarks and prevent
the unauthorized use of those trademarks The HARLEY-DAVIDSON trademark and

the Bar and Shield trademark are each highly recognizable to the public and are very valuable assets The

Company also owns the BUELL trademark and the trademark portfolio of MV which includes the MV AGUSTA

and CAGIVA trademarks Additionally the Company uses numerous other trademarks trade names and logos

which are registered worldwide The following are among the Companys trademarks HARLEY-DAVIDSON

H-D HARLEY the Bar Shield Logo MOTORCLOTHES the MotorCiothes Logo RIDERS EDGE

HARLEY OWNERS GROUP H.O.G the H.O.G Logo SOFTAIL SPORTSTER V-ROD BUELL and the

Pegasus Logo The HARLEY-DAVIDSON trademark has been used since 1903 and the Bar and Shield

trademark since at least 1910 The BUELL trademark has been used since 1984 With the exception of the MV

Agusta trademarks substantially all of the Companys trademarks are owned by H-D Michigan LLC

subsidiary of the Company which also manages the Companys trademark strategy and portfolio The MV

Agusta trademarks are presently owned by MV Agusta Motor S.p.A

Marketing The Companys products are marketed to retail customers primarily through promotions

customer events and advertising through national television print radio and direct mailings as well as electronic

advertising Additionally regional marketing efforts are accomplished through cooperative program with its

independent dealers The Company also sponsors racing activities and special promotional events and

participates in many major motorcycle consumer shows and rallies

On an ongoing basis the Company promotes
its Harley-Davidson products and the related lifestyle through

H.O.G which has approximately 1.1 million members worldwide and the Company believes is the industrys

largest company-sponsored motorcycle enthusiast organization The Company formed H.O.G in 1983 in an

effort to encourage Harley-Davidson owners to become more actively involved in the sport of motorcycling This

group also sponsors many motorcycle events including rallies and rides for Harley-Davidson motorcycle

enthusiasts throughout the world

In 2000 Riders Edge the Harley-Davidson Academy of Motorcycling was formed Riders Edge offers

series of rider education experiences that provide both new and experienced riders with deeper engagement in the

sport of motorcycling by teaching basic and advanced motorcycling skills and knowledge in way that is fun and

involving The courses are conducted by network of select Harley-Davidson dealerships throughout the U.S

enabling students to experience the Harley-Davidson lifestyle environment people and products as they learn

The Company website www.harley-davidson.com is also utilized to market its products and services The

website features an online catalog which allows retail customers to create and share product wish lists utilize

dealer locator and place catalog orders Internet orders are sold and fulfilled by the participating authorized

Harley-Davidson dealer selected by the retail customer Dealers also handle any after-sale services that retail

customers may require

U.S retail purchasers of new Harley-Davidson motorcycles include both core and outreach customers and

are diverse in terms of age gender and ethnicity and the Company has multi-generational and multi-cultural

marketing strategy The Company defines its core customer base as men over the age of 35 and its outreach

customers as women young adults and ethnically diverse adults The average U.S retail purchaser of new

Harley-Davidson motorcycle has median household income of approximately $85000 More than three-

quarters of the U.S retail sales of new Harley-Davidson motorcycles are to purchasers with at least one year of

education beyond high school and 34% of the buyers have college/graduate degrees The Company measures the

success of its marketing strategy by internally monitoring market shares across its various customer definitions

Sources 2009 Company Studies

Harley-Davidson and Buell Distribution The Companys independent dealerships stock and sell the

Companys motorcycles PA general merchandise and licensed products and perform service for the Companys

motorcycles The Companys independent dealers also sell smaller portion of PA general merchandise and

licensed products through non-traditional retail outlets The non-traditional outlets which are extensions of the



main dealership consist of Secondary Retail Locations SRLs Alternate Retail Outlets AROs and Seasonal

Retail Outlets SROs SRLs are satellites of the main dealership and are developed to meet additional retail and

service needs of the Companys riding customers SRLs also provide PA general merchandise and licensed

products and are authorized to sell and service new motorcycles AROs are located primarily in high traffic

locations such as malls airports or popular vacation destinations and focus on selling the Companys general

merchandise and licensed products SROs are located in similar high traffic areas but operate on seasonal basis

out of temporary locations such as vendor kiosks AROs and SROs are not authorized to sell new motorcycles

The Companys North American region consists of the United States and Canada In the United States the

Company distributes its motorcycles and related products to network of
independently-owned full-service

Harley-Davidson dealerships and the Overseas Military Sales Corporation an entity that retails the Companys
products to members of the U.S military The Company distributes its motorcycles to its dealers in the U.S
based on dealer orders but subject to an allocation system that was designed to be forward-looking and market-

driven in order to align the distribution of motorcycles with the demand in individual dealer markets The

allocation system can affect the number of units of particular models that dealers are able to order and the timing
of shipments to dealers In Canada the Company sells its motorcycles and related products at wholesale to

single independent distributor Deeley Harley-Davidson Canada/Fred Deeley Imports Ltd which in turn sells to

independent dealers in the Canadian market

In the European region consisting of Europe the Middle East and Africa the Company distributes all

products sold to independent dealers or distributors through its subsidiary located in Oxford England or through

one of its sales offices in the United Kingdom France Germany Italy Netherlands Spain Switzerland Czech

Republic or South Africa

In the Asia Pacific region the Company distributes all products sold to independent dealers in Japan and

Australia through Company-owned subsidiaries in those countries and the Company distributes all products sold

to independent dealers and distributors for the remaining Asia Pacific markets in which its motorcycles are sold

from its U.S operations

The Company distributes all products sold in the Latin America region to independent dealers and

distributors in Mexico and Brazil through Company-owned subsidiaries in those countries and the Company
distributes all products sold to independent dealers for the remaining Latin American markets in which its

motorcycles are sold from its U.S operations

The following table includes the number of worldwide Harley-Davidson and Buell independent dealers by
geographic region

North America Region
Europe Asia Pacific Latin America

United States Canada Region Region Region

Independent Distributors

Full Service Dealerships

HDonly 389 25 52 110 16

Buellonly

HD and Buell

671 71 369 198 34

Non-traditional

SRL 87

ARO 83 15

SRO

180 10 10 22



The majority of the Companys independent dealerships sell Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycles

exclusively The Company expects the majority of the dealer network will continue to sell new Buell motorcycles

into 2010 and provide ongoing service and replacement parts to Buell owners

Overall the Company believes the U.S dealer network continues to remain profitable through dealers

actively managing their expense structures despite pressure
from tough U.S economy During 2009 28 dealer

points in the U.S dealer network closed and the Company expects additional dealer points to close during 2010

Outside of the U.S the Companys strategy calls for the international dealer network to expand by 100 to 150

dealer points by 2014

MV Distribution MV distributes its motorcycles and PA to independent dealers primarily through

subsidiaries located in Germany Switzerland and the U.S In Italy and France MV distributes its products to

independent dealers directly All independent dealers also generally sell competitors brands

Seasonality The timing of retail sales made by the Companys independent dealers tracks closely with

regional riding seasons The seasonality of wholesale shipments made by the Company is different depending on

the geographic market

The Companys independent dealers in the U.S and Canadian markets typically build their inventory levels

in the late fall and winter in anticipation of the spring and summer selling seasons The availability of floor plan

financing and financing assistance through HDFS allows dealers to manage these seasonal increases in

inventory In the U.S seasonal financing assistance is subsidized by the Company and in Canada seasonal

financing assistance is sponsored by the regions single independent distributor Deeley Harley-Davidson

Canada/Fred Deeley Imports Ltd As result the Companys wholesale shipments to these markets have

historically not been affected to any material extent by seasonality

In the majority of the remaining international markets the Companys wholesale shipments track more

closely with regional riding seasons In general the Companys independent dealers and distributors in these

international markets do not build inventory levels in the non-riding seasons and as result the Companys

wholesale shipments to these markets are generally lower in the non-riding seasons than in the riding seasons

The seasonality of the Companys wholesale shipments to markets outside the U.S and Canada affects its

ability to produce on level scale throughout the year The Company generally carries higher finished goods

inventory levels during non-riding seasons outside of the U.S and Canada in order to mitigate the effect of

more seasonal wholesale shipment pattern on production

Retail Customer and Dealer Financing The Company believes that HDFS as well as other financial

services companies provide adequate financing to Harley-Davidson and Buell independent distributors dealers

and their retail customers HDFS provides financing to the Companys Canadian distributor Harley-Davidson

and Buell independent dealers and to the retail customers of those dealers in the U.S and Canada The

Companys independent distributors dealers and their retail customers in the Europe Asia/Pacific and Latin

America regions are not serviced by HDFS but have access to financing though other established financial

services companies

Motorcycle Manufacturing The Companys manufacturing strategy is designed to continuously improve

product quality increase productivity reduce costs and increase flexibility to respond to changes in the

marketplace Several methods are employed to drive the Companys strategy including lean manufacturing

principles supplier and employee engagement flexible processes
and optimized manufacturing footprint

The Company recognizes that getting the right product at the right time to the customer is paramount The

Company believes flexible manufacturing including flexible supply chains and flexible labor agreements is the

key element to enable improvements in the Companys ability to respond to customers in cost effective manner

In order to competitively deliver products to customers worldwide the Company is undertaking measures to

restructure current operations and add capabilities that will support our global growth



Raw Material and Purchased Components The Company continues to establish and reinforce long-term

mutually beneficial relationships with its suppliers Through these collaborative relationships the Company gains

access to technical and commercial resources for application directly to product design development and

manufacturing initiatives This strategy has generated improved product quality technical integrity application
of new features and innovations and faster manufacturing ramp-up of new vehicle introductions The Companys
continuing initiative to improve supplier productivity has been instrumental in delivering improvement in

product cost Through continued focus on collaboration and strong supplier relationships the Company
believes it will be positioned to achieve strategic objectives and deliver cost improvement over the long-term

The Company purchases all of its raw materials principally steel and aluminum castings forgings steel

sheets and bars and certain motorcycle components including electronic fuel injection systems batteries tires

seats electrical components and instruments Given the current economic conditions and pressure on certain

suppliers due to difficulties in the automotive industry and U.S manufacturing sector in general the Company is

closely monitoring the overall viability of its supply base However at this time the Company does not

anticipate any difficulties in obtaining raw materials or components

Research and Development The Company believes research and development are significant factors in its

ability to lead the custom and touring motorcycling markets The Companys Harley-Davidson Product

Development Center PDC brings employees from styling purchasing and manufacturing together with

regulatory professionals and supplier representatives to create concurrent product and process development
team The Company incurred research and development expenses of $143.1 million $163.5 million and

$185.5 million during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Regulation International federal state and local authorities have various environmental control

requirements relating to air water and noise pollution that affect the business and operations of the Company
The Company strives to ensure that its facilities and products comply with all applicable environmental

regulations and standards

The Companys motorcycles that are sold in the United States are subject to certification by the U.S
Environmental Protection Agency EPA for compliance with applicable emissions and noise standards and by
the State of California Air Resources Board CARB with respect to CARBs more stringent emissions standards

Company motorcycles sold in California are also subject to evaporative emissions standards that are unique to

California The Companys motorcycle products have been designed to comply fully with all such applicable

standards The EPA has finalized new tail pipe emission standards for 2006 and 2010 respectively which are

harmonized with the California emissions standards Harley-Davidson motorcycle products have been designed
to comply with the new EPA standards and the Company believes it will comply with future requirements when

they go into effect Additionally the Companys motorcycle products must and do in fact comply with the

motorcycle emissions noise and safety standards of the European Union Japan and certain other foreign markets

where they are sold Because the Company expects that environmental standards will become even more

stringent over time the Company will continue to incur some level of research development and production

costs in this area for the foreseeable future

The Company as manufacturer of motorcycle products is subject to the U.S National Traffic and Motor

Vehicle Safety Act which is administered by the U.S National Highway Traffic Safety Administration

NHTSA The Company has certified to NHTSA that its motorcycle products comply fully with all applicable

federal motor vehicle safety standards and related regulations The Company has from time to time initiated

certain voluntary recalls During the last three years the Company has initiated 14 voluntary recalls related to

Harley-Davidson motorcycles at total cost of $11.7 million The Company reserves for all estimated costs

associated with recalls in the period that the recalls are announced

Employees As of December 31 2009 the Motorcycles segment had approximately 7300 employees
Unionized employees at the motorcycle manufacturing facilities in Wauwatosa and Menomonee Falls Wisconsin
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and Kansas City Missouri are represented by the United Steelworkers of America USW as well as the

International Association of Machinist and Aerospace Workers JAM Unionized employees at the distribution

and manufacturing facilities in Franklin and Tomahawk Wisconsin are represented by the USW Production

workers at the motorcycle manufacturing facility in York Pennsylvania are represented by the TAM The

collective bargaining agreement with the Wisconsin-USW and JAM will expire on March 31 2012 the collective

bargaining agreement
with the Kansas City-USW and JAM will expire on July 29 2012 and the collective

bargaining agreement
with the Pennsylvania-TAM will expire on February 2017 Please refer to the Overview

section of Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for

further discussion of the Companys restructuring activities and the impact on the number of employees

Internet Access The Companys internet website address is www.harley-davidson.com The Company

makes available free of charge other than an investors own internet access charges through its internet website

the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form l0-Q and current reports on Form 8-K

and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after it electronically files such material with

or furnishes such material to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission In addition the Company

makes available through its website the following corporate governance
materials the Companys Corporate

Governance Policy Committee Charters approved by the Companys Board of Directors for the Audit

Committee Human Resources Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee the

Companys Financial Code of Ethics the Companys Code of Business Conduct the Code of Conduct in

eight languages including English the Conflict of Interest Process for Directors Executive Officers and Other

Employees the Conflict Process list of the Companys Board of Directors the Companys By-laws

the Harley-Davidson Environmental Policy the Companys Policy for Managing Disclosure of Material

Information the Companys Supplier Code of Conduct and the Sustainability Strategy Report This

information is also available from the Company upon request The Company satisfies the disclosure requirements

under the Code of Conduct the Conflict Process and applicable New York Stock Exchange listing requirements

regarding waivers of the Code of Conduct or the Conflict Process by disclosing the information in the

Companys proxy statement for its annual meeting of shareholders or on the Companys website The Company

is not including the information contained on or available through its website as part of or incorporating such

information by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Financial Services

HDFS is engaged in the business of financing and servicing wholesale inventory receivables and retail

consumer loans primarily for the purchase of Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycles HDFS is an agent for

certain unaffiliated insurance carriers providing property/casualty insurance and also sells extended service

contracts gap coverage and debt protection products to motorcycle owners HDFS conducts business principally

in the United States and Canada

Wholesale Financial Services HDFS provides wholesale financial services to Harley-Davidson and Buell

motorcycle dealers including floorplan and open account financing of motorcycles and motorcycle parts and

accessories HDFS offers wholesale financial services to Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycle dealers in the

United States and Canada and during 2009 approximately 94% of such dealers utilized those services The

wholesale finance operations of HDFS are located in Piano Texas

Retail Financial Services HDFS provides retail financing to consumers including installment lending for

the purchase of new and used Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycles HDFS retail financial services are

available through most Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycle dealers in the United States and Canada HDFS

retail finance operations are principally located in Carson City Nevada and Piano Texas

Insurance Services HDFS is an agent for the sale of motorcycle insurance policies In the U.S HDFS also

offers motorcycle insurance extended service contracts gap coverage and debt protection products through most

Harley-Davidson and Bueil motorcycle dealers In Canada HDFS offers primarily extended service contracts
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through most Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycle dealers Motorcycle insurance that HDFS offers on behalf

of multiple carriers is also marketed on direct basis to motorcycle riders HDFS insurance operations are

principally located in Carson City Nevada and Piano Texas

Funding The Company believes diversified and cost effective funding base are important to meet HDFS
goal of providing credit while delivering appropriate returns and profitability During 2009 the Financial

Services operations were funded with unsecured debt unsecured commercial paper an asset-backed commercial

paper conduit facility and committed unsecured bank facilities and through the term asset-backed securitization

market HDFS also has support agreement with the Company whereby if required the Company agrees to

provide financial support in the form of advances and/or loans Please refer to the section titled Liquidity and

Capital Resources as of December 31 2009 within Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further discussion

Competition The Company regards its ability to offer package of wholesale and retail financial services

in the U.S and Canada as significant competitive advantage Competitors in the financial services industry

compete for business based largely on price and to lesser extent service HDFS competes based on

convenience service brand association dealer relations industry experience terms and price

In the United States HDFS financed 48.8% of the new Harley-Davidson motorcycles retailed by

independent dealers during 2009 as compared to 53.5% in 2008 In Canada HDFS financed 33.2% of the new
Harley-Davidson motorcycles retailed by independent dealers during 2009 as compared to 35.6% in 2008

Competitors for retail motorcycle finance business are primarily banks credit unions and other financial

institutions In the motorcycle insurance business competition primarily comes from national insurance

companies and from insurance agencies serving local or regional markets For insurance-related products such as

extended service contracts HDFS faces competition from certain regional and national industry participants as

well as dealer in-house programs

Competition for the wholesale motorcycle finance business primarily consists of banks and other financial

institutions providing wholesale financing to Harley-Davidson and Buell motorcycle dealers in their local

markets

Trademarks HDFS uses various trademarks and trade names for its financial services and products which

are licensed from H-D Michigan LLC including HARLEY-DAVIDSON H-D and the Bar Shield logo

Seasonality In the U.S and Canada motorcycles are primarily used during warmer months Accordingly
HDFS experiences seasonal variations In general from mid-March through August retail financing volume

increases while wholesale financing volume decreases as dealer inventories decline From September through

mid-March there is generally decrease in retail financing volume while dealer inventories generally build and

turn over more slowly substantially increasing wholesale finance receivables

Regulation The operations of HDFS both U.S and foreign are subject in certain instances to

supervision and regulation by state and federal administrative agencies and various foreign governmental

authorities Many of the
statutory and regulatory requirements imposed by such entities are in place to provide

consumer protection as it pertains to the selling of financial products and services Therefore operations may be

subject to various regulations laws and judicial and/or administrative decisions imposing requirements and

restrictions which among other things regulate credit granting activities including establishing licensing

requirements in applicable jurisdictions establish maximum interest rates finance charges and other charges

regulate customers insurance coverage require disclosure of credit and insurance terms to customers

govern secured transactions set collection foreclosure repossession and claims handling procedures and

other trade practices prohibit discrimination in the extension of credit and administration of loans

regulate the use and reporting of information related to borrower require certain periodic reporting

10 govern the use and protection of non-public personal information and/or 11 regulate insurance solicitation

and sales practices
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Depending on the provisions of the applicable laws and regulations the interpretation of laws and

regulations and the specific facts and circumstances involved violations of or non-compliance with these laws

may limit the ability of HDFS to collect all or part of the principal or interest on applicable loans may entitle the

borrower to rescind the loan or to obtain refund of amounts previously paid could subject HDFS to the

payment of damages or penalties and administrative sanctions including cease and desist orders and could

limit the number of loans eligible for HDFS securitization programs

Such regulatory requirements and associated supervision could limit the discretion of HDFS in operating its

business Noncompliance with applicable statutes or regulations could result in the suspension or revocation of

any charter license or registration at issue as well as the imposition of civil fines criminal penalties and

administrative sanctions The Company cannot assure that the applicable laws or regulations will not be amended

or construed differently that new laws and regulations
will not be adopted or that interest rates charged by HDFS

will not rise to maximum levels permitted by law the effect of any of which could be to adversely affect the

business of HDFS or its results of operations

subsidiary of HDFS Eaglemark Savings Bank ESB is Nevada state thrift chartered as an Industrial

Loan Company ILC As such the activities of this subsidiary are governed by federal regulations and State of

Nevada banking laws and are subject to examination by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation FDIC and

Nevada state bank examiners ESB originates retail loans and sells the loans to non-banking subsidiary of

HDFS This process
allows HDFS to offer retail products with many common characteristics across the United

States and to similarly service loans to U.S retail customers

Employees As of December 31 2009 the Financial Services segment had approximately
600 employees

Item 1A Risk Factors

An investment in Harley-Davidson Inc involves risks including those discussed below These risk factors

should be considered carefully before deciding whether to invest in the Company

The Company may not be able to successfully execute its new long-term business strategy The

Company may not be able to successfully execute the long-term business strategy that the Company

announced on October 15 2009 If the Company is not able on timely and cost effective basis to

successfully exit certain product lines and divest certain company assets as part of the strategy
the

result could be increased costs and diversion of management attention from its focus In addition there

is no assurance that the Company will be able to drive growth to the extent desired through its focus of

efforts and resources on the Harley-Davidson brand or to enhance productivity
and profitability to the

extent desired through continuous improvement

Expanding international sales subjects the Company to risks that may have material adverse

effect on its business Expanding international sales is part of the Companys long-term business

strategy International operations and sales are subject to various risks including political and

economic instability local labor market conditions the imposition of foreign tariffs and other trade

barriers the impact of foreign government regulations and the effects of income and withholding taxes

governmental expropriation and differences in business practices The Company may incur increased

costs and experience delays or disruptions in product deliveries and payments in connection with

international operations and sales that could cause loss of revenues and earnings Unfavorable changes

in the political regulatory and business climate could have material adverse effect on the Companys

net sales financial condition profitability or cash flows

The Company must effectively execute the Companys restructuring plans within expected costs

During 2009 the Company announced combination of restructuring actions that are designed to

reduce excess capacity exit non-core business operations
and lower the Companys cost structure

Effectively executing these plans within expected costs and realizing expected benefits will depend

upon number of factors including the time required to complete planned actions effective
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collaboration and agreement with the unions representing the Companys employees the absence of

material issues associated with workforce reductions availability of and effective use of third party
service providers to assist in implementing the actions avoidance of unexpected disruptions in

production retention of key employees involved in implementing the restructuring plans and the ability

of the Company to sell or lease vacated facilities

The Company sells its products at wholesale and must rely on network of independent dealers

and distributors to manage the retail distribution of its products The Company depends on the

capability of its independent dealers and distributors to develop and implement effective retail sales

plans to create demand among retail purchasers for the motorcycles and related products and services

that the dealers and distributors purchase from the Company If the Companys independent dealers

and distributors are not successful in these endeavors then the Company will be unable to maintain or

grow its revenues and meet its financial expectations Further independent dealers and distributors

may experience difficulty in funding their day-to-day cash flow needs and paying their obligations
because of weakened retail sales and tightening credit If dealers are unsuccessful they may exit or be

forced to exit the business or in some cases the Company may seek to terminate
relationships with

certain dealerships As result the Company could face additional adverse
consequences related to the

termination of dealer relationships Additionally liquidating former dealers
inventory of new and

used motorcycles can add downward pressure on new and used motorcycle prices Further the

unplanned loss of any of the Companys independent dealers may lead to inadequate market coverage
for retail sales of new motorcycles and for servicing previously sold motorcycles create negative

impressions of the Company with its retail customers and adversely impact the Companys ability to

collect wholesale receivables that are associated with that dealer

The Companys dealers may experience further decline in retail sales resulting from general
economic conditions tightening of credit political events or other factors The motorcycle industry
has been affected by general economic conditions over which

motorcycle manufacturers have little

control These factors have caused weaker retail environment leading to weaker demand for

discretionary purchases and the decision to purchase motorcycle has been and may continue to be

affected by these factors The related tightening of credit has led to more limited availability of funds

from financial institutions and other lenders and sources of capital which has adversely affected and

could continue to adversely affect the ability of retail consumers to obtain loans for the purchase of

motorcycles from lenders including HDFS Should general economic conditions or motorcycle

industry demand continue to decline our results of operations and financial condition may be further

substantially adversely affected The motorcycle industry can also be affected by political conditions

and other factors over which motorcycle manufacturers have little control

The Companys dealers may experience further decline in retail sales resulting from declining

prices for used motorcycles and excess supplies of new motorcycles The Company has observed

that prices for used Harley-Davidson motorcycles have declined in recent years which has had and

may continue to have the effect of reducing demand among retail purchasers for new Harley-Davidson

motorcycles at manufacturers suggested retail prices Also while the Company has taken steps

designed to reduce production of its new motorcycles in an effort to keep supply in line with demand
the Companys competitors could choose to supply additional new motorcycles to the market at

reduced prices which could also have the effect of reducing demand for new Harley-Davidson

motorcycles at manufacturers suggested retail prices Ultimately reduced demand among retail

purchasers for new Harley-Davidson motorcycles leads to reduced shipments by the Company

The Company may not be able to successfully execute its manufacturing strategy The Companys
manufacturing strategy is designed to continuously improve product quality increase productivity
reduce costs and increase flexibility to respond to changes in the marketplace The Company believes

flexible manufacturing including flexible supply chains and flexible labor agreements is the key
element to enable improvements in the Companys ability to respond to customers in cost effective

manner To implement this strategy the Company must be successful in its continuous improvement
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efforts which are dependent on the involvement of management production employees and suppliers

Any inability to achieve these objectives could adversely impact the profitability of the Companys

products and its ability to deliver the right product at the right time to the customer

The Company and its independent dealers must balance the economies of level production with

more seasonal retail sales pattern The Company generally records the sale of motorcycle when it is

shipped to the Companys independent dealers and distributors In the past few years increased

availability of Harley-Davidson motorcycles has resulted in the timing of retail purchases tracking

more closely with regional motorcycle riding seasons The seasonality of the Companys wholesale

shipments affects its ability to continue to maintain relatively level production
inventories and

shipments throughout the year As result the Company and its independent dealers and distributors

must balance the economies of level production with the inventory and other costs associated with

more seasonal retail sales pattern Failure to balance the two or any failure of the Company to

adequately adjust its methods of distributing motorcycles among its independent
dealers and

distributors may have material adverse effect on the Companys business and results of operations

The Company relies on third party suppliers to obtain raw materials and provide component

parts for use in the manufacture of its motorcycles The Company cannot be certain that it will not

experience supply problems such as unfavorable pricing or untimely delivery of raw materials and

components In certain circumstances the Company relies on single supplier to provide the entire

requirement of specific part and change in this established supply relationship may cause

disruption in the Companys production schedule In addition the price and availability of raw

materials and component parts from suppliers can be adversely affected by factors outside of the

Companys control such as the supply of necessary raw material Further Company suppliers may

experience difficulty due to financial market disruption in funding their day-to-day cash flow needs

because of tightening credit and those suppliers who also serve the automotive industry may be

experiencing financial difficulties due to downturn in that industry which could adversely affect their

ability to supply the Company These supplier risks may have material adverse effect on the

Companys business and results of operations

Government actions to stabilize credit markets in 2009 are scheduled to end in 2010 which could

have negative impact on capital markets In 2009 the U.S Government enacted legislation and

created several programs to help stabilize credit markets and financial institutions and restore liquidity

including the Federal Reserves Commercial Paper Funding Facility CPFF and the Federal Reserve

Bank of New Yorks Term Asset-backed securities Loan Facility TALF program both of which are

scheduled to expire in 2010 The expiration of these programs could have negative impact on capital

markets and limit the Companys access to capital market funding These negative consequences may

in turn adversely affect the Companys business and results of operations in various ways including

through higher costs of capital reduced funds available through its financial services operations to

provide loans to independent dealers and their retail customers and dilution to existing shareholders

through the use of alternative sources of capital

The Companys financial services operations rely on external sources to finance significant

portion of its operations Liquidity is essential to the Companys financial services business The

disruptions in the financial markets since 2008 have caused many lenders and institutional investors to

reduce and in some cases cease to loan money to borrowers including financial institutions The

disruption has affected and could continue to affect the Companys choice of financing sources and its

ability to raise capital on favorable terms or at all

The Companys financial services operations may be negatively affected by the difficulty in raising

funding in the long-term and short-term capital markets These negative consequences may in turn

adversely affect the Companys business and results of operations in various ways including through

higher costs of capital reduced funds available through its financial services operations to provide

loans to independent dealers and their retail customers and dilution to existing shareholders through

the use of alternative sources of capital
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The Companys financial services operations are highly dependent on accessing capital markets
to fund their operations at competitive interest rates the Companys access to capital and its cost

of capital are highly dependent upon its credit ratings and any negative credit rating actions will

adversely affect its earnings and results of operations The ability of the Company and its financial

services operations to access unsecured capital markets is influenced by their short-term and long-term
credit ratings If the Companys credit ratings are downgraded or its ratings outlook is negatively

changed the Companys cost of borrowing will increase resulting in reduced earnings and interest

margins or the Companys access to capital may be disrupted or impaired

The Companys financial services operations are exposed to credit risk on its retail and wholesale

receivables Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from failure by customer to meet the terms of any
contract with the Companys financial services operations Credit losses are influenced by general
business and economic conditions including unemployment rates bankruptcy filings and other factors

that negatively affect household incomes as well as contract terms customer credit profiles and the

new and used motorcycle market The market turmoil since 2008 has resulted in the tightening of

credit lack of consumer confidence unemployment and increased market volatility all of which have

led to an increased level of commercial and consumer delinquencies The Companys financial services

operations had higher retail receivables outstanding during 2009 as compared to 2008 due to

reduction in off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization activity throughout 2008 and the

utilization of on-balance sheet term asset-backed securitizations during 2009 and therefore retained

increased on-balance sheet credit risk from retail receivables Further negative changes in general

business economic or market factors may have an additional adverse impact on the Companys
financial services credit losses and future earnings For example the Companys financial services

operations conduct business primarily in the United States and as result of recessionary conditions in

the United States economy delinquencies on receivables that the Companys financial services

operations owns or services have increased Credit losses have increased as result of higher

frequency of loss and higher average loss per Harley-Davidson branded motorcycle resulting from

continued pressure on values for repossessed Harley-Davidson branded motorcycles In addition if

there are adverse circumstances that involve material decline in values of Harley-Davidson-branded

motorcycles those circumstances or any related decline in resale values for Harley-Davidson-branded

motorcycles could contribute to increased delinquencies and credit losses

The Company has number of competitors of varying sizes that are based both inside and

outside the United States some of which have greater financial resources than the Company
Many of the Companys competitors are more diversified than the Company and they may compete in

the automotive market or all segments of the motorcycle market Also the Companys manufacturers

suggested retail price for its motorcycles is generally higher than its competitors and if price becomes

more important competitive factor for consumers in the heavyweight motorcycle market the

Company may be at competitive disadvantage In addition the Companys financial services

operations face competition from various banks insurance companies and other financial institutions

that may have access to additional sources of capital at more competitive rates and terms particularly

for borrowers in higher credit tiers Failure to adequately address and respond to these competitive

pressures worldwide and in the U.S may have material adverse effect on the Companys business

and results of operations

The Companys marketing strategy of appealing to and growing sales to multi-generational and

multi-cultural customers worldwide may not continue to be successful The Company has been

successful in marketing its products in large part by promoting the experience of motorcycling To
sustain and grow the business over the long-term the Company must continue to be successful selling

products and promoting the experience of motorcycling to both core customers and outreach customers

such as women young adults and ethnically diverse adults

The Companys success depends upon the continued strength of the Harley-Davidson brand The

Company believes that the Harley-Davidson brand has significantly contributed to the success of its
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business and that maintaining and enhancing the brand is critical to expanding its customer base

Failure to protect the brand from infringers or to grow the value of the Harley-Davidson brand may

have material adverse effect on the Companys business and results of operations

The Companys ability to remain competitive is dependent upon its capability to develop and

successfully introduce new innovative and compliant products The motorcycle market continues

to advance in terms of cutting edge styling and new technology and at the same time be subject to

increasing regulations related to safety and emissions The Company must continue to distinguish its

products from its competitors products with unique styling and new technologies and to protect its

intellectual property from imitators In addition these new products must comply with applicable

regulations worldwide and satisfy the potential demand for products that produce lower emissions The

Company must make product advancements while maintaining the classic look sound and feel

associated with Harley-Davidson products The Company must also be able to design and manufacture

these products and deliver them to the marketplace in an efficient and timely manner There can be no

assurances that the Company will be successful in these endeavors or that existing and prospective

customers will like or want the Companys new products

The Companys Motorcycles segment is dependent upon unionized labor Substantially all of the

hourly employees working in the Motorcycles segment are represented by unions and covered by

collective bargaining agreements Harley-Davidson Motor Company is currently party to five

collective bargaining agreements with local affiliates of the International Association of Machinists and

Aerospace Workers and the United Steelworkers of America that expire March 31 2012 July 29 2012

and February 2017 These collective bargaining agreements generally cover wages healthcare

benefits and retirement plans seniority job classes and work rules There is no certainty that the

Company will be successful in negotiating new agreements with these unions that extend beyond the

current expiration dates or that these new agreements will be on terms as favorable to the Company as

past labor agreements Failure to renew these agreements when they expire or to establish new

collective bargaining agreements on terms acceptable to the Company and the unions could result in

work stoppages or other labor disruptions which may have material adverse effect on customer

relationships and the Companys business and results of operations

The Companys operations are dependent upon attracting and retaining skilled employees

including executive officers The Companys future success depends on its continuing ability to

identify hire develop motivate and retain skilled personnel for all areas of its organization The

Companys current and future total compensation arrangements which include benefits and cash

bonuses may not be successful in attracting new employees and retaining and motivating the

Companys existing employees If the Company does not succeed in attracting personnel or retaining

and motivating existing personnel including executive officers the Company may be unable to

develop and distribute products and services and effectively execute its plans and strategies

The Company incurs substantial costs with respect to employee pension and healthcare benefits

The Companys cash funding requirements and its estimates of liabilities and expenses for pensions

and healthcare benefits for both active and retired employees are based on several factors that are

outside the Companys control These factors include funding requirements of the Pension Protection

Act of 2006 the rate used to discount the future estimated liability the rate of return on plan assets

medical costs retirement age and mortality Changes in these factors can impact the expense and cash

requirements associated with these benefits which could have material adverse effect on future results

of operations liquidity or shareholders equity In addition costs associated with these benefits put the

Company under significant cost pressure as compared to our competitors that may not bear the costs of

similar benefit plans

The Company manufactures products that create exposure to product liability claims and

litigation To the extent plaintiffs are successful in showing that personal injury or property damage

result from defects in the design or manufacture of the Companys products the Company may be
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subject to claims for damages that are not covered by insurance The costs associated with defending

product liability claims including frivolous lawsuits and payment of damages could be substantial

The Companys reputation may also be adversely affected by such claims whether or not successful

The Company must maintain its reputation of being good corporate citizen and treating

customers employees suppliers and other stakeholders fairly The Company has history of good

corporate governance Prior to the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 the Act the

Company had in place many of the corporate governance procedures and
processes now mandated by

the Act and related rules and regulations such as Board Committee Charters and Corporate

Governance Policy In 1992 the Company established Code of Business Conduct that defines how

employees interact with various Company stakeholders and addresses issues such as confidentiality

conflict of interest and fair dealing Failure to maintain this reputation may have material adverse

effect on the Companys business and results of operations

The Company must invest in and successfully implement new information systems and

technology The Company is continually modifying and enhancing its systems and technology to

increase productivity and efficiency When implemented the systems and technology may not provide

the benefits anticipated and could add costs and complications to ongoing operations which may have

material adverse effect on the Companys business and results of operations

The Company is and may in the future become subject to legal proceedings and commercial or

contractual disputes These are typically claims that arise in the normal course of business The

uncertainty associated with substantial unresolved claims and lawsuits may harm the Companys

business financial condition reputation and brand The defense of the lawsuits may result in the

expenditures of significant financial resources and the diversion of managements time and attention

away from business operations In addition although we are unable to determine the amount if any
that we may be required to pay in connection with the resolution of the lawsuits by settlement or

otherwise any such payment may have material adverse effect on the Companys business and

results of operations Refer to the Companys disclosures concerning legal proceedings in the periodic

reports that the Company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission for additional detail

regarding lawsuits and other claims against the Company

The Company must comply with governmental laws and regulations that are subject to change

and involve significant costs The Companys sales and operations in areas outside the U.S may be

subject to foreign laws regulations and the legal systems of foreign courts or tribunals These laws and

policies governing operations of foreign-based companies may result in increased costs or restrictions

on the ability of the Company to sell its products in certain counthes The Companys international

sales operations may also be adversely affected by United States laws affecting foreign trade and

taxation

The Company is subject to income and non-income based taxes in the United States and in various

foreign jurisdictions Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide income tax

liabilities and other tax liabilities The Company believes that it complies with applicable tax law If the

governing tax authorities have different interpretation of the applicable law or if there is change in

tax law our financial condition and/or results of operations may be adversely affected

The Companys domestic sales and operations are subject to governmental policies and regulatory

actions of agencies of the United States Government including the Environmental Protection Agency

EPA SEC National Highway Traffic Safety Administration Department of Labor and Federal

Trade Commission In addition the Companys sales and operations are also subject to laws and

actions of state legislatures and other local regulators including dealer statutes and licensing laws

Changes in regulations or the imposition of additional regulations may have material adverse effect

on the Companys business and results of operations

The Companys motorcycle products use internal combustion engines These motorcycle products are

subject to statutory and regulatory requirements governing emissions and noise including standards
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imposed by the EPA state regulatory agencies such as California Air Resources Board and regulatory

agencies in certain foreign countries where the Companys motorcycle products are sold The

Company is also subject to statutory and regulatory requirements governing emissions and noise in the

conduct of the Companys manufacturing operations Any significant change to the regulatory

requirements governing emissions and noise may substantially increase the cost of manufacturing the

Companys products Further in response to concerns about global climate changes the Company may

face greater regulatory or customer pressure to develop products that generate less emissions This may

require the Company to spend additional funds on research product development implementation

costs and subject the Company to the risk that the Companys competitors may respond to these

pressures in manner that gives them competitive advantage

The Companys financial services operations are governed by various foreign federal and state laws

that more specifically affect general financial and lending institutions The financial services operations

originate the majority of its consumer loans through its subsidiary Eaglemark Savings Bank Nevada

state thrift chartered as an industrial loan company The U.S Congress is currently considering several

proposals that would impose additional regulation and supervision over the financial services industry

For example the U.S House Financial Services Committee has prepared discussion draft of

legislation that would impose additional oversight over the financial parent of an industrial loan

company This additional oversight may include regulation of HDFS and/or its subsidiaries by the

Federal Reserve Board in addition to its current regulators the FDIC and state banking authorities

Failure to comply with these regulations changes in these or other regulations or the imposition of

additional regulations could affect HDFS earnings limit its access to capital limit the number of

loans eligible for HDFS securitization programs and have material adverse effect on HDFS business

and results of operations

In addition the Company is also subject to policies and actions of the New York Stock Exchange

NYSE Many major competitors of the Company are not subject to the requirements of the SEC or

the NYSE rules As result the Company may be required to disclose certain information that may put

the Company at competitive disadvantage to its principal competitors

Breaches of security involving consumers personal data may adversely affect the Companys

reputation revenue and earnings The Company receives and stores personal information in

connection with its financial services operations the Harley Owners Group and other aspects of its

business Breach of the systems on which sensitive consumer information is stored or other

unauthorized release of consumer information may adversely affect the Companys reputation and lead

to claims against the Company

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates commodity

prices and interest rates The Company sells its products internationally and in most markets those

sales are made in the foreign countrys local currency The Company is also subject to risks associated

with changes in prices of commodities Earnings from the Companys financial services business are

affected by changes in interest rates The Company uses derivative financial instruments to attempt to

manage foreign currency exchange rates commodity price and interest rate risks Also these

transactions may expose us to credit risk in the event of default of counterparty to the derivative

financial instruments There can be no assurance that in the future the Company will successfully

manage these risks

The Company disclaims any obligation to update these Risk Factors or any other forward-looking

statements The Company assumes no obligation and specifically disclaims any such obligation to update these

Risk Factors or any other forward-looking statements to reflect actual results changes in assumptions or other

factors affecting such forward-looking statements

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

The following is summary of the principal operating properties of the Company as of December 31 2009

Motorcycles Related Products Segment

Approximate
Type of Facility Location Square Feet Status

Corporate Office Milwaukee WI 515000 Owned
Museum Milwaukee WI 130000 Owned

Airplane hangar Milwaukee WI 14600 Owned

Manufacturing Wauwatosa WI 430000 Owned
Product Development Center Wauwatosa WI 409000 Owned
Distribution Center Franklin WI 255000 Owned

Manufacturing1 Menomonee Falls WI 881600 Owned

Product Development and Office East Troy WI 79000 Lease expiring 2010

Manufacturing2 East Troy WI 40000 Lease expiring 2010

Manufacturing3 Tomahawk WI 211000 Owned

Office Ann Arbor MI 3400 Lease expiring 2014

Office Cleveland OH 23000 Lease expiring 2014

Manufacturing and Materials Velocity

Center4 Kansas City MO 450000 Owned

Warehouse Kansas City MO 20000 Lease expiring 2013

Materials Velocity Center Manchester PA 191000 Owned

Manufacturing5 York PA 1351000 Owned

Motorcycle Testing Talladega AL 35000 Lease expiring 2010

Motorcycle Testing Naples FL 82000 Owned

Motorcycle Testing Yucca AZ 17500 Lease expiring 2019

Office and Training Facility Monterrey Mexico 8300 Lease expiring 2014

Manufacturing and Office6 Manaus Brazil 82000 Lease expiring 2011

Office Sao Paulo Brazil 550 Lease expiring 2010

Office and Warehouse Oxford England 21000 Lease expiring 2017

Office Leiderdorp The Netherlands 9500 Lease expiring 2011

Office Creteil France 8500 Lease expiring 2016

Office Morfelden-Walldorf Germany 19900 Lease expiring 2010

Office Wesseling Germany 4400 Lease expiring 2013

Office Sant Cugat Spain 3400 Lease expiring 2017

Office Zurich Switzerland 2000 Lease expiring 2013

Office Lugano Switzerland 3200 Lease expiring 2011

Office and Warehouse Arese Italy 17000 Lease expiring 2015

Manufacturing and Office7 Varese Italy 170100 Owned

Warehouse Morazzone Italy 116400 Owned

Product Development Center San Marino Italy 21000 Owned

Product Development Center San Marino Italy 5700 Lease expiring 2011

Office Prague Czech Republic 1900 Lease expiring 2019

Office Gurgaon India 9400 Lease expiring 2012

Warehouse Yokohama Japan 15000 Lease expiring 2010

Office Tokyo Japan 14000 Lease expiring 2010

Office Akishima Japan 13000 Lease expiring 2028

Office Shanghai China 3300 Lease expiring 2011

Office Cape Town South Africa 3500 Lease expiring 2012

Office Sydney Australia 21800 Lease expiring 2011

Manufacturing8 Adelaide Australia 485000 Lease expiring 2011
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Motorcycle powertrain production

Buell motorcycle assembly

Fiberglass/plastic parts production and painting

Motorcycle parts fabrication painting and Dyna Sportster and VRSC assembly

Motorcycle parts fabrication painting and Softail and touring model assembly

Assembly of select models for the Brazilian market

MV Agusta and Cagiva motorcycle assembly

Motorcycle wheel production

During 2009 the Company committed to combination of restructuring activities designed to reduce

administrative costs eliminate excess capacity and exit non-core business operations The Company expects that

the impact of these restructuring activities as well as the discontinuation of the Buell product line the

Companys intent to divest MV and the restructuring of the Companys York Pennsylvania operations that the

Company has announced will have the following effects on the Companys operating properties

The manufacturing facility in Wauwatosa Wisconsin will be closed and operations consolidated into

the manufacturing facility in Menomonee Falls Wisconsin by mid-2010

The distribution facility in Franklin Wisconsin will be closed and distribution operations consolidated

through third-party provider The transition is expected to be finalized in 2010

As result of the Companys decision to stop production of the Buell product line the leases for the

Bueli product development office and manufacturing facilities in East Troy Wisconsin were

terminated effective mid-2010

The manufacturing campus at York Pennsylvania will be consolidated into one facility and focused on

the core areas of motorcycle assembly metal fabrication and paint Consolidation efforts began in 2009

and are expected to continue until 2012 In addition certain areas of the York campus plus the

materials velocity center in Manchester Pennsylvania are expected to be sold to third-parties with the

sale agreements effective in 2011 The operations of the materials velocity center will be outsourced to

third party

In early 2009 the Company relocated its previous testing operations in Mesa Arizona to new facility

in Yucca Arizona as first step towards consolidating all three of its testing sites Beginning in 2010

and continuing into 2011 the motorcycle testing facilities in Talladega Alabama and Naples Florida

will be consolidated into the testing facility at Yucca Arizona

As part of the Companys 2009 announcement to divest MV the Company will vacate the following

locations upon completion of the sale the offices in Wesseling Germany and Lugano Switzerland

and the leased portion of the product development center in San Marino Italy The following facilities

are expected to be sold in conjunction with the divestiture of MV the manufacturing and office

facilities in Varese Italy the warehouse in Morazzone Italy and the owned portion of the product

development center in San Marino Italy

Financial Services Segment

Approximate

Type of Facility Location Square Feet Status

Office Chicago IL 26000 Lease expiring 2022

Office Plano TX 61500 Lease expiring 2014

Office Carson City NV 100000 Owned

Storage Carson City NV 1600 Lease expiring 2010

The Financial Services segment has three office facilities Chicago Illinois corporate headquarters Piano

Texas wholesale insurance and retail operations and Carson City Nevada retail and insurance operations
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Item Legal Proceedings

The Company is subject to lawsuits and other claims related to environmental product and other matters In

determining required reserves related to these items the Company carefully analyzes cases and considers the

likelihood of adverse judgments or outcomes as well as the potential range of possible loss The required

reserves are monitored on an ongoing basis and are updated based on new developments or new information in

each matter

Environmental Protection Agency Notice

The Company has received formal written requests for information from the United States Environmental

Protection Agency EPA regarding certificates of conformity for motorcycle emissions and related

designations and labels ii aftermarket parts and iiiwarranty claims on emissions related components The

Company has submitted written responses to the inquiry and has engaged in discussions with the EPA It

is possible that result of the EPAs investigation will be some form of enforcement action by the EPA that will

seek fine or other relief However at this time the Company does not know and cannot reasonably estimate the

impact of any remedies the EPA might seek

Shareholder Lawsuits

In re Harley-Davidson Inc Securities Litigation was consolidated shareholder securities class action

lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin On October 2006 the

Lead Plaintiffs filed Consolidated Class Action Complaint which named the Company and certain former

Company officers as defendants that alleged securities law violations and sought unspecified damages relating

generally to the Companys April 13 2005 announcement that it was reducing short-term production growth and

planned increases of motorcycle shipments On December 18 2006 the defendants filed motion to dismiss the

Consolidated Complaint On October 2009 the judge granted defendants motion to dismiss and the clerk of

court entered judgment dismissing the consolidated lawsuit No appeal was taken from the final judgment and the

dismissal of the action is now final

On August 25 2005 class action lawsuit alleging violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security

Act ERISA was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin On October

2006 the ERISA plaintiff filed an Amended Class Action Complaint which named the Company the Harley-

Davidson Motor Company Retirement Plans Committee the Companys Leadership and Strategy Council and

certain current or former Company officers or employees as defendants In general the ERISA complaint

included factual allegations similar to those in the consolidated securities class action and alleged on behalf of

participants in certain Harley-Davidson retirement savings plans that the plan fiduciaries breached their ERISA

fiduciary duties On December 18 2006 the defendants filed motion to dismiss the ERISA complaint On
October 2009 the judge granted defendants motion to dismiss and the clerk of court entered judgment

dismissing the class action lawsuit No appeal was taken from the final judgment and the dismissal of the action

is now final

Three shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District

of Wisconsin on June 2005 October 25 2005 this lawsuit was later voluntarily dismissed and December

2005 and two shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 22 2005

and November 16 2005 against some or all of the following current or former directors and officers of the

Company Jeffrey Bleustein James Ziemer James Brostowitz Barry Allen Richard Beattie

George Conrades Judson Green Donald James Sara Levinson George Miles Jr James

Norling James McCaslin Donna Zarcone Jon Flickinger Gail Lione Ronald Hutchinson

Kenneth Sutton Jr and John Hevey The lawsuits also name the Company as nominal defendant In general

the shareholder derivative complaints include factual allegations similar to those in the class action complaints

and allegations that officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to the Company On February 14 2006
the state court consolidated the two state court derivative actions and appointed Lead Plaintiffs and Lead
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Plaintiffs counsel and on April 24 2006 the state court ordered that the consolidated state court derivative

action be stayed until after motions to dismiss the federal securities class action are decided On February 15

2006 the federal court consolidated the federal derivative lawsuits with the securities and ERISA actions for

administrative purposes On February 2007 the federal court appointed Lead Plaintiff and Co-Lead Plaintiffs

Counsel in the consolidated federal derivative action

On November 24 2009 both federal court derivative plaintiffs moved to voluntarily dismiss their lawsuits

and all claims without prejudice On November 30 2009 the federal court entered orders granting the motions

and dismissing the federal court derivative lawsuits without prejudice and those cases are now closed The

parties have agreed that the lead plaintiff in the consolidated state court derivative action may have until

February 19 2010 to file an amended complaint in that action and that defendants may have until March 26

2010 to respond to any amended complaint

The Company believes the allegations in the state court derivative lawsuit are without merit and it intends to

vigorously defend against the suit should the plaintiffs file an amended complaint The Company is unable to

predict the scope or outcome or quantify their eventual impact if any on the Company At this time the

Company is also unable to estimate associated expenses or possible losses The Company maintains insurance

that may limit its financial exposure for defense costs and liability for an unfavorable outcome should it not

prevail for claims covered by the insurance coverage

York Environmental Matters

The Company is involved with government agencies and groups of potentially responsible parties in various

environmental matters including matter involving the cleanup of soil and groundwater contamination at its

York Pennsylvania facility The York facility was formerly used by the U.S Navy and AMF prior to the

purchase of the York facility by the Company from AMF in 1981 Although the Company is not certain as to the

full extent of the environmental contamination at the York facility it has been working with the Pennsylvania

Department of Environmental Protection PADEP since 1986 in undertaking environmental investigation and

remediation activities including an ongoing site-wide remedial investigation/feasibility study RIIFS In January

1995 the Company entered into settlement agreement the Agreement with the Navy The Agreement calls for

the Navy and the Company to contribute amounts into trust equal to 53% and 47% respectively of future costs

associated with environmental investigation and remediation activities at the York facility Response Costs The

trust administers the payment of the Response Costs incurred at the York facility as covered by the Agreement

In February 2002 the Company was advised by the EPA that it considers some of the Companys

remediation activities at the York facility to be subject to the EPA corrective action program under the

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act RCRA and offered the Company the option of addressing corrective

action under RCRA facility lead agreement In July 2005 the York facility was designated as the first site in

Pennsylvania to be addressed under the One Cleanup Program The program provides more streamlined and

efficient oversight of voluntary remediation by both PADEP and EPA and will be carried out consistent with the

Agreement with the Navy As result the RCRA facility lead agreement has been superseded

Although the RIIFS is still underway and substantial uncertainty exists concerning the nature and scope of

the additional environmental investigation and remediation that will ultimately be required at the York facility

the Company estimates that its share of the future Response Costs at the York facility will be approximately

$5.9 million The Company has established reserves for this amount which are included in accrued liabilities in

the Consolidated Balance Sheets

The estimate of the Companys future Response Costs that will be incurred at the York facility is based on

reports of independent environmental consultants retained by the Company the actual costs incurred to date and

the estimated costs to complete the necessary investigation and remediation activities Response Costs related to

the remediation of soil are expected to be incurred over period of several years ending in 2015 Response Costs

related to ground water remediation may continue for some time beyond 2015
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Product Liability Matters

Additionally the Company is involved in product liability suits related to the operation of its business The

Company accrues for claim
exposures that are probable of occurrence and can be reasonably estimated The

Company also maintains insurance
coverage

for product liability exposures The Company believes that its

accruals and insurance coverage are adequate and that product liability will not have material adverse effect on

the Companys consolidated financial statements

Item Submission of Matters to Vote of Security Holders

None
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Harley-Davidson Inc common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange Inc The high and low

market prices for the common stock reported as New York Stock Exchange Inc Composite Transactions were

as follows

2009 Low High 2008 Low High

First quarter 7.99 $20.01 First quarter $34.17 $46.61

Second quarter $12.90 $22.74 Second quarter $34.10 $41.75

Third quarter $14.99 $25.56 Third quarter $32.18 $48.05

Fourth quarter $20.76 $30.00 Fourth quarter $11.54 $39.30

The Company paid the following dividends per share

2009 2008 2007

First quarter
$0.10 $0.30 $0.21

Second quarter
0.10 0.33 0.25

Thirdquarter
0.10 0.33 0.30

Fourth quarter
0.10 0.33 0.30

$0.40 $1.29 $1.06

As of February 2010 there were 91123 shareholders of record of Harley-Davidson Inc common stock

The following table contains detail related to the repurchase of common stock based on the date of trade

during the quarter ended December 31 2009

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of

Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet Be

Total Number of Average Price Publicly Announced Purchased Under the

2009 Fiscal Month Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs

September 28 to November 4939 23 22542926

November to November 29 22542926

November 30 to December 31 55893 $29 22542926

Total 60832 $29

The Company has an authorization originally adopted in December 1997 by its Board of Directors to

repurchase shares of its outstanding common stock under which the cumulative number of shares repurchased at

the time of any repurchase shall not exceed the sum of the number of shares issued in connection with the

exercise of stock options occurring on or after January 2004 plus one percent of the issued and outstanding

common stock of the Company on January of the current year adjusted for any stock split The Company did

not purchase shares under this authorization during the fourth quarter ended December 31 2009

In December 2007 the Companys Board of Directors separately authorized the Company to buy back up to

20.0 million shares of its common stock with no dollar limit or expiration date As of December 31 2009

16.7 million shares remained under this authorization

The Harley-Davidson Inc 2009 Incentive Stock Plan exhibit 10.18 and predecessor stock plans permit

participants to satisfy all or portion of the statutory federal state and local withholding tax obligations arising

in connection with plan awards by electing to have the Company withhold Shares otherwise issuable under
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the award tender back shares received in connection with such award or deliver other previously owned

Shares in each case having value equal to the amount to be withheld During the fourth quarter of 2009 the

Company acquired 60832 shares of common stock that employees presented to the Company to satisfy

withholding taxes in connection with the vesting of restricted stock awards

Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain information relating to the Companys equity

compensation plans

The following information in this Item is not deemed to be soliciting material or to be filed with the

SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or to the liabilities of

Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into

any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 except to the extent the

Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing the SEC requires the Company to include

line graph presentation comparing cumulative five year Common Stock returns with broad-based stock index

and either nationally recognized industry index or an index of peer companies selected by the Company The

Company has chosen to use the Standard Poors 500 Index as the broad-based index and the Standard

Poors MidCap 400 Index as more specific comparison The Standard Poors MidCap 400 Index was chosen

because the Company does not believe that any other published industry or line-of-business index adequately

represents the current operations of the Company The graph assumes beginning investment of $100 on

December 31 2004 and that all dividends are reinvested

$250
Harley-Davidson Inc

SP MidCap 400

$200
SP 500

$150

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Harley-Davidson Inc 100 86 119 80 31 47

Standard Poors MidCap 400 Index 100 113 124 135 86 118

StandardPoors500lndex 100 105 121 128 81 102
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Item Selected Financial Data

In thousands except per share amounts 200912 200812 2007 20061 2005

Statement of operations data

Revenue

Motorcycles Related Products $4287130 $5578414 $5726848 $5800686 $5342214

Financial Services 494779 376970 416196 384891 331618

Total revenue $4781909 $5955384 $6143044 $6185577 $5673832

Income from continuing operations 70641 684235 933843 $1597153 $1464962

Loss from discontinued operations net

of tax 125757 29517

Netlossincome 55116 654718 933843 $1597153 $1464962

Weighted-average common shares

Basic 232577 234225 249205 264453 280303

Diluted 233573 234477 249882 265273 281035

Earnings per common share from continuing

operations

Basic 0.30 2.92 3.75 3.94 3.42

Diluted 0.30 2.92 3.74 3.93 3.41

Loss per common share from discontinued

operations

Basic 0.54 0.13

Diluted 0.54 0.13

Loss earnings per common share

Basic 0.24 2.80 3.75 3.94 3.42

Diluted 0.24 2.79 3.74 3.93 3.41

Dividends paid per common share 0.400 1.290 1.060 0.8 10 0.625

Balance sheet data

Total assets $9155518 $7828625 $5656606 $5532150 $5255209

Total debt $5636129 $3914887 $2099955 $1702491 $1204973

Total equity $2108118 $2115603 $2375491 $2756737 $3083605

2009 2008 2007 and 2006 results include the adoption of SFAS No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and

Other Postretirement Plans as of December 31 2006 SFAS No.158 is codified into ASC Topic 715 Compensation Retirement

Benefits

2009 and 2008 total assets include assets of discontinued operations of $181.2 million and $238.7 million respectively
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Harley-Davidson Inc is the parent company for the groups of companies doing business as Harley-

Davidson Motor Company HDMC Harley-Davidson Financial Services HDFS Buell Motorcycle Company
Buell and MV Agusta MV HDMC produces heavyweight custom and touring motorcycles HDMC
manufactures five families of motorcycles Touring Dyna Softail Sportster and VRSC HDFS provides

wholesale and retail financing and insurance programs primarily to Harley-Davidson and Buell dealers and

customers

The Company operates in two business segments Motorcycles Related Products Motorcycles and

Financial Services Financial Services The Companys reportable segments are strategic business units that

offer different products and services They are managed separately based on the fundamental differences in their

operations

The Change figures included in the Results of Operations section were calculated using unrounded

dollar amounts and may differ from calculations using the rounded dollar amounts presented

Overview

The Companys 2009 financial results were affected by the difficult economy as well as costs associated

with restructuring the business During 2009 the Company initiated several significant restructuring activities to

reduce its cost structure and also initiated plan to exit the Buell product line and divest MV In connection with

the decision to sell the MV business its financial results have been presented as discontinued operation for all

periods presented

Income and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations in 2009 were $70.6 million and $0.30

respectively each down 89.7% compared to 2008 The results of continuing operations reflect the effects of

lower Harley-Davidson motorcycle shipments restructuring and Buell product line exit costs and non-cash

charges related to Financial Services The loss from discontinued operations which includes MVs operating

losses and fair value adjustment was $125.8 million net of tax or $0.54 per diluted share Including

discontinued operations the Company incurred net loss of $55.1 million or $0.24 per diluted share for 2009

Retail sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles by independent dealers were also impacted by the difficult

economy Worldwide retail sales of new Harley-Davidson motorcycles declined 22.7% in 2009 compared to last

year In 2009 U.S retail sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles were down 25.8% and international retail sales

were down 15.4% as compared to 2008 On an industry-wide basis retail sales of heavyweight motorcycles in

the United States declined 36.7% during 2009

Please refer to the Results of Operations 2009 Compared to 2008 for additional details concerning the

results for 2009

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The Company intends that certain matters discussed in this report are forward-looking statements intended to qualify for the safe harbor

from
liability established by the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995 These forward-looking statements can generally be

identified as such by reference to this footnote or because the context of the statement will include words such as the Company believes

anticipates expects plans or estimates or words of similar meaning Similarly statements that describe future plans objectives

outlooks targets guidance or goals are also forward-looking Statements Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and

uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated as of the date of this report Certain of such risks and

uncertainties are described in close proximity to such Statements or elsewhere in this report including under the caption Risk Factors in

ItemlA and under Cautionary Statements in Item7 of this report Shareholders potential investors and other readers are urged to consider

these factors in evaluating the forward-looking statements and cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements The

forward-looking statements included in this report are made only as of the date of the filing of this report February 23 2010 and the

Company disclaims any obligation to publicly update such forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or circumstances
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Restructuring Activitiest1

During 2009 in response to the U.S economic recession and worldwide slowdown in consumer demand

the Company committed to volume reduction and combination of restructuring actions that are expected to be

completed in 2012 The actions were designed to reduce administrative costs eliminate excess capacity and exit

non-core business operations The Companys significant planned actions include

consolidating its two engine and transmission plants in the Milwaukee area into its facility in

Menomonee Falls Wisconsin

closing its distribution facility in Franklin Wisconsin and consolidating Parts and Accessories and

General Merchandise distribution through third party

discontinuing the domestic transportation fleet

consolidating its vehicle test facilities from three locations in Alabama Arizona and Florida into one

location in Arizona

restructuring its York Pennsylvania motorcycle production facility to focus on the core operations of

motorcycle assembly metal fabrication and paint and

exiting the Buell product line

The 2009 restructuring plans include reduction of approximately 2700 to 2900 hourly production

positions and approximately 720 non-production primarily salaried positions within the Motorcycles segment

and approximately 100 salaried positions in the Financial Services segment These reductions began in 2009 and

are expected to be completed during 2011

During 2009 the Company incurred $224.3 million in restructuring and impairment expense
related to these

activities and $44.8 million in lower gross margins associated with Buell sales incentives and inventory

adjustments that are not included in restructuring charges/expense The Company expects total costs related to

these restructuring activities excluding the $44.8 million of Buell exit costs affecting gross margins to result in

one-time restructuring and impairment expenses of $430 million to $460 million from 2009 to 2012 of which

approximately 30% are expected to be non-cash In 2010 the Company expects to incur restructuring expenses

of $175 million to $195 million The Company anticipates annual ongoing total savings from restructuring of

approximately $240 million to $260 million upon completion of all announced restructuring activities In the

near-term the Company estimates savings from these restructuring activities measured against 2008 spending to

be as follows

2009 $91 million 91% operating expense and 9% cost of sales

2010 $135 million to $155 million 70-80% operating expense and 20-30% cost of sales

2011 $220 million to $240 million 45-55% operating expense and 45-55% cost of sales

2012 $230 million to $250 40-50% operating expense
and 50-60% cost of sales and

Ongoing upon completion $240 million to $260 million 40-50% operating expense
and 50-60% cost

of sales

Discontinued Operations

As noted above the financial results of MV have been presented as discontinued operations for all periods

presented During 2009 the Company wrote down the carrying value of MVs assets resulting in non-cash

charge of $115.4 million or $73.4 million net of related tax benefits This write-down included reduction in the

carrying value of goodwill intangible assets and fixed assets associated with MV and reduced MV net assets to

their fair value less estimated selling costs
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Outlook1

On January 22 2010 the Company announced that it expects to ship 201000 to 212000 Harley-Davidson

motorcycles to dealers and distributors in 2010 which includes 52000 to 57000 during the first quarter of 2010
In addition the Company announced its expectation for full-year 2010 gross profit margin of between 32.0% and

33.5%

Regarding Financial Services the Company believes that actions taken during 2009 including diversifying

HDFS debt structure and improving underwriting standards will assist HDFS in moving to profitability during
2010 as the economy improves The Company continues to believe that HDFS provides strategic advantage for

Harley-Davidson by providing reliable source of financing for the Companys independent dealer network and

dealers retail customers

Also on January 22 2010 the Company announced its expected capital expenditures for 2010 to be

approximately $235 million to $255 million including approximately $95 million to $110 million for capital

expenditures made in connection with its restructuring activities in 2010 The Company anticipates it will have

the ability to fund all capital expenditures in 2010 with internally generated funds

During 2009 the Company announced its long-term business strategy centered on the four key pillars of

growth continuous improvement leadership development and sustainability Under this strategy the Company
expects to drive growth through focus of efforts and resources on the unique strengths of the Harley-Davidson

brand and to enhance productivity and profitability through continuous improvement The strategy focuses

Company resources on Harley-Davidson products and experiences global expansion demographic outreach and

commitment to core customers In addition the Company will continue to expand its to enhance

profitability through continuous improvement in manufacturing product development and business operations

In connection with the announcement of this strategy the Company has identified the following long-term

factors as measures of success against the plan

Outperform the SP 500 over the Companys planning horizon and longer term

International retail motorcycle unit sales to grow at faster rate than domestic retail motorcycle unit

sales over the long term

The addition of 100 to 150 international independent dealer points through 2014 and

International retail motorcycle unit sales to exceed 40% of total retail motorcycle unit sales by

2014

Retail motorcycle unit sales to core customer base to grow over the long term from 2009 levels but

retail motorcycle unit sales to outreach customers to grow at faster rate and

Earnings to grow at faster rate than revenue for 2010 through 2014 including

Productivity savings net of inflation of approximately $20 million to $50 million between now
and 2014 This is in addition to estimated annual savings of announced restructuring activities

discussed above and

Selling administrative and engineering expense to decrease as percentage of revenue
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The following sections include detailed discussion of the results of operations for 2009 and 2008

Results of Operations 2009 Compared to 2008

Consolidated Results

Decrease

in thousands except earnings per share 2009 2008 Increase Change

Operating income from motorcycles related products 314055 976402 $662347 67 8%

Operating loss income from financial services 117969 82765 200734 242.5

Operating income 196086 1059167 863081 81.5

Investment income 4254 11296 7042 62.3

Interest expense
21680 4542 17138 377.3

Income before income taxes 178660 1065921 887261 83.2

Provision for income taxes 108019 381686 273667 71.7

Income from continuing operations 70641 684235 613594 89.7

Loss from discontinued operations net of income taxes 125757 29517 96240 326.0

Net loss income 55116 654718 $709834 108.4%

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
0.30 2.92 2.62 89.7%

Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations 0.54 0.13 0.41 15.4%

Diluted loss earnings per share 0.24 2.79 3.03 l08.6%

Operating results for both of the Companys segments was impacted by the difficult economic environment

Motorcycles operating income fell 67.8% during 2009 driven by decrease in shipments of Harley-Davidson

motorcycles and restructuring charges Financial Services operating loss was driven primarily by increased

provision for credit losses and goodwill impairment Please refer to the Motorcycles and Related Products

Segment and Financial Services Segment discussions following for more detailed discussion of the factors

affecting operating income

Interest expense
of $21.7 million includes portion of interest expense

related to the Companys $600.0

million senior unsecured notes issued in February 2009 Prior to the end of the first quarter the Company

transferred the full proceeds from the issuance to HDFS in order to fund HDFS operations As HDFS diversified

its debt structure through combination of actions during 2009 refer to Liquidity for additional discussion its

funding profile improved During the fourth quarter of 2009 HDFS transferred the full proceeds back to the

Company As result interest expense for 2009 includes interest during the periods when the full proceeds

where held outside of HDFS Interest expense for the periods when the proceeds were held by HDFS is included

in financial services interest expense

The effective income tax rate for 2009 continuing operations was 60.5% compared to 35.8% for 2008 The

increase in the effective income tax rate was due to one-time charge for change in Wisconsin tax law the

nondeductible goodwill impairment charge at HDFS and the impact of reduced earnings For 2010 the Company

expects it effective income tax rate to be approximately 36.5% for continuing operations

Motorcycles and Related Products Segment

Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sales

Worldwide independent dealer retail sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles decreased 22.7% during 2009

compared to 2008 Retail sales continue to be impacted on global basis by difficult economic conditions Retail

sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles decreased by 25.8% in the United States and 15.4% internationally during
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2009 compared to 2008 On an industry-wide basis the heavyweight 651 cc portion of the market was down
36.6% in the United States and down 19.5% in Europe when compared to 2008 The following table includes

retail unit sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles

Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Salesa

Heavyweight 651cc

2009 2008 Decrease Change

North America Region

United States 162385 218939 56554 25.8%
Canada 11406 16502 5096 30.9

Total North America Region 173791 235441 61650 26.2

Europe Region Includes Middle East and Africa

Europeb 36444 40725 4281 10.5
Other 3560 4317 757 17.5

Total Europe Region 40004 45042 5038 11.2

Asia Pacific Region

Japan 13105 14654 1549 10.6
Other 9884 10595 711 6.7

Total Asia Pacific Region 22989 25249 2260 9.0

Latin America Region 5850 8037 2187 27.2

Total Worldwide Retail Sales 242634 313769 71135 22.7%

Data source for retail sales figures shown above is sales warranty and registration information provided by Harley-Davidson dealers and

compiled by the Company The Company must rely on information that its dealers supply concerning retail sales and this information is

subject to revision Only Harley-Davidson motorcycles are included in the Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sales data

Data for Europe include Austria Belgium Denmark Finland France Germany Greece Italy Netherlands Norway Portugal Spain
Sweden Switzerland and the United Kingdom

The following table includes industry retail motorcycle registration data

Motorcycle Industry Retail Registrations

Heavyweight 651cc

2009 2008 Decrease Change

United Statesa 303999 479779 175780 36.6%
Europeb 313569 389691 76122 19.5%

U.S industry data includes 651cc models derived from submission of motorcycle retail sales by each major manufacturer to an

independent third party This third party data is subject to revision and update Industry data includes three-wheeled vehicles

Europe data includes Austria Belgium Denmark Finland France Germany Greece Italy Netherlands Norway Portugal Spain
Sweden Switzerland and the United Kingdom Industry retail motorcycle registration data includes 65 li-cc models derived from

information provided by Giral S.A an independent agency This third party data is subject to revision and update Industry data includes

three-wheeled vehicles

Industry retail registration data for the remaining international markets has not been presented because the

Company does not believe definitive and reliable registration data is available at this time
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Motorcycle Unit Shipments

The following table includes wholesale motorcycle unit shipments for the Motorcycles segment

2009 2008 Decrease Change

United States 144464 64.8% 206309 68.0% 61845 30.O%
International 78559 35.2% 97170 32.0% 18611 19.2

Harley-Davidson motorcycle units 223023 lOftO% 303479 lOftO% 80456 26.5%

Touring motorcycle units 84104 37.7% 101887 33.6% 17783 17.5

Custom motorcycle units 91650 41.1% 140908 46.4% 49258 35.0

Sportster motorcycle units 47269 21.2% 60684 2ft0% 13415 22.1

Harley-Davidson motorcycle units 223023 lOftO% 303479 lOftO% 80456 26.5%

Buell motorcycle units 9572 13119 3547 27.0%

Custom motorcycle units as used in this table include Dyna Softail VRSC and CVO models

During 2009 the Company shipped 223023 Harley-Davidson motorcycles decrease of 80456 motorcycles

or 26.5% from last year The Companys shipments in the U.S in 2009 continued to be negatively impacted by the

challenging economic environment On January 22 2010 the Company announced that it expects full year 2010

shipments of Harley-Davidson motorcycle units to be between 201000 to 212000.1 This represents 5% to 10%

reduction from 2009 shipments as result of two key factors First the Company expects global economies to

remain challenging specifically in the U.S with continued high unemployment and low consumer confidence

Second the Company expects continued price competition from other manufacturers as they reduce excess

inventories in particular old model year motorcycles Additionally the Company anticipates price competition at

local level as retailers discount excess inventory driven by contraction of the competitive dealer network

The Company remains committed to balancing supply in line with demand for its Harley-Davidson

motorcycles The Company believes that its U.S independent dealer network carried 2009 year-end inventory

level that was appropriate for the current economic environment

Segment Results

The following table includes the condensed statement of operations for the Motorcycles segment in

thousands

Decrease
2009 2008 Increase Change

Revenue

Harley-Davidson motorcycles $3174810 $4244587 $l069777 25.2%
Buell motorcycles 46514 123085 76571 62.2

3221324 4367672 1146348 26.2

Parts Accessories 767275 858748 91473 10.7
General Merchandise 282210 313838 31628 10.1

Other 16321 38156 21835 57.2

Total revenue 4287130 5578414 1291284 23.1

Cost of goods sold 2900934 3647270 746336 20.5

Gross profit 1386196 1931144 544948 28.2

Selling administrative expense 702854 774135 71281 9.2

Engineering expense 148311 168132 19821 11.8

Restructuring expense and other impairments 220976 12475 208501 N/M

Operating expense 1072141 954742 117399 12.3

Operating income from motorcycles 314055 976402 662347 67.8%

The net increase in operating expense was primarily due the Companys previously announced restructuring

activities and asset impairments partially offset by cost reduction initiatives The Company estimates operating
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expense savings related to restructuring activities were approximately $83 million during 2009 For further

information regarding the Companys previously announced restructuring activities and asset impairments refer

to Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The following table includes the estimated impact of the significant factors affecting the comparability of

gross profit from 2008 to 2009 in millions

2008

Volume

Price

Foreign currency exchange rates and hedging

Product mix

Raw material prices

Manufacturing costs

Buell exit costs

Total
______ _____ _____

2009

Net Cost of Gross

Revenue Goods Sold Profit

5578 $3647 $1931

1276 773 503

51 25 26
67 54 13

65 65

47 47
29 16 45

1291 746 545

4287 $2901 $1386

Volume decreases were primarily the result of the 26.5% decrease in wholesale shipments of Harley-

Davidson motorcycle units

Foreign currency exchange rates and hedging were affected by weakening Euro and Australian dollar

relative to the U.S dollar during 2009

Product mix benefited revenue and gross profit due to shift towards the Companys higher margin

touring motorcycles

Manufacturing costs increased partially as the result of higher fixed cost per unit due to allocating fixed

costs to fewer units Additionally higher manufacturing costs were the result of increasing product cost

associated with new models and increased product content such as new features and options on the

Companys motorcycles These increased costs were partially offset by productivity gains

Buell exit costs consist of sales incentives to independent dealers and inventory write-downs The sales

incentives lowered revenue while the inventory write-downs increased cost of sales

Financial Services Segment

Segment Results

The following table includes the condensed statements of operations for the Financial Services segment in

thousands

Increase

2009 2008 Decrease Change

Interest income 434152 $290083 144069 49.7%

Loss income from securitizations 13676 13439 27115 201.8
Other income 74303 73448 855 1.2

Financial services revenue 494779 376970 117809 31.3

Interest expense 283634 136763 146871 107.4

Provision for credit losses 169206 39555 129651 327.8

Operating expenses 128219 117887 10332 8.8

Restructuring expense 3302 3302 NIM
Goodwill impairment 28387 28387 NM
Financial services expense 612748 294205 318543 108.3

Operating loss income from financial services $1 17969 82765 $200734 242.5%
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Interest income benefited from higher average retail and wholesale receivables outstanding partially offset by

lower wholesale lending rates The increase in retail receivables outstanding was driven by reduction in off-balance

sheet term asset-backed securitization activity throughout 2008 due to capital market volatility and the utilization of

on-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization structures during 2009 The increase in wholesale outstanding

receivables resulted from an increased use of floorplan financing combined with higher number of average days

financed Interest expense was higher in 2009 due primarily to increased borrowings to support the higher average

outstanding
retail and wholesale receivables as well as an increased cost of borrowing as compared to 2008

During 2009 HDFS recorded loss from securitizations compared to income from securitizations during

2008 The change from 2008 was due to reduced income earned from the investment in retained securitization

interests and larger other-than-temporary write down of certain retained securitization interests in 2009

compared to 2008 Income earned from the investment in retained securitization interests was $28.5 million

lower due to reduction in outstanding off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization transactions There

were no off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization transactions completed during 2009 while the

Company completed one off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization transaction during 2008 For the

2008 off-balance sheet term-asset backed securitization transaction the Company recognized $5.4 million loss

In addition HDFS recognized $45.4 million write down of certain retained securitization interests during 2009

due to higher actual and anticipated credit losses partially offset by slowing in actual and expected prepayment

speeds This compares to an other-than-temporary impairment of $41.4 million in 2008

HDFS reviews its assumptions for determining the fair value of the investment in retained securitization

interests each quarter Key assumptions include expected losses prepayment speed and discount rate HDFS

determines these assumptions by reviewing historical trends and current economic conditions Given the

challenging U.S economy credit losses on HDFS retail installment loans have increased and as result the fair

value of retained securitization interests has declined and in some cases this decline is other-than-temporary

write-down in the retained securitization interest generally represents non-cash charge in the period in which it

is recorded but ultimately represents reduction in the residual cash flow that HDFS expects to receive from its

investment in retained securitization interests The fair value of the investment in retained securitization interests

was $245.4 million at December 31 2009

Other income remained relatively flat in 2009 compared to 2008 During 2009 the Company recognized

$5.9 million charge to earnings for the lower of cost or market valuation adjustment of its finance receivables

held for sale prior to the reclassification to finance receivables held for investment as discussed below This

compares to lower of cost or market valuation charge of $37.8 million in 2008 This change was partially offset

by $16.3 million decrease in servicing fee income resulting from fewer outstanding off-balance sheet term

asset-backed securitization transactions and lower insurance commissions in 2009 compared to 2008

The increase in the provision for credit losses during 2009 primarily resulted from the reclassification of

$3.14 billion of finance receivables held for sale to finance receivables held for investment at the end of the

second quarter of 2009 The reclassification was due to the structure of the Companys May 2009 term asset-

backed securitization transaction and managements intent to structure subsequent securitization transactions in

manner that would not meet the requirements of accounting sale treatment The reclassification resulted in an

additional provision for credit losses of $72.7 million In addition the provisions for credit losses related to retail

receivables and wholesale receivables increased by $51.8 million and $2.1 million respectively over 2008 The

increase was primarily the result of higher expected incidence of loss lower expected recovery values on

repossessed motorcycles and an increase in the finance receivables held for investment

Annualized losses on HDFS managed retail motorcycle loans were 286% in 2009 compared to 2.30% for

2008 The 30-day delinquency rate for managed retail motorcycle loans at December 31 2009 increased to

6.51% from 6.29% at December 31 2008 Managed retail loans include loans held by HDFS as well as those

sold through off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization transactions The year-over-year
increase in

credit losses was driven by higher frequency of loss and higher average loss per motorcycle resulting from
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pressure on values for repossessed motorcycles The Company expects that HDFS will continue to experience

higher delinquencies and credit losses as percentage of managed retail motorcycle loans into 20l0

Changes in the allowance for finance credit losses on finance receivables held for investment were as

follows in millions

2009 2008

Balance beginning of period 40068 30295

Provision for finance credit losses 169206 39555

Charge-offs net of recoveries 59192 29782

Balance end of period $150082 40068

At December 31 2009 the allowance for finance credit losses on finance receivables held for investment

was $133.3 million for retail receivables and $16.8 million for wholesale receivables The allowance for finance

credit losses on finance receivables held for investment was $28.4 million for retail receivables and $11.7 million

for wholesale receivables at December 31 2008

HDFS periodic evaluation of the adequacy of the allowance for finance credit losses on finance receivables

held for investment is generally based on HDFS past loan loss experience known and inherent risks in the

portfolio current economic conditions and the estimated value of any underlying collateral

Operating expenses were also impacted by restructuring charge of $3.3 million in 2009 as detailed in Note

of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

As discussed in Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements during 2009 the Company recorded

an impairment charge of $28.4 million related to the goodwill associated with HDFS As result of the

Companys lower retail sales volume projections and the decline in operating performance at HDFS during 2009

due to significant write-downs of its loan portfolio and investment in retained securitization interests the

Company performed an impairment test of the goodwill balance associated with HDFS as of June 28 2009 The

results of the impairment test indicated the current fair value of HDFS had declined below its carrying value

Results of Operations 2008 Compared to 2007

Consolidated Results

Decrease
in thousands except earnings per share 2008 2007 Increase Change

Operating income from motorcycles related products 976402 $1213392 $236990 19.5%
Operating income from financial services 82765 212169 129404 61.0

Operating income 1059167 1425561 366394 25.7
Investment income 11296 22258 10962 49.2
Interest expense 4542 4542 N/M

Income before income taxes 1065921 1447819 381898 26.4
Provision for income taxes 381686 513976 132290 25.7

Income from continuing operations 684235 933843 249608 26.7%
Loss from discontinued operations net of income taxes 29517

_________
29517 N/M

Net income 654718 933843 $279125 29.9%

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 2.92 3.74 0.82 21.9%
Diluted loss per share from discontinued operations 0.13 0.13 NIM
Diluted earnings per

share 2.79 3.74 0.95 25.4%
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Operating income for both of the Companys segments was impacted by the difficult economic environment

including lower consumer confidence and significant disruptions in global capital markets Motorcycles

operating income fell 19.5% during 2008 driven by decrease in shipments of Harley-Davidson motorcycles In

addition lower operating income from Financial Services driven by lower securitization income and write-

down of finance receivables and investment in retained securitization interests contributed to the decrease in

consolidated income from operations for 2008

Investment income was lower during 2008 due to the decrease in average
cash and marketable securities

during the year Interest expense during 2008 relates to debt incurred in connection with the acquisition of MV

The Companys effective income tax rate for 2008 was 35.8% compared to 35.5% in 2007

Diluted earnings per
share from continuing operations during 2008 were down 21.9% from 2007 on lower net

income which more than offset the positive impact of fewer weighted-average shares outstanding Diluted earnings

per
share during 2008 were positively impacted by decrease in the weighted-average shares outstanding which

were 234.5 million in 2008 compared to 249.9 million in 2007 The decrease in weighted-average shares

outstanding was driven by the Companys repurchases of common stock over 2007 and 2008 through August

Motorcycles Related Products Segment

Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sales

Worldwide retail sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles decreased 7.1% during 2008 relative to 2007 Retail

sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles decreased 13.0% in the United States while growing 10.3%

internationally On an industry-wide basis the heavyweight 65 1cc portion of the market was down 7.0% in

the United States while growing 0.5% in Europe when compared to the same periods in 2007 The following

table includes retail unit sales of Harley-Davidson motorcycles

Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Salesa

Heavyweight 651cc

Decrease

2008 2007 Increase Change

North America Region

United States 218939 251772 32833 13.0%

Canada 16502 14779 1723 11.7

Total North America Region 235441 266551 31110 11.7

Europe Region Includes Middle East and Africa

Europeb 40725 38866 1859 4.8

Other 4317 3436 881 25.6

Total Europe Region 45042 42302 2740 6.5

Asia Pacific Region

Japan 14654 13765 889 6.5

Other 10595 9689 906 9.4

Total Asia Pacific Region 25249 23454 1795 7.7

Latin America Region 8037 5467 2570 47.0

Total Worldwide Retail Sales 313769 337774 24005 7.1%

Data source for retail sales figures shown above is sales warranty and registration information provided by Harley-Davidson dealers and

compiled by the Company The Company must rely on information that its dealers supply concerning retail sales and this information is

subject to revision and update Only Harley-Davidson motorcycles are included in the Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Retail Sales data

Data for Europe include Austria Belgium Denmark Finland France Germany Greece Italy Netherlands Norway Portugal Spain

Sweden Switzerland and the United Kingdom
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The following table includes industry retail motorcycle registration data

Motorcycle Industry Retail Registrations

Heavyweight 651cc

Decrease
2008 2007 Increase Change

United Statesab 479779 516083 36304 7.0%
Europecd 389691 387943 1748 0.5%

2008 U.S industry data includes three-wheeled vehicles The Company did not ship three-wheeled vehicles until 2008 and does not

believe three-wheeled vehicle retail
registrations were significant in the U.S for 2007

U.S industry data includes 65 1cc models derived from submission of motorcycle retail sales by each major manufacturer to an

independent third party This third party data is subject to revision and update

Europe data includes Austria Belgium Denmark Finland France Germany Greece Italy Netherlands Norway Portugal Spain

Sweden Switzerland and the United Kingdom Industry retail motorcycle registration data includes 651cc models derived from

information provided by Giral S.A an independent agency This third party data is subject to revision and update

2008 and 2007 Europe industry data includes three-wheeled vehicles

Industry retail registration data for the remaining international markets has not been presented because the

Company does not believe definitive and reliable registration data is available at this time

Motorcycle Unit Shipments

The following table includes wholesale motorcycle unit shipments for the Motorcycles segment

Decrease
2008 2007 Increase Change

Motorcycle Unit Shipments

United States 206309 68.0% 241539 73.1% 35230 14.6%
International 97170 32J% 89080 26% 8090 9.1

Harley-Davidson motorcycle units 303479 lOaO% 330619 100.0% 27140 8.2

Touring motorcycle units 101887 33.6% 114076 34.5% 12189 10.7
Custom motorcycle units 140908 46.4% 144507 43.7% 3599 2.5
Sportstermotorcycleunits 60684 2ft0% 72036 21.8% 11352 15.8

Harley-Davidson motorcycle units 303479 100% 330619 lOftO% 27140 8.2

Buell motorcycle units 13119 11513 1606 13.9%

Custom motorcycle units as used in this table include Dyna Softail VRSC and CVO models

During 2008 the Company shipped 303479 Harley-Davidson motorcycles decrease of 27140
motorcycles or 8.2% from last year The Companys shipments in the U.S in 2008 continued to be negatively

impacted by the challenging economic environment but were consistent with the Companys expectations to ship

23000 to 27000 fewer Harley-Davidson motorcycles in 2008 than were shipped in 2007 The Companys
shipments in international markets grew during 2008 and the

percentage of units shipped to international

customers increased consistent with the Companys strategic focus on global markets
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Segment Results

The following table includes the condensed statement of operations for the Motorcycles segment in

thousands

The net increase in operating expense was primarily due to higher international operating costs associated

with the Companys international growth and $12.4 million restructuring charge incurred by the Company

during 2008 see Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

The following table includes the estimated impact of the significant factors affecting the comparability of

gross profit from 2007 to 2008 in millions

Net Cost of Gross

Revenue Goods Sold Profit

$5727 $3613 $2114

339 153 186
21 21

95 28 67

70 42 28

23 23
94 94

149 34 183

$5578 $3647 $1931

Volume decreases to revenue and cost of goods sold were primarily the result of the 8.2% decrease in

Harley-Davidson motorcycle units

Foreign currency exchange rates and hedging were affected primarily by strengthening of the Euro

relative to the U.S dollar during 2008

Product mix benefited revenue and gross profit due to shift away from the Companys Sportster

motorcycles to custom motorcycles

2007

Volume

Price

Foreign currency exchange rates and hedging

Product mix

Raw material prices

Manufacturing costs

Other

Total

2008

Decrease

2008 2007 Increase Change

Net Revenue

Harley-Davidson motorcycles $4244587 $4433576 $188989 4.3%

Buell motorcycles 123085 100534 22551 22.4

4367672 4534110 166438 3.7

Parts Accessories 858748 868297 9549 .1

General Merchandise 313838 305435 8403 2.8

Other 38156 19006 19150 100.8

Net revenue 5578414 5726848 148434 2.6

Cost of goods sold 3647270 3612748 34522 1.0

Gross profit 1931144 2114100 182956 8.7

Selling administrative expense
774135 710065 64070 9.0

Engineering expense 168132 190643 22511 11.8

Restructuring expense 12475 12475 N/M

Operating expense
954742 900708 54034 6.0

Operating income from motorcycles 976402 $1213392 $236990 19.5%
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Manufacturing costs increased partially as the result of higher fixed cost per unit due to allocating

fixed costs to fewer units Additionally higher manufacturing costs were the result of increasing

product cost associated with new models and increased product content such as new features and

options on the Companys motorcycles

Financial Services Segment

Segment Results

The following table includes the condensed statements of operations for the Financial Services segment in

thousands

Increase

2008 2007 Decrease Change

Interest income $290083 $196803 93280 47.4%

Income from securitizations 13439 97576 84137 86.2
Other income 73448 121817 48369 39.7

Financial services income 376970 416196 39226 9.4

Interest expense 136763 81475 55288 67.9

Provision for credit losses 39555 11252 28303 251.5

Operating expenses 117887 111300 6587 5.9

Financial services
expense 294205 204027 90178 44.2

Operating income from financial services 82765 $212169 $129404 61.0%

Interest income benefited from higher average retail outstanding receivables partially offset by lower

wholesale lending rates and slightly lower average wholesale outstanding receivables Interest expense was

higher due to increased borrowings to support growth in outstanding retail receivables partially offset by lower

borrowing rates The increase in retail receivables outstanding was driven by reduction in term asset-backed

securitization activity during 2008 due to capital market volatility

Income from securitizations during 2008 was lower as compared to 2007 due to $41.4 million write-down

of certain retained securitization interests during 2008 loss on the first
quarter 2008 securitization transaction

and the absence of securitization transaction in the last three quarters of 2008 This compares to $9.9 million

write-down and three securitization transactions completed in 2007

During 2008 HDFS sold $540.0 million in retail motorcycle loans in securitization transaction and

recognized loss of $5.4 million or 0.99% as percentage of loans sold This compares to gain as percentage

of loans sold of 1.42% or $36.0 million on $2.53 billion of loans securitized in 2007 The loss in 2008 was

driven by increased securitization funding costs due to capital market volatility and higher projected credit losses

In the 2008 securitization transaction HDFS retained $54.0 million of the subordinated securities issued by the

securitization trust The subordinated securities that were retained have been included in the investment in

retained securitization interests component of finance receivables held for investment in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets The cash proceeds from the 2008 securitization transaction are net of the cost of the retained

subordinated securities

Income from securitizations was also negatively impacted in 2008 by $41.4 million write down of certain

retained securitization interests The write downs which occurred in June and December of 2008 and are

considered permanent impairments resulted from decline in the fair value of certain retained securitization

interests due to higher actual and anticipated credit losses on those securitization portfolios and an increase in the

discount rate from 12% to 18% in the fourth quarter of 2008 This compares to an impairment charge of $9.9

million incurred in 2007 The fair value of the investment in retained securitization interests was $330.7 million

at December 31 2008
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Other income decreased during 2008 as compared to 2007 primarily due to $37.8 million charge to

earnings from the lower of cost or market value of its finance receivables held for sale HDFS used discounted

cash flow methodologies to estimate the fair value of finance receivables held for sale that incorporate

appropriate assumptions for discount rate funding costs and credit enhancement as well as estimates concerning

credit losses and prepayments that in managements judgment reflect assumptions marketplace participants

would use Any amount by which cost exceeds fair value is accounted for as valuation adjustment with an

offset to other income The decline in fair value below cost was due to higher projected credit losses increased

funding costs and an increased discount rate in the fourth quarter of 2008 from 12% to 18%

The $28.3 million increase in the provision for credit losses primarily relates to an increase in the retail and

wholesale receivable provisions of $20.9 million and $7.0 million respectively

Annualized losses on HDFS managed retail motorcycle loans were 2.30% in 2008 compared to 1.91% for

2007 The 30-day delinquency rate for managed retail motorcycle loans at December 31 2008 increased to

6.29% from 6.15% at December 31 2007 Managed retail loans include loans held by HDFS as well as those

sold through securitization transactions The increase in losses was primarily due to higher incidence of loss

resulting from an increase in delinquent accounts

Changes in the allowance for finance credit losses on finance receivables held for investment were as

follows in millions

2008 2007

Balance beginning of period
30295 $27283

Provision for finance credit losses 39555 11252

Charge-offs net of recoveries 29782 8240

Balance end of period
40068 $30295

At December 31 2008 the allowance for finance credit losses on finance receivables held for investment

was $28.4 million for retail receivables and $11.7 million for wholesale receivables The allowance for finance

credit losses on finance receivables held for investment was $25.9 million for retail receivables and $4.4 million

for wholesale receivables at December 31 2007

Other Matters

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In June 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards SFAS No 166 Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets an amendment of FASB Statement

No 140 SFAS No 166 amends the guidance within ASC Topic 860 Transfers and Servicing primarily by

removing the concept of qualifying special purpose entity as well as removing the exception from applying

FASB Interpretation No 46R Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities Upon the effective adoption date

formerly qualifying special purpose
entities as defined under previous accounting standards must be evaluated

for consolidation within an entitys financial statements Additionally the guidance within ASC Topic 860 will

require enhanced disclosures about the transfer of financial assets as well as an entitys continuing involvement

if any in transferred financial assets

In June 2009 the FASB issued SPAS No 167 Amendments to FASB Interpretation No 46R SFAS

No 167 amends the guidance within ASC Topic 810 Consolidations by adding previously considered

qualifying special purpose
entities the concept of these entities was eliminated by SFAS No 166 In addition

companies must perform an analysis to determine whether the companys variable interest or interests give it

controlling financial interest in variable interest entity Companies must also reassess on an ongoing basis

whether the company is the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity
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The Company is required to adopt the new guidance contained within ASC 810 and ASC 860 as of

January 2010 The new guidance will require consolidation of the existing qualifying special purpose entities

QSPEs that are not currently recorded on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet resulting in an estimated

increase in finance receivables and debt of $1.89 billion Consolidation of currently unconsolidated QSPEs will

also result in an increase in the allowance for finance credit losses for newly consolidated finance receivables

along with changes to the timing and line item reporting of income and expense in the Companys Consolidated

Statement of Operations Additionally as part of the consolidation of these finance receivable securitization

trusts the investment in retained securitization interests will be eliminated and no future valuations will be

required In accordance with the new guidance the Company will initially measure the assets and liabilities of

the former QSPEs at their carrying values the amounts at which the asset and liabilities would have been carried

in the Consolidated Financial Statements if ASC Topic 810 had been effective when the Company first met the

conditions as the primary beneficiary

The cumulative effect of adopting these new accounting standards as of January 2010 based on financial

information as of December 31 2009 would result in an estimated aggregate after-tax charge to retained

earnings in the range of $35.0 million to $45.0 million which includes the impact of establishing the initial

allowance for finance credit losses The actual impact of adopting the new accounting standards on January

2010 could differ as several uncertainties in the application of these new standards are resolved The Company
does not believe the consolidation of the QSPEs will cause non-compliance with its or HDFS debt covenants.1

Critical Accounting Estimates

The Companys financial statements are based on the selection and application of significant accounting

policies which require management to make significant estimates and assumptions Management believes that

the following are some of the more critical judgment areas in the application of accounting policies that currently

affect the Companys financial condition and results of operations Management has discussed the development
and selection of these critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Goodwill The Company reviews its goodwill for impairment based on financial data related to the

reporting unit to which it has been assigned at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable The impairment test involves comparing the fair value of

the reporting unit associated with the goodwill to its carrying value including goodwill If the carrying amount of

the reporting unit exceeds its fair value goodwill must be adjusted to its implied fair value In determining the

fair value of reporting unit the Company utilizes widely accepted techniques such as discounted cash flow

methodologies which require the Company to make assumptions and apply judgment to estimate macro

economic factors industry economic factors and the future profitability of current business strategies Changes in

these factors can have significant impact on the impairment evaluation

Asset Groups to Be Disposed of by Sale Asset
groups assets and liabilities to be disposed of together as

group in single transaction classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair

value less cost to sell and loss should be recognized for any initial adjustment required to reduce the carrying

amount to the fair value less cost to sell in the period the held for sale criteria are met The fair value less

cost to sell must be assessed each reporting period the asset group remains classified as held for sale Gains or

losses not previously recognized resulting from the sale of an asset group
will be recognized on the date of sale

In determining the fair value of an asset group representing business the Company utilizes widely accepted

techniques such as discounted cash flow methodologies which require the Company to make assumptions and

apply judgment to estimate macro economic factors industry economic factors and the future profitability of

current business strategies Changes in these factors can have significant impact on the impairment evaluation

In addition the determination of fair value for an asset group held for sale may be influenced by information

received from market participants interested buyers having appropriate knowledge of the asset group The

appropriate level of knowledge may not be obtainable solely from public observations but could be obtained in

the course of normal due diligence process
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Off-Balance Sheet Finance Receivable Securitizations Prior to 2009 the Company sold retail motorcycle

loans through securitization transactions utilizing Qualifying Special Purpose Entities QSPEs as defined by

ASC Topic 860-40 Transfers to Qualifying Special Purpose Entities ASC Topic 860-40 Upon sale of retail

loans in securitization transaction HDFS received cash and retained an interest in excess cash flows

subordinated securities and cash reserve account deposits all of which are collectively referred to as retained

interests in the securitized receivables Retained interests are carried at fair value and are periodically reviewed

for impairment Market value quotes of fair value are generally not available for retained interests Therefore fair

value is measured using discounted cash flow methodologies that incorporate managements best estimate of key

assumptions that in managements judgment reflect the assumptions marketplace participants would use The

impact of changes to key assumptions is shown in Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements HDFS

retains servicing rights under retail loans that it has sold to the securitization trust and receives servicing fee

The servicing fee paid to HDFS is considered adequate compensation for the services provided and is included in

financial services revenue as earned

Gains or losses on securitizations from the sale of retail loans were recorded as component of financial

services revenue and were based in part on certain assumptions including expected credit losses prepayment

speed and discount rates Gains or losses on sales of retail loans also depended on the original carrying amount of

the retail loans which were allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests based on their relative fair

value at the date of transfer

Valuation of Finance Receivables Held for Sale Finance receivables held for sale in the aggregate were

carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value HDFS used discounted cash flow methodologies to estimate

the fair value of finance receivables held for sale that incorporated appropriate assumptions for discount rate

funding costs and credit enhancement as well as estimates concerning credit losses and prepayments that in

managements judgment reflected assumptions marketplace participants would use Any amount by which cost

exceeded fair value was accounted for as valuation adjustment with an offset to other income

Allowance for Finance Credit Losses on Finance Receivables Held for Investment The allowance for

uncollectible accounts is maintained at level management believes is adequate to cover the losses of principal

in the existing finance receivables held for investment portfolio Managements periodic evaluation of the

adequacy of the retail or other small balance homogeneous loan allowance is generally based on HDFS past loan

loss experience known and inherent risks in the portfolio current economic conditions and the estimated value

of any underlying collateral HDFS wholesale and other large loan allowance policy is based on loan-by-loan

review which considers the specific borrowers ability to repay
and the estimated value of any underlying

collateral

Product Warranty Estimated warranty costs are reserved for each motorcycle at the time of sale The

warranty reserve is an estimated cost per unit sold based upon historical Company claim data used in

combination with other known factors that may affect future warranty
claims The Company updates its warranty

estimates quarterly to ensure that the warranty reserves are based on the most current information available

The Company believes that past claim experience is indicative of future claims however the factors

affecting actual claims can be volatile As result actual claims experience may differ from estimated which

could lead to material changes in the Companys warranty provision and related reserves The Companys

warranty liability is discussed further in Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Pensions and Other Post retirement Benefits The Company has several defined benefit pension plans and

several postretirement healthcare benefit plans which cover substantially all employees of the Motorcycles

segment The Company also has unfunded supplemental employee retirement plan agreements SERPA with

certain employees which were instituted to replace benefits lost under the Tax Revenue Reconciliation Act of

1993 Pension SERPA and postretirement healthcare obligations and costs are calculated through actuarial

valuations The valuation of benefit obligations and net periodic benefit costs relies on key assumptions including

discount rates long-term expected return on plan assets future compensation and healthcare cost trend rates
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The Company determines its discount rate assumptions by referencing high-quality long-term bond rates

that are matched to the duration of its own benefit obligations Based on this analysis the discount rate for

pension and SERPA obligations was decreased from 6.1% as of December 31 2008 to 6.0% as of December 31
2009 The discount rate for postretirement healthcare obligations was decreased from 6.1% to 5.65% The

Company determines its healthcare trend assumption for the postretirement healthcare obligation by considering

factors such as estimated healthcare inflation the utilization of healthcare benefits and changes in the health of

plan participants Based on the Companys assessment of this data as of December 31 2009 the Company
lowered its healthcare cost trend rate to 7.5% from 8% as of December 31 2008 The Company expects the

healthcare cost trend rate to reach its ultimate rate of 5% beginning in 2014.1 These assumption changes were

reflected immediately in the benefit obligation and will be amortized into net periodic benefit costs over future

periods

The following information is provided to illustrate the sensitivity of pension and postretirement healthcare

obligations and costs to changes in these major assumptions in thousands

Impact of 1%
Amounts based Impact of 1% increase in the

on current decrease in the healthcare cost

assumptions discount rate trend rate

2009 Net periodic benefit costs

Pension and SERPA 84770 22740 n/a

Postretirement healthcare 34303 2294 1082

2009 Benefit obligations

Pension and SERPA $1284722 $186371 n/a

Postretirement healthcare 377282 37180 $11387

This information should not be viewed as predictive of future amounts The calculation of pension SERPA
and postretirement healthcare obligations and costs is based on many factors in addition to those discussed here

This information should be considered in combination with the information provided in Note 12 of Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements

Stock Compensation Costs The total cost of the Companys share-based awards is equal to the grant date

fair value per award multiplied by the number of awards granted adjusted for forfeitures This cost is

recognized as expense on straight-line basis over the service periods of the awards Forfeitures are initially

estimated based on historical Company information and subsequently updated over the life of the awards to

ultimately reflect actual forfeitures As result changes in forfeiture activity can influence the amount of stock

compensation cost recognized from period to period

The Company estimates the fair value of option awards as of the grant date using lattice-based option

valuation model which utilizes ranges of assumptions over the expected term of the options including stock price

volatility dividend yield and risk free interest rate

The valuation model uses historical data to estimate option exercise behavior and employee terminations

The expected term of options granted is derived from the output of the option valuation model and represents the

average period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding

The Company uses weighted-average of historical and implied volatility to determine the expected

volatility of its stock The implied volatility is derived from options that are actively traded and the market prices

of both the traded options and underlying shares are measured at similarpoint in time to each other and on

date reasonably close to the grant date of the employee share options In addition the traded options have

exercise prices that are both near-the-money and close to the exercise price of the employee share options

Finally the remaining maturities of the traded options on which the estimate is based are at least one year
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Dividend yield was based on the Companys expected dividend payments and the risk-free rate was based

on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant

Changes in the valuation assumptions could result in significant change to the cost of an individual option

However the total cost of an award is also function of the number of awards granted and as result the

Company has the ability to control the cost of its equity awards by adjusting the number of awards granted

Income Taxes The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740 Income

Taxes Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to

differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax

bases and operating loss and other loss carry-forwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using

enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are

expected to be recovered or settled

The Company is subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions Significant

judgment is required in determining the Companys worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the

related deferred tax assets and liabilities In the ordinary course of the Companys business there are transactions

and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain Accruals for unrecognized tax benefits are

provided for in accordance with the requirements of ASC Topic 740 An unrecognized tax benefit represents the

difference between the recognition of benefits related to exposure
items for income tax reporting purposes and

financial reporting purposes The unrecognized tax benefit is included within other long-term liabilities in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets The Company has reserve for interest and penalties on exposure items if

applicable which is recorded as component of the overall income tax provision The Company is regularly

under audit by tax authorities Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain management believes that

it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns and that its annual tax provision includes

amounts sufficient to pay any assessments Nonetheless the amounts ultimately paid if any upon resolution of

the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued for each year

Contractual Obligations

summary of the Companys expected payments for significant contractual obligations as of December 31

2009 is as follows in thousands

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total

Principal payments on debt $1522090 $1890231 $1225433 998375 $5636129

Interest payments on debt 265687 452547 291421 235167 1244822

Operating lease payments 11985 12023 8559 17002 49569

$1799762 $2354801 $1525413 $1250544 $6930520

As described in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31 2009 the

Company classified $378.2 million related to its unsecured commercial paper and its Global Credit Facilities as

defined in Liquidity and Capital Resources as long-term debt as of December 31 2009 This amount is

classified as long term because it is supported by the Global Credit Facilities and is expected to remain

outstanding for an uninterrupted period extending beyond one year accordingly the Company has assumed that

this amount will be repaid in 2011

As described in Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31 2009 the

Company classified $205.0 million related to its Global Credit Facilities as current portion of long-term debt as

of December 31 2009 This amount relates to the Companys investment in MV and subsequent working capital

advances This amount is classified as current portion of long-term debt as the Company anticipates that it will be

repaid in 2010
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Interest obligations include the impact of interest rate hedges outstanding as of December 31 2009 Interest

for floating rate instruments as calculated above assumes December 31 2009 rates remain constant

As of December 31 2009 the Company had no material purchase obligations other than those created in the

ordinary course of business related to inventory and property plant and equipment which generally have terms of

less than 90 days

The Company has long-term obligations related to its pension SERPA and postretirement healthcare plans
at December 31 2009 During 2009 the Company contributed $233.2 million to its pension SERPA and

postretirement healthcare plans The Company is currently evaluating additional contributions to further fund its

pension plans even though no additional contributions are required in 2010 The Company expects it will

continue to make on-going contributions related to current benefit payments for SERPA and postretirement
healthcare plans The Companys expected future contributions to these plans are provided in Note 15 of Notes to

Consolidated Financial Statements

As described in Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements the Company has unrecognized tax

benefits of $77.8 million and accrued interest and penalties of $27.4 million as of December 31 2009 However
the Company cannot make reasonably reliable estimate for the period of cash settlement for either the $77.8

million of liability of unrecognized tax benefits or accrued interest and penalties of $27.4 million

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of its term asset-backed securitization program prior to 2009 HDFS transferred retail motorcycle

loans to special purpose bankruptcy-remote wholly-owned subsidiary The subsidiary sold the retail loans to

securitization trust in exchange for the proceeds from term asset-backed securities issued by the securitization

trust The term asset-backed securities usually notes with various maturities and interest rates are secured by
future collections of the purchased retail installment loans Activities of the securitization trust are limited to

acquiring retail loans issuing term asset-backed securities and making payments on securities to investors Due
to the nature of the assets held by the securitization trust and the limited nature of its activities the securitization

trusts are considered Qualifying Special Purpose Entities QSPEs as defined by the Financial Accounting
Standards Boards FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC Topic 860-40 Transfers to Qualifying

Special Purpose Entities ASC Topic 860-40 In accordance with ASC Topic 860-40 assets and liabilities of

the QSPEs are not consolidated in the financial statements of the Company see update below

HDFS does not guarantee payments on the securities issued by the securitization trusts or the projected cash

flows from the related loans purchased from HDFS The Companys retained securitization interests excluding

servicing rights are subordinate to the interests of securitization trust investors Such investors have priority

interests in the cash collections on the retail loans sold to the securitization trust after payment of servicing fees
and in the cash reserve account deposits These priority interests ultimately could impact the value of the

Companys investment in retained securitization interests Investors also do not have recourse to assets of HDFS
for failure of the obligors on the retail loans to pay when due Total investment in retained securitization interests

at December 31 2009 was $245.4 million The securitization trusts have limited life and generally terminate

upon final distribution of amounts owed to the investors in the term asset-backed securities See Note of Notes

to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of HDFS term asset-backed securitization program

As discussed under New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted the Company is required to adopt new
guidance within ASC Topics 810 and 860 as of January 2010 requiring the consolidation of qualifying special

purpose entities previously utilized for its off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization transactions

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to lawsuits and other claims related to environmental product and other matters In

determining required reserves related to these items the Company carefully analyzes cases and considers the
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likelihood of adverse judgments or outcomes as well as the potential range
of possible loss The required

reserves are monitored on an ongoing basis and are updated based on new developments or new information in

each matter

Environmental Protection Agency Notice

The Company has received formal written requests for information from the United States Environmental

Protection Agency EPA regarding certificates of conformity for motorcycle emissions and related

designations and labels ii aftermarket parts and iiiwarranty claims on emissions related components The

Company has submitted written responses to the EPA inquiry and has engaged in discussions with the EPA It

is possible that result of the EPAs investigation will be some form of enforcement action by the EPA that will

seek fine or other relief However at this time the Company does not know and cannot reasonably estimate the

impact of any remedies the EPA might seek

Shareholder Lawsuits

In re Harley-Davidson Inc Securities Litigation was consolidated shareholder securities class action

lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin On October 2006 the

Lead Plaintiffs filed Consolidated Class Action Complaint which named the Company and certain former

Company officers as defendants that alleged securities law violations and sought unspecified damages relating

generally to the Companys April 13 2005 announcement that it was reducing short-term production growth and

planned increases of motorcycle shipments On December 18 2006 the defendants filed motion to dismiss the

Consolidated Complaint On October 2009 the judge granted defendants motion to dismiss and the clerk of

court entered judgment dismissing the consolidated lawsuit No appeal was taken from the final judgment and the

dismissal of the action is now final

On August 25 2005 class action lawsuit alleging violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security

Act ERISA was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin On October

2006 the ERISA plaintiff filed an Amended Class Action Complaint which named the Company the Harley-

Davidson Motor Company Retirement Plans Committee the Companys Leadership and Strategy Council and

certain current or former Company officers or employees as defendants In general the ERISA complaint included

factual allegations similar to those in the consolidated securities class action and alleged on behalf of participants

in certain Harley-Davidson retirement savings plans that the plan fiduciaries breached their ERISA fiduciary

duties On December 18 2006 the defendants filed motion to dismiss the ERISA complaint On October

2009 the judge granted defendants motion to dismiss and the clerk of court entered judgment dismissing the

class action lawsuit No appeal was taken from the final judgment and the dismissal of the action is now final

Three shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District

of Wisconsin on June 2005 October 25 2005 this lawsuit was later voluntarily dismissed and December

2005 and two shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 22 2005

and November 16 2005 against some or all of the following current or former directors and officers of the

Company Jeffrey Bleustein James Ziemer James Brostowitz Barry Allen Richard Beattie

George Conrades Judson Green Donald James Sara Levinson George Miles Jr James

Norling James McCaslin Donna Zarcone Jon Flickinger Gail Lione Ronald Hutchinson

Kenneth Sutton Jr and John Hevey The lawsuits also name the Company as nominal defendant In

general the shareholder derivative complaints include factual allegations similar to those in the class action

complaints and allegations that officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to the Company On

February 14 2006 the state court consolidated the two state court derivative actions and appointed Lead

Plaintiffs and Lead Plaintiffs counsel and on April 24 2006 the state court ordered that the consolidated state

court derivative action be stayed until after motions to dismiss the federal securities class action are decided On

February 15 2006 the federal court consolidated the federal derivative lawsuits with the securities and ERISA

actions for administrative purposes On February 2007 the federal court appointed Lead Plaintiff and Co-Lead

Plaintiffs Counsel in the consolidated federal derivative action

47



On November 24 2009 both federal court derivative plaintiffs moved to voluntarily dismiss their lawsuits

and all claims without prejudice On November 30 2009 the federal court entered orders granting the motions

and dismissing the federal court derivative lawsuits without prejudice and those cases are now closed The

parties have agreed that the lead plaintiff in the consolidated state court derivative action may have until

February 19 2010 to file an amended complaint in that action and that defendants may have until March 26
2010 to respond to any amended complaint

The Company believes the allegations in the state court derivative lawsuit are without merit and it intends to

vigorously defend against the suit should the plaintiffs file an amended complaint The Company is unable to

predict the
scope or outcome or quantify their eventual impact if any on the Company At this time the

Company is also unable to estimate associated expenses or possible losses The Company maintains insurance

that may limit its financial exposure for defense costs and liability for an unfavorable outcome should it not

prevail for claims covered by the insurance coverage

York Environmental Matters

The Company is involved with government agencies and
groups of potentially responsible parties in various

environmental matters including matter involving the cleanup of soil and groundwater contamination at its

York Pennsylvania facility The York facility was formerly used by the U.S Navy and AMF prior to the

purchase of the York facility by the Company from AMF in 1981 Although the Company is not certain as to the

full extent of the environmental contamination at the York facility it has been working with the Pennsylvania

Department of Environmental Protection PADEP since 1986 in undertaking environmental investigation and

remediation activities including an ongoing site-wide remedial investigation/feasibility study RJJFS In January

1995 the Company entered into settlement agreement the Agreement with the Navy The Agreement calls for

the Navy and the Company to contribute amounts into trust equal to 53% and 47% respectively of future costs

associated with environmental investigation and remediation activities at the York facility Response Costs The

trust administers the payment of the Response Costs incurred at the York facility as covered by the Agreement

In February 2002 the Company was advised by the EPA that it considers some of the Companys
remediation activities at the York facility to be subject to the EPAs corrective action program under the

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act RCRA and offered the Company the option of addressing corrective

action under RCRA facility lead agreement In July 2005 the York facility was designated as the first site in

Pennsylvania to be addressed under the One Cleanup Program The program provides more streamlined and

efficient oversight of voluntary remediation by both PADEP and EPA and will be carried out consistent with the

Agreement with the Navy As result the RCRA facility lead agreement has been superseded

Although the RJIFS is still underway and substantial uncertainty exists concerning the nature and scope of

the additional environmental investigation and remediation that will ultimately be required at the York facility

the Company estimates that its share of the future Response Costs at the York facility will be approximately $5.9

million The Company has established reserves for this amount which are included in accrued liabilities in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets

The estimate of the Companys future Response Costs that will be incurred at the York facility is based on

reports of independent environmental consultants retained by the Company the actual costs incurred to date and

the estimated costs to complete the necessary investigation and remediation activities Response Costs related to

the remediation of soil are expected to be incurred over period of several years ending in 2015 Response Costs

related to ground water remediation may continue for some time beyond 2015

Product Liability Matters

Additionally the Company is involved in product liability suits related to the operation of its business The

Company accrues for claim exposures that are probable of occurrence and can be reasonably estimated The
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Company also maintains insurance coverage
for product liability exposures The Company believes that its

accruals and insurance coverage are adequate and that product liability will not have material adverse effect on

the Companys consolidated financial statements

Liquidity and Capital Resources as of December 31 2009

Over the long-term the Company expects that its business model will continue to generate cash that will

allow it to invest in the business fund future growth opportunities and return value to shareholders.1 The

Company believes the Motorcycles operations will continue to be primarily funded through internally-generated

cash flows During 2009 the Companys Financial Services operations were funded with unsecured debt

unsecured commercial paper an asset-backed commercial paper
conduit facility and committed unsecured bank

facilities and through the term asset-backed securitization market On January 22 2010 the Company announced

that it believes HDFS anticipated 2010 funding needs have been met through actions taken during 2009.1 These

actions included

In February 2009 the Company accessed the unsecured debt capital markets with the issuance of

$600.0 million of senior unsecured five-year notes

In April 2009 HDFS increased the size of its asset-backed commercial paper conduit facility from

$500.0 million to $1.20 billion and extended the maturity date until April 2010

In April 2009 the Company and HDFS entered into new $625.0 million 364-day credit facility to

replace its $950.0 million 364-day credit facility that was set to expire in July 2009 The new 364-day

credit facility has maturity date of April 2010

In May July October and December 2009 HDFS transferred total of $3.08 billion U.S retail

motorcycle finance receivables to four separate special purpose
entities SPEs which in turn issued

total of $2.46 billion of secured notes with various maturities and interest rates to investors These

term asset-backed securitization transactions were eligible collateral under the Federal Reserve Bank

of New Yorks Term Asset-backed securities Loan Facility TALF program

In November 2009 HDFS issued $500.0 million of medium-term notes

In 2010 the Company and HDFS expect to renew portion of the $625.0 million 364-day credit facility and

the asset-backed commercial paper
conduit facility both of which expire in April 20101 Any new capital

market funding is expected to be used to pre-fund 2011 funding requirements.1

In addition to the funding achievements discussed above the Company has taken steps to manage and

preserve
cash During 2009 the Companys Board of Directors approved four quarterly dividends of $0.10 per

share decrease of $0.23 per share from the dividend paid in the fourth quarter of 2008 The dividend reductions

resulted in cash savings of approximately $216 million

Going forward the Companys strategy will be to maintain minimum of twelve months of its projected

liquidity needs through combination of cash and credit facilities As result the Company will continue to

carry higher cash balances until the U.S economy as well as the capital and credit markets and the Companys

debt ratings stabilize and improve

The Company is currently reviewing its strategic options relative to its Financial Services operations in

order to find more diversified and cost effective funding to meet HDFS goal of providing credit while delivering

appropriate returns and profitability Although the Company believes it has obtained the funding necessary to

support HDFS operations for 20101 the Company recognizes that it must be able to adjust its business to the

current lending environment The Company intends to continue to diversify its funding profile through

combination of short-term and long-term funding vehicles reduce its reliance on the term asset-backed

securitization market and continue to pursue all avenues to obtain cost-effective funding The Financial Services
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operations may be negatively affected by the higher cost of funding and the increased difficulty of raising or

potential unsuccessful efforts to raise funding in the short-term and long-term capital markets.1 These negative

consequences may in turn adversely affect the Companys business and results of operations in various ways
including through higher costs of capital reduced funds available through its Financial Services operations to

provide loans to independent dealers and their retail customers and dilution to existing shareholders through the

use of alternative sources of capital

The Company has long-term obligations related to its pension SERPA and postretirement healthcare plans

at December 31 2009 During 2009 the Company contributed $233.2 million to its pension SERPA and

postretirement healthcare plans The Company is currently evaluating additional contributions to further fund its

pension plans even though no additional pension plan contributions are required in 2010 The Company expects
it will continue to make on-going contributions related to current benefit payments for SERPA and

postretirement healthcare plans The Companys expected future contributions to these plans are provided in

Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cash Flow Activity

The following table summarizes the operating investing and financing cash flow activity of continuing

operations for the three years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Net cash provided by used by operating activities of continuing

operations 609010 608029 798146
Net cash used by provided by investing activities of continuing

operations 863487 294875 391205
Net cash provided by used by financing activities of continuing

operations 1381937 1293390 1037803

Total $1127460 390486 151548

Operating Activities

The increase in operating cash flow for 2009 compared to 2008 was due primarily to the classification of the

Companys retail lending activities partially offset by lower net income and pension contributions

U.S retail motorcycle loans originated prior to June 28 2009 were classified as held-for-sale based on the

Companys intent to securitize these retail loans in off-balance sheet securitization transactions Accordingly the

origination and collection of these retail loans as well as any proceeds from off-balance sheet securitization

transactions were components of operating cash flows The Company has not conducted an off-balance sheet

securitization since the first quarter of 2008 At end of the second quarter of 2009 the Company made decision

to structure subsequent securitization transactions in manner that will require on-balance sheet accounting

i.e the Company no longer has intent to sell at the date of origination As result of that decision the cash

flows related to post-June retail lending activity are included within the investing cash flow section of the

statement of cash flows

As noted above the Company contributed $233.2 million to its pension plans during 2009 including the

on-going contribution requirements related to current benefit payments for SERPA and postretirement healthcare

plans

Investing Activities

The Companys investing activities consist primarily of capital expenditures net changes in finance

receivables held for investment and short-term investment activity Capital expenditures were $116.7 million and
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$229.0 million during 2009 and 2008 respectively Net changes in finance receivables held for investment reflect

the Companys increased utilization of on-balance sheet term asset-backed securitization transactions During the

year ended December 31 2009 the Company completed four such transactions

As result of the Companys higher cash balances as of December 31 2009 the Company invested $39.7

million in corporate bonds during December 2009 Sales and redemptions of marketable securities net of

purchases in 2008 resulted in cash inflow of $2.5 million compared to $657.7 million in 2007

Financing Activities

The Companys financing activities consist primarily of debt activity dividend payments and share

repurchases In 2008 the Company repurchased 6.3 million shares of its common stock at total cost of $250.4

million As of December 31 2009 there were 16.7 million shares remaining on board-approved share

repurchase authorization An additional board-approved share repurchase authorization is in place to offset

option exercises

The Company paid dividends of $0.40 per share at total cost of $93.8 million during 2009 compared to

dividends of $1.29 per
share at total cost of $302.3 million during 2008

During 2009 debt increased by $1.72 billion compared to 2008 in support of the higher finance receivables

outstanding at HDFS and higher cash balances that the Company is maintaining in order to ensure minimum of

twelve months of its projected liquidity needs The Companys total outstanding debt consisted of the following

as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Unsecured commercial
paper 325099 $1416449 842618

Asset-backed conduit facility 500000

Credit facilities 448049 390932 256531

773148 2307381 1099149

Medium-term notes 2103396 1607506 1000806

Senior unsecured notes 600000

On-balance sheet securitization debt 2159585

Total debt $5636129 $3914887 $2099955

In order to access the debt capital markets the Company relies on credit rating agencies to assign short-term

and long-term credit ratings Generally lower credit ratings result in higher borrowing costs and reduced access

to debt capital markets credit rating agency may change or withdraw the Companys ratings based on its

assessment of the Companys current and future ability to meet interest and principal repayment obligations The

Companys short-term debt ratings affect its ability to issue unsecured commercial paper The Companys short-

and long-term debt ratings as of December 31 2009 were as follows

Short-Term Long-Term Outlook

Moodys P2 Baal Negative

Standard Poors A2 BBB Stable

Fitch F2 BBB Negative

Credit Facilities In April 2009 the Company and HDFS entered into new $625.0 million 364-day credit

facility New 364-Day Credit Facility to refinance and replace the existing $950.0 million 364-day credit facility

2008 364-Day Credit Facility which was set to mature in July 2009 The New 364-Day Credit Facility matures

in April 2010 In connection with the New 364-Day Credit Facility the Company and HDFS also amended the

existing three-year credit facility agreement which matures in July 2011 The amendments to the three-year
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credit facility were to conform to the terms of the New 364-Day Credit Facility The New 364-Day Credit

Facility and the amended three-year credit facility agreement together the Global Credit Facilities bear interest

at various variable interest rates which may be adjusted upward or downward depending on certain criteria such

as credit ratings The Global Credit Facilities also require the Company to pay fee based upon the average daily

unused portion of the aggregate commitments under the Global Credit Facilities

Commercial Paper Subject to limitations HDFS could issue unsecured commercial paper of up to $1.58

billion as of December 31 2009 Outstanding unsecured commercial paper may not exceed the unused portion of

the Global Credit Facilities Maturities may range up to 365 days from the issuance date HDFS intends to

finance the repayment of unsecured commercial paper as it matures by issuing traditional unsecured commercial

paper or through other means such as borrowing under the Global Credit Facilities borrowing under its asset-

backed commercial paper conduit facility and term asset-backed securitizations.11

Asset-backed commercial paper conduit facility During April 2009 HDFS entered into new revolving

asset-backed conduit facility agreement 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement to refinance and replace the existing

$500.0 million asset-backed conduit facility agreement 2008 Conduit Loan Agreement The 2009 Conduit Loan

Agreement provides for the extension of credit by group of third-party bank sponsored conduits some of which

were party to the 2008 Conduit Loan Agreement The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement provides for total revolving

borrowings of up to $1.20 billion based on among other things the amount of eligible U.S retail motorcycle

loan collateral As part of the April 2009 transaction HDFS increased the U.S retail motorcycle loan collateral

by $354.4 million and also increased the debt issued to the third-party bank sponsored conduits from $500.0

million to $640.2 million At December 31 2009 HDFS had no outstanding borrowings under the 2009 Conduit

Loan Agreement

This debt provides for interest on outstanding principal based on prevailing commercial paper rates or

LIBOR plus specified margin to the extent the advance is not funded by conduit lender through the issuance

of commercial paper The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement also provides for an unused commitment fee based on

the unused portion of the total aggregate commitment or $1.20 billion There is no amortization schedule

however the debt is reduced monthly as available collections on the related finance receivable collateral are

applied to outstanding principal with the balance due at maturity Unless earlier terminated or extended by

mutual agreement of HDFS and the lenders the 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement will expire on April 29 2010 at

which time HDFS will be obligated to repay any amounts outstanding in full

Medium-Term Notes The Company has the following Medium-Term Notes collectively the Notes issued

and outstanding at December 31 2009 in thousands

Principal Amount Rate Issue Date Maturity Date

200000 5.00% December 2005 December 2010

400000 5.25% December 2007 December 2012

$1000000 6.80% May 2008 June 2018

500000 5.75% November 2009 December 2014

The Notes provide for semi-annual interest payments and principal due at maturity At December 31 2009

2008 and 2007 the Notes included fair value adjustment increasing the balance by $6.1 million $9.7 million and

$1.3 million respectively due to interest rate swap agreements designated as fair value hedges The effect of the

interest rate swap agreements is to convert the interest rate on portion of the Notes from fixed to floating rate

which is based on 3-month LIBOR Unamortized discounts on the Notes reduced the balance by $2.7 million $2.2

million and $0.5 million at December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Senior Unsecured Notes In February 2009 the Company issued $600.0 million of senior unsecured notes

in an underwritten offering The senior unsecured notes mature in February 2014 and have an annual interest rate

of 15% The senior unsecured notes provide for semi-annual interest payments and principal due at maturity

52



Prior to the end of the first quarter the Company transferred the full proceeds from the issuance to HDFS in

order to fund HDFS operations As HDFS diversified its debt structure through combination of actions during

2009 its funding profile improved During the fourth quarter of 2009 HDFS transferred the full proceeds back to

the Company

On-Balance Sheet Securitization Debt In 2009 HDFS transferred $3.08 billion of U.S retail motorcycle

loans to four separate SPEs The SPEs in turn issued $2.46 billion of secured notes respectively with various

maturities and interest rates to investors in on-balance sheet securitization transactions These term asset-backed

securitization transactions were eligible collateral under the TALF program The notes are secured by future

collections of the purchased U.S retail motorcycle loans The structure of these term asset-backed securitization

transactions did not satisfy the requirements for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860-40 therefore

the securitized U.S retail motorcycle loans resulting secured borrowings and other related assets and liabilities

of the SPEs are included in the Companys consolidated financial statements as HDFS is the primary beneficiary

of the SPEs

The SPEs are separate legal entities and the U.S retail motorcycle loans that have been included in the term

asset-backed securitizations are only available for payment of the secured debt and other obligations arising from

the term asset-backed securitization transactions and are not available to pay other obligations or claims of the

Companys creditors until the associated secured debt and other obligations are satisfied Cash and cash

equivalent balances held by the SPEs are used only to support the on-balance sheet securitizations There is no

amortization schedule for the secured notes however the debt is reduced monthly as available collections on the

related U.S retail motorcycle loans are applied to outstanding principal The notes expected life ranges
from one

to four
years

due to credit losses and prepayment speeds

As of December 31 2009 the assets of the SPEs totaled $2.93 billion of which $2.75 billion of finance

receivables were restricted as collateral for the payment of $2.16 billion secured notes Also included in the

assets of the SPEs were $164.1 million of cash restricted for payment on the outstanding debt at December 31

2009

Intercompany Borrowing HDFS has revolving credit line with the Company whereby HDFS may

borrow up to $210.0 million from the Company at market interest rate As of December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 HDFS had no outstanding borrowings owed to the Company under this agreement

The Company has support agreement with HDFS whereby if required the Company agrees to provide

HDFS with financial support in order to maintain HDFS fixed-charge coverage at 1.25 and minimum net worth

of $40.0 million Support may be provided at the Companys option as capital contributions or loans

Accordingly certain debt covenants may restrict the Companys ability to withdraw funds from HDFS outside

the normal course of business No amount has ever been provided to HDFS under the support agreement

Operating and Financial Covenants HDFS and the Company are subject to various operating and

financial covenants related to the Global Credit Facilities asset-backed commercial paper
conduit facility and

various operating covenants under the Notes The more significant covenants are described below

The covenants limit the Companys and HDFS ability to

incur certain additional indebtedness

assume or incur certain liens

participate in merger consolidation liquidation or dissolution and

purchase or hold margin stock

Under the financial covenants of the Global Credit Facilities and the asset-backed commercial paper conduit

facility the debt to equity ratio of HDFS and its consolidated subsidiaries cannot exceed 10.0 to 1.0 and HDFS
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must maintain consolidated tangible net worth of not less than $500.0 million In addition the Company must

maintain minimum interest
coverage ratio of 2.5 to 1.0 and maximum ratio of consolidated debt excluding

HDFS and certain intercompany debt to consolidated EBITDA of 2.75 to No financial covenants are required

under the Notes

At December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 HDFS and the Company remained in compliance with all of these

covenants

Cautionary Statements

The Companys ability to meet the targets and expectations noted in this Form 10-K depends upon among
other factors the Companys ability to execute its strategy and successfully exit certain product lines and

divest certain company assets ii effectively execute the Companys restructuring plans within expected costs

and timing iii successfully achieve with the Companys labor unions flexible and cost-effective agreements to

accomplish restructuring goals and long-term competitiveness iv manage the risks that our independent dealers

may have difficulty obtaining capital and adjusting to the recession and slowdown in consumer demand

manage supply chain issues vi anticipate the level of consumer confidence in the economy vii continue

to have access to reliable sources of capital funding and adjust to fluctuations in the cost of capital viii manage
the credit quality the loan servicing and collection activities and the recovery rates of HDFS loan portfolio

ix continue to realize production efficiencies at its production facilities and manage operating costs including

materials labor and overhead manage production capacity and production changes xi provide products

services and experiences that are successful in the marketplace xii develop and implement sales and marketing

plans that retain existing retail customers and attract new retail customers in an increasingly competitive

marketplace xiii sell all of its motorcycles and related products and services to its independent dealers

xiv continue to develop the capabilities of its distributor and dealer network xv manage changes and prepare

for requirements in legislative and regulatory environments for its products services and operations xvi adjust

to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates interest rates and commodity prices xvii adjust to healthcare

inflation pension reform and tax changes xviii retain and attract talented employees xix detect any issues

with the Companys motorcycles or manufacturing processes to avoid delays in new model launches recall

campaigns increased
warranty costs or litigation and xx implement and manage enterprise-wide information

technology solutions and secure data contained in those systems In addition the Company could experience

delays or disruptions in its operations as result of work stoppages strikes natural causes terrorism or other

factors These risks potential delays and uncertainties regarding the costs could also adversely impact the

Companys capital expenditure estimates see Liquidity and Capital Resources section

In addition see Risk Factors under Item 1A which includes discussion of additional risk factors and

more complete discussion of some of the cautionary statements noted above
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in foreign exchange rates and interest rates To reduce

such risks the Company selectively uses derivative financial instruments All hedging transactions are authorized

and executed pursuant to regularly reviewed policies and procedures which prohibit the use of financial

instruments for trading purposes Sensitivity analysis is used to manage and monitor foreign exchange and

interest rate risk

The Company sells its products internationally and in most markets those sales are made in the foreign

countrys local currency As result the Companys earnings can be affected by fluctuations in the value of the

U.S dollar relative to foreign currency The Companys most significant foreign currency
risk relates to the

Euro the Australian dollar and the Brazilian Real The Company utilizes foreign currency
contracts to mitigate

the effect of the Euro and the Australian dollar fluctuations on earnings The foreign currency contracts are

entered into with banks and allow the Company to exchange specified amount of foreign currency for U.S

dollars at future date based on fixed exchange rate At December 31 2009 the notional U.S dollar value of

outstanding Euro and Australian dollar foreign currency contracts was $144.8 million The Company estimates

that uniform 10% weakening in the value of the U.S dollar relative to the currencies underlying these contracts

would result in decrease in the fair value of the contracts of approximately $15.1 million as of December 31

2009 Further disclosure relating to the fair value of derivative financial instruments is included in Note of the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

In addition the Company financed its acquisition of MV Agusta and subsequent working capital

requirements through 143.0 million of Euro-denominated debt $205.0 million at December 31 2009 The

carrying amount of debt is measured at each balance sheet date in the U.S dollar and the corresponding gains or

losses are recognized in the statement of operations

The Companys earnings are affected by changes in interest rates HDFS utilizes interest rate swaps to

reduce the impact of fluctuations in interest rates on its debt and securitization transactions HDFS also entered

into derivative contracts to facilitate the April 2009 asset-backed conduit facility certain of which do not qualify

for hedge accounting treatment Additionally to facilitate its first quarter 2008 securitization transaction as well

as its third quarter 2007 securitization transaction HDFS entered into derivative contracts These derivatives

which hedge assets by an off-balance sheet Qualifying Special Purpose Entity do not qualify for hedge

accounting treatment Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognized in current period earnings

within other operating expenses As of December 31 2009 HDFS had interest rate swaps outstanding with

notional value of $1.16 billion HDFS estimates that 10% decrease in interest rates would result in $1.4

million decrease in the fair value of the agreements
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Companys management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f Under the supervision and with the

participation of management including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer

management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based

on the criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on managements evaluation under the framework in

Internal Control Integrated Framework management has concluded that the Companys internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009 Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public

accounting firm has audited the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form

10-K and as part of its audit has issued an attestation report included herein on the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting

February 10 2010

Keith Wandell John Olin

President and Chief Executive Officer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews the Companys financial reporting process and the

audit process All of the Audit Committee members are independent in accordance with the Audit Committee

requirements of the New York Stock Exchange Inc

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has reviewed and discussed with management its

assessment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control system over financial reporting as of

December 31 2009 Management has concluded that the internal control system was effective Additionally the

Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 was audited by Ernst Young
LLP the Companys independent registered public accounting firm for the 2009 fiscal year The audited

financial statements of the Company for the 2009 fiscal year were also reviewed and discussed with management
as well as with representatives of Ernst Young LLP The Audit Committee has also discussed with Ernst

Young LLP the matters required to be discussed by AU Section 380 of the Public Compady Accounting

Oversight Board PCAOB Auditing Standards other professional standards and regulatory requirements

currently in effect The Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent

registered public accounting firm required by Rule 3526 of the PCAOB as currently in effect and has discussed

with representatives of Ernst Young LLP the independence of Ernst Young LLP Based on the review and

discussions referred to above the Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited

financial statements for the 2009 fiscal year be included in the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

2009 fiscal year

February 10 2010

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Richard Beattie Judson Green

Thomas Linebarger George Miles Jr

James Norling Chairman
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL

CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Harley-Davidson Inc

We have audited Harley-Davidson Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Harley-Davidson Inc.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Report on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal

control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based

on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We

believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Harley-Davidson Inc maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Harley-Davidson Inc as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and

the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years

in the period ended December 31 2009 of Harley-Davidson Inc and our report dated February 23 2010

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Milwaukee Wisconsin

February 23 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Harley-Davidson Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Harley-Davidson Inc as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of operations shareholders equity and

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 Our audits also included the

financial statement schedule listed in the index at item 15a These financial statements and schedule are the

responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial

statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of Harley-Davidson Inc at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated

results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31 2009 in

conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related financial

statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole presents fairly

in all material respects the information set forth therein

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Harley-Davidson Inc.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based

on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23 2010 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Milwaukee Wisconsin

February 23 2010
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Revenue

Motorcycles and related products $4287130 $5578414 $5726848

Financial services 494779 376970 416196

Total revenue 4781909 5955384 6143044

Costs and expenses

Motorcycles and related products cost of goods sold 2900934 3647270 3612748

Financial services interest expense 283634 136763 81475

Financial services provision for credit losses 169206 39555 11252

Selling administrative and engineering expense 979384 1060154 1012008

Restructuring expense
and asset impairment 224278 12475

Goodwill impairment 28387

Total costs and expenses
4585823 4896217 4717483

Operating income 196086 1059167 1425561

Investment income 4254 11296 22258

Interest expense 21680 4542
_________

Income before provision for income taxes 178660 1065921 1447819

Provision for income taxes 108019 381686 513976

Income from continuing operations 70641 684235 933843

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax 125757 29517
_________

Net loss income 55116 654718 933843

Earnings per common share from continuing operations

Basic 0.30 2.92 3.75

Diluted 0.30 2.92 3.74

Loss per common share from discontinued operations

Basic 0.54 0.13

Diluted 0.54 0.13

Loss earnings per common share

Basic 0.24 2.80 3.75

Diluted 0.24 2.79 3.74

Cash dividends
per common share 0.40 1.29 1.06

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 2009 and 2008

In thousands except share amounts

2009 2008

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $1630433 568894
Marketable securities 39685
Accounts receivable net 269371 265319
Finance receivables held for sale 2443965
Finance receivables held for investment net 1436114 1378461
Inventories 323029 379141
Assets of discontinued operations 181211 238715
Deferred income taxes 179685 123327

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 282421 128730

Total current assets 4341949 5526552

Finance receivables held for investment net 3621048 817102

Property plant and equipment net 906906 1056928
Goodwill 31400 60131

Deferred income taxes 177504 288240
Other long-term assets 76711 79672

9155518 7828625

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 162515 303277
Accrued liabilities 514084 503466
Liabilities of discontinued operations 69535 77941
Short-term debt 189999 1738649
Current portion of long-term debt 1332091

_________
Total current liabilities 2268224 2623333

Long-term debt 4114039 2176238
Pension

liability 245332 484003
Postretirement healthcare liability 264472 274408
Other long-term liabilities 155333 155040

Commitments and contingencies Note 17

Shareholders equity

Series Junior participating preferred stock none issued

Common stock 336800970 and 335653577 shares issued in 2009 and 2008

respectively 3368 3357
Additional paid-in-capital 871100 846796
Retained earnings 6324268 6458778
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 417898 522526

6780838 6786405

Less

Treasury stock 102487275 and 102889730 shares in 2009 and 2008 respectively

at cost 4672720 4670802

Total shareholders equity 2108118 2115603

9155518 7828625

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31 20092008 and 2007

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

Net cash provided by used by operating activities of continuing operations

Note 609010 608029 798146

Cash flows from investing activities of continuing operations

Capital expenditures 116748 228959 242113

Origination of finance receivables held for investment 1378226 608621 514359

Collections on finance receivables held for investment 607168 448990 368978

Collection of retained securitization interests 61170 93747 118175

Purchases of marketable securities 39685 467609

Sales and redemptions of marketable securities 2543 1125344

Other net 2834 2575 2789

Net cash used by provided by investing activities of continuing operations 863487 294875 391205

Cash flows from financing activities of continuing operations

Proceeds from issuance of medium term notes 496514 993550 398144

Repayment of medium term notes 400000

Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes 595026

Proceeds from securitization debt 2413192

Repayments of securitization debt 263083

Net decrease increase in credit facilities and unsecured commercial

paper 1083331 761065 16247

Net repayments borrowings of asset-backed commercial paper 513168 490000

Repayment of senior subordinated debt 30000

Net change in restricted cash 167667
Dividends 93807 302314 260805

Purchase of common stock for treasury 1920 250410 1153439

Excess tax benefits from share-based payments 170 320 3066

Issuance of common stock under employee stock option plans 11 1179 21478

Net cash provided by used by financing activities of continuing operations 1381937 1293390 1037803

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of continuing

operations 6789 20352 12909

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations 1134249 370134 164457

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations 71298 75028

Cash flows from investing activities of discontinued operations 18805 99963

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of discontinued

operations 1208 4439

91311 179430

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1042938 190704 164457

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 568894 402854 238397

Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations beginning of

period 24664

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1042938 190704 164457

Less Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations end of

period 6063 24664

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 1630433 568894 402854

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Years ended December 31 20092008 and 2007

In thonsands except share amounts

Balance December 31 2006 334328193

Comprehensive income

Net income

Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Amortization of net prior service cost net of

taxes of $2121
Amortization of actuarial loss net of taxes of

$7092
Pension and post-retirement plan funded status

adjustment net of taxes of $29142

Change in net unrealized gains losses

Investment in retained securitization interests

net of tax benefit of $6488

Derivative financial instruments net of tax

benefit of $7229

Marketable securities net of taxes of

$825

Comprehensive income

Adjustment to
initially apply FIN 48

Dividends

Repurchase of common stock

Share-based compensation

Issuance of nonvested stock

Exercise of stock options

Tax benefit of stock options

Balance December 31 2007 335211201

Comprehensive income

Net income

Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Amortization of net prior service cost net of

taxes of $1919
Amortization of actuarial loss net of taxes of

$4539
Pension and post-retirement plan funded status

adjustment net of taxes of $203485

Change in net unrealized gains losses

Investment in retained securitization interests

net of tax benefit of $10252

Derivative financial instruments net of taxes

of $7464
Marketable securities net of taxes of $45

Comprehensive income

Adjustment to apply measurement date provisions of

SFAS No 158 net of taxes of $6887
Dividends

Repurchase of common stock

401k match made with Treasury shares

Share-based compensation

Issuance of nonvested stock

Exercise of stock options

Tax benefit of stock options

Balance December 31 2008 335653577

9166

24021

1178

211

$3357 $846796

1252

1003247

16100
260805

1153439 1153439
20974

21478

3399

$137258 $4420394 2375491

654718

44012

3116

7376

347165

18838

11556

76

266827

8570
302314

250410

9168

24021

1179

211

________
$4670802 2115603

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

Common Stock
Additional

Issued paid-in

Shares Balance capital

$3343 $766382

Retained

Earnings

$5460629

Other

comprehensive
income loss

$206662

933843

30753

3447

11521

47346

11945

12970

1252

Treasury
Balance Total

$3266955 2756737

933843

30753

3447

11521

47346

11945

12970

385078

497930

20974

21473

3399

$3352 $812224

16100

260805

$6117567

654718

44012

3116

7376

347165

18838

11556

76

384761

57615

250410

11193

302314

$6458778

2623

$522526
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY Continued

Years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands except share amounts

Comprehensive income

Net loss

Other comprehensive income loss

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Amortization of net prior service cost net of

taxes of $1576
Amortization of actuarial loss net of taxes of

$6919
Pension and post-retirement plan funded status

adjustment net of taxes of $17126

Pension and post-retirement plan settlement and

curtailment net of taxes of $18942

Change in net unrealized gains losses

Investment in retained securitization interests

net of taxes $7619

Derivative financial instruments net of tax

benefit of $1184

Comprehensive income

Adjustment to apply measurement date provisions of

FSP 115-2 net of taxes of $8108

Dividends

Repurchase of common stock

401k match made with Treasury shares

Share-based compensation

Issuance of nonvested stock

Tax benefit of stock options

Balance December 312009

Common Stock
____________________ Additional

Issued paid-in Retained

Shares Balance capital Earnings

__________
$3357 $846796 $6458778

55116

11066

16297

11
3048

$871100

Other

comprehensive
income loss

$522526

93807
1920
11068

16297

3048

$4672720 $2108118

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

Balance December 31 2008 335653577

Treasury
Balance Total

$4670802 $2115603

55116

30932

2679

11761

29111

32197

13600

1239

63925

1920

30932

2679

11761

29111

32197

13600

1239

14413 14413

93807

_________
$417898

1147393

336800970

11

$3368 $6324268
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HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation The consolidated financial statements include the

accounts of Harley-Davidson Inc and its wholly-owned subsidiaries the Company including the accounts of

the groups of companies doing business as Harley-Davidson Motor Company HDMC Buell Motorcycle

Company Buell MV Agusta MV and Harley-Davidson Financial Services HDFS In addition certain

variable interest entities VIEs related to secured financing are consolidated as the Company is the primary

beneficiary All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated

All of the Companys subsidiaries are wholly owned and are included in the consolidated financial

statements Substantially all of the Companys international subsidiaries use the respective local currency as their

functional
currency Assets and liabilities of international subsidiaries have been translated at period-end

exchange rates and income and expenses have been translated using average exchange rates for the period

In connection with term asset-backed securitization transactions prior to 2009 HDFS utilized Qualifying

Special Purpose Entities QSPEs as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Boards FASB Accounting

Standards Codification ASC Topic 860-40 Transfers to Qualifying Special Purpose Entities ASC Topic

860-40 Assets and liabilities of the QSPEs are not consolidated in the financial statements of the Company For

further discussion of QSPEs and off-balance sheet securitization transactions see Note

The Company operates in two principal business segments Motorcycles Related Products Motorcycles
and Financial Services Financial Services

The Companys management has evaluated subsequent events after December 31 2009 through

February 23 2010 which is the date the Companys financial statements were issued

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles U.S GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes Actual results could differ from those

estimates

Cash and Cash Equivalents The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturity of three

months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents

Marketable Securities The Company had investments in marketable securities consisting primarily of

$39.7 million of corporate bonds at December 31 2009 with contractual maturities of less than one year The

Company has classified its investments in marketable securities as available for sale thus requiring the Company
to carry them at their fair value with any unrealized gains or losses reported in other comprehensive income As

of December 31 2009 fair value approximated carrying value and as such no adjustment was required There

were no marketable securities held at December 31 2008

Accounts Receivable The Companys motorcycles and related products are sold to independent dealers

and distributors outside the U.S and Canada generally on open account and the resulting receivables are included

in accounts receivable in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets The allowance for doubtful accounts

deducted from total accounts receivable was $11.4 million and $6.2 million as of December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively The Companys sales of motorcycles and related products in the U.S and Canada are financed by
the purchasing dealers or distributors through HDFS and the related receivables are included in finance

receivables held for investment in the consolidated balance sheets
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Finance Receivables Held for Investment Net Retail and wholesale finance receivables held for

investment are recorded in the financial statements at historical cost less an allowance for credit losses The

provision for finance credit losses on finance receivables held for investment is charged to earnings in amounts

sufficient to maintain the allowance for uncollectible accounts at level HDFS believes is adequate to cover the

losses of principal in the existing portfolio HDFS periodic evaluation of the adequacy of the retail or other

small balance homogeneous loan allowance is generally based on HDFS past loan loss experience known and

inherent risks in the portfolio current economic conditions and the estimated value of any underlying

collateral HDFS wholesale and other large loan allowance evaluation includes loan-by-loan review which

considers the specific borrowers ability to repay and the estimated value of any collateral

Finance Receivables Held for Sale Prior to the second quarter of 2009 U.S retail motorcycle loans

intended for securitization at origination were classified as finance receivables held for sale These finance

receivables held for sale in the aggregate were carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value Any amount by

which cost exceeded fair value was accounted for as valuation adjustment with an offset to other income Cash

flows related to finance receivables held for sale were included in cash flows from operating activities

Off-Balance Sheet Finance Receivables Securitizations Prior to 2009 HDFS sold retail motorcycle loans

through securitization transactions that qualified for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860-40 Under

the terms of securitization transactions HDFS sold retail loans to securitization trust utilizing the two-step

process
described below The securitization trust issued notes to investors with various maturities and interest

rates secured by future collections of purchased retail loans The proceeds from the issuance of the term asset-

backed securities were utilized by the securitization trust to purchase retail loans from HDFS

Upon sale of the retail loans to the securitization trust HDFS received cash recorded gain or loss on the

transaction and also retained an interest in excess cash flows subordinated securities and the right to receive

cash reserve account deposits in the future collectively referred to as investment in retained securitization

interests The investment in retained securitization interests is included with finance receivables held for

investment in the consolidated balance sheets The Companys continuing involvement in the securitized U.S

retail motorcycles loans is limited to its investment in retained securitization interests and servicing rights

The interest in excess cash flows reflects the expected cash flows arising from U.S retail motorcycle loans sold

to the securitization trust less expected servicing fees credit losses and contracted payment obligations owed to

securitization trust investors Key assumptions in determining the present value of projected excess cash flows are

prepayments credit losses and discount rate The fair value of the interest in excess cash flows was $77.4 million

and $135.5 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

As part of the first quarter 2008 securitization transaction HDFS retained $54.0 million of the subordinated

securities issued by the securitization trust These securities have stated principal and fixed interest rate and are

subordinated to the senior securities within the securitization trust Fair value is determined using discounted cash

flow methodologies The fair value of the retained subordinated securities was $53.1 million and $47.2 million as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Umealized gains on the subordinated securities recorded in other

comprehensive income were $0.05 million or $0.03 million net of taxes as of December 31 2009 Unrealized

losses on the subordinated securities were $5.8 million or $3.8 million net of taxes as of December 31 2008

Reserve account deposits represent interest-earning cash deposits which collateralize the trust securities

The funds are not available for use by HDFS until the reserve account balances exceed thresholds specified in the

securitization agreements The fair value of the reserve account deposits was $114.8 million and $147.9 million

at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

HDFS retains servicing rights on the U.S retail motorcycle loans that it has sold to the securitization trust

and receives servicing fee The servicing fee paid to HDFS is considered adequate compensation for the
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services provided and is included in financial services revenue as earned HDFS earned $42.0 million $55.1

million and $60.8 million from contractually specified servicing fees late fees and ancillary fees during 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively These fees are recorded in financial services revenue

Gains or losses on off-balance sheet term asset-backed securitizations of U.S retail motorcycle loans were

recognized in the period in which the sale occurred The amount of the gain or loss depended on the proceeds

received and the original carrying amount of the transferred U.S retail motorcycle loans allocated between the

assets sold and the retained interests based on their relative fair values at the date of transfer

The investment in retained securitization interests is measured in the same manner as an investment in debt

securities that is classified as available-for-sale as defined by ASC Topic 320 Investments Debt and Equity

Securities ASC Topic 320 As such the investment in retained securitization interests is recorded at fair value

and periodically reviewed for impairment Market quotes of fair value are generally not available for retained

interests therefore HDFS estimates fair value based on the present value of future expected cash flows using

HDFS best estimates of key assumptions for credit losses prepayments and discount rates that in managements

judgment reflect the assumptions marketplace participants would use If the fair value of the investment in

retained securitization interests is less than the amortized cost an unrealized loss exists which indicates that the

investment is other-than-temporarily impaired

HDFS utilized two-step process to transfer U.S retail motorcycle loans to securitization trust U.S retail

motorcycle loans are initially transferred to special purpose bankruptcy remote wholly owned subsidiary

which in turn sells the U.S retail motorcycle loans to the securitization trust The securitization trust is funded

with cash obtained through the issuance of the term asset-backed securities HDFS has surrendered control of

retail loans sold to the securitization trust Securitization transactions have been structured such that

transferred assets have been isolated from HDFS by being put presumptively beyond the reach of HDFS and

its creditors even in bankruptcy or other receivership each holder of beneficial interest in the securitization

trust has the right to pledge or exchange their interest and HDFS does not maintain effective control over the

transferred assets through either an agreement that both entitles and obligates HDFS to repurchase or redeem

the transferred assets before their maturity other than for breaches of certain representations warranties and

covenants relating to the transferred assets or the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific

assets other than through customary cleanup call

Activities of the securitization trust are limited to acquiring U.S retail motorcycle loans issuing term asset-

backed securities making payments on securities to investors and other activities permissible under ASC Topic

860 Transfers and Servicing ASC Topic 860 Securitization trusts have limited life and generally terminate

upon final distribution of amounts owed to the investors in the term asset-backed securities Historically the life

of securitization trusts purchasing U.S retail motorcycle loans from HDFS has approximated four years

HDFS does not guarantee payments on the securities issued by the securitization trusts or the projected cash

flows from the U.S retail motorcycle loans purchased from HDFS The Companys retained securitization

interests excluding servicing rights are subordinate to the interests of securitization trust investors Such

investors have priority interests in the cash collections on the retail loans sold to the securitization trust after

payment of servicing fees and in the cash reserve account deposits These priority interests ultimately could

impact the value of the Companys investment in retained securitization interests Investors also do not have

recourse to the assets of HDFS for failure of the obligors on the retail loans to pay when due

Due to the overall structure of the securitization transaction the nature of the assets held by the

securitization trust and the limited nature of its activities the securitization trusts are considered QSPEs

Accordingly gain or loss on sale is recognized upon transfer of retail loans to QSPE and the assets and

liabilities of the QSPEs are not consolidated in the financial statements of HDFS See Note for further

discussion of HDFS securitization program
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On-Balance Sheet Finance Receivable Securitizations During 2009 the Company transferred U.S retail

motorcycle loans to four separate wholly-owned special purpose entities SPEs The SPEs in turn issued secured

notes with various maturities and interest rates to investors in on-balance sheet securitization transactions These

term asset-backed securitization transactions were eligible collateral under the Federal Reserve Bank of New

Yorks Term Asset-backed securities Loan Facility TALF program The notes are secured by future collections

of the purchased U.S retail motorcycle loans The structure of these term asset-backed securitization transactions

did not satisfy the requirements for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860-40 therefore the securitized

U.S retail motorcycle loans resulting secured borrowings and other related assets and liabilities of the SPEs are

included in the Companys consolidated financial statements as the Company is the primary beneficiary of the

SPEs

The SPEs are separate legal entities and the U.S retail motorcycle loans that have been included in the term

asset-backed securitizations are only available for payment of the secured debt and other obligations arising from

the term asset-backed securitization transactions and are not available to pay other obligations or claims of the

Companys creditors until the associated secured debt and other obligations are satisfied Cash and cash

equivalent balances held by the SPEs are used only to support the on-balance sheet securitizations There is no

amortization schedule for the secured notes however the debt is reduced monthly as available collections on the

related U.S retail motorcycle loans are applied to outstanding principal See Note for further discussion of

HDFS on-balance sheet finance receivable securitizations

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Conduit Facility In December 2008 HDFS sold for legal purposes U.S

retail motorcycle finance receivables to SPE which in turn issued debt to third-party bank-sponsored asset-

backed commercial paper conduits The SPE funded the purchase of the finance receivables from HDFS

primarily with cash obtained through the issuance of the debt In April 2009 HDFS replaced its December 2008

asset-backed commercial paper conduit facility agreement with new agreement As part of the April 2009

transaction HDFS transferred additional U.S retail motorcycle loans to the SPE and increased the debt issued to

the third-party bank sponsored conduits

HDFS is the primary beneficiary of the SPE and the finance receivables sale does not satisfy the

requirements for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860-40 Therefore the assets and associated debt

are included in the Companys financial statements The assets of the SPE are restricted as collateral for the

payment of the debt or other obligations arising in the transaction and are not available to pay other obligations

or claims of the Companys creditors See Note for further discussion of HDFS asset-backed commercial

paper conduit facility

Inventories Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market Substantially all inventories produced or

purchased in the United States are valued using the last-in first-out LIFO method Other inventories are valued

at the lower of cost or market using the first-in first-out FIFO method

Property Plant and Equipment Property plant and equipment is recorded at cost Depreciation is

determined on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets The following useful lives are

used to depreciate the various classes of property plant and equipment buildings 30 to 40 years building

equipment and land improvements to 10 years and machinery and equipment to 10 years Accelerated

methods of depreciation are used for income tax purposes

Goodwill Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of the net assets purchased

Goodwill is tested for impairment based on financial data related to the reporting unit to which it has been

assigned at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may

not be recoverable The impairment test involves comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit

associated with the goodwill to its carrying amount including goodwill If the carrying amount of the reporting

unit exceeds its fair value goodwill must be adjusted to its implied fair value During 2009 the Company tested
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its goodwill balances for impairment see Notes and for additional discussion During 2008 the Company
tested its goodwill balances for impairment and no adjustments were recorded to goodwill as result of those

reviews

Long-lived Assets The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held

and used when events and circumstances warrant such review If the carrying value of long-lived asset is

considered impaired loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value

of the long-lived asset for assets to be held and used The Company also reviews the useful life of its long-lived

assets when events and circumstances indicate that the actual useful life may be shorter than originally estimated

In the event that the actual useful life is deemed to be shorter than the original useful life depreciation is adjusted

prospectively so that the remaining book value is depreciated over the revised useful life

Asset groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost

to sell and loss is recognized for any initial adjustment required to reduce the carrying amount to the fair value

less cost to sell in the period the held for sale criteria are met The fair value less cost to sell must be assessed

each reporting period the asset group remains classified as held for sale Gains or losses not previously

recognized resulting from the sale of an asset group will be recognized on the date of sale

Product Warranty and Safety Recall Campaigns The Company currently provides standard two-year

limited warranty on all new motorcycles sold worldwide except for Japan where the Company provides

standard three-year limited warranty on all new motorcycles sold The warranty coverage
for the retail customer

includes parts and labor and generally begins when the motorcycle is sold to retail customer The Company
maintains reserves for future warranty claims using an estimated cost per unit sold which is based primarily on

historical Company claim information Additionally the Company has from time to time initiated certain

voluntary safety recall campaigns The Company reserves for all estimated costs associated with safety recalls in

the period that the safety recalls are announced

Changes in the Companys warranty and safety recall liability were as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Balance beginning of period 64543 70523 66385

Warranties issued during the period 51336 52645 54963
Settlements made during the period 74022 71737 66422

Safety recalls and changes to pre-existing warranty liabilities 26187 13112 15597

Balance end of period 68044 64543 70523

The liability for safety recall campaigns was $6.7 million $4.6 million and $3.7 million at December 31

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Derivative Financial Instruments The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business

operations The primary risks are foreign currency exchange rate risk interest rate risk and commodity price risk

To reduce such risks the Company selectively uses derivative financial instruments All hedging transactions are

authorized and executed pursuant to regularly reviewed policies and procedures which prohibit the use of

financial instruments for speculative trading purposes

All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value see Note In accordance with

ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging the accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative

instrument depends on whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of hedging relationship and further

on the type of hedging relationship Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as fair value

hedges along with the gain or loss on the hedged item are recorded in current period earnings For derivative
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instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges the effective portion of gains and losses that result from

changes in the fair value of derivative instruments is initially recorded in other comprehensive income OCI and

subsequently reclassified into earnings when the hedged item affects income The Company assesses at both the

inception of each hedge and on an on-going basis whether the derivatives that are used in its hedging

transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items Any ineffective portion

is immediately recognized in earnings No component of hedging derivative instruments gain or loss is

excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness Derivative instruments which do not qualify for hedge

accounting are recorded at fair value and any changes in fair value are recorded in current period earnings Refer

to Note 11 for detailed description of the Companys derivative instruments

Motorcycles and Related Products Revenue Recognition Sales are recorded when products are shipped to

wholesale customers independent dealers and distributors and ownership is transferred The Company offers

sales incentive programs to both wholesale and retail customers designed to promote the sale of motorcycles and

related products The total costs of these programs are recognized as revenue reductions and are accrued at the

later of the date the related sales are recorded or the date the incentive program is both approved and

communicated

Financial Services Revenue Recognition Interest income on finance receivables is recorded as earned and

is based on the average outstanding daily balance for wholesale and retail receivables Accrued interest is

classified with finance receivables Certain loan origination costs including payments made to dealers for certain

retail loans are deferred and amortized over the estimated life of the contract

Retail loans are generally charged-off at 120 days contractually past due All retail finance receivables

accrue interest until either collected or charged-off Accordingly as of December 31 2009 and 2008 all retail

finance receivables are accounted for as interest-earning receivables

Wholesale loans are considered to be impaired when management concludes the dealer will not be able to

make full payment In making this determination management considers the dealers financial performance and

payment ability and the fair value of any collateral Impairment is determined based on the cash that HDFS

expects to receive discounted at the loans original rate or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral

dependent The accrual of interest on such loans is discontinued when the collection of the account becomes

doubtful non-accrual status loans HDFS will resume accruing interest on these accounts when payments are

current according to the terms of the loans and future payments are reasonably assured As of December 31

2009 total wholesale finance receivables accounted for as non-accrual status loans were not significant

Insurance commissions and commissions on the sale of extended service contracts are recognized when

contractually earned Deferred revenue related to extended service contracts was $14.6 million and $15.3 million

as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Research and Development Expenses Expenditures for research activities relating to product development

and improvement are charged against income as incurred and included within operating expenses in the

consolidated statement of operations Research and development expenses were $143.1 million $163.5 million

and $185.5 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Advertising Costs The Company expenses the production cost of advertising the first time the advertising

takes place Advertising costs relate to the Companys efforts to promote its products and brands through the use

of media During 2009 2008 and 2007 the Company incurred $80.2 million $89.2 million and $76.9 million in

advertising costs respectively

Shipping and Handling Costs The Company classifies shipping and handling costs as component of cost

of goods sold
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Reclassifications The Company has adjusted the format of its statement of operations to present revenues

and expenses together versus the previous format that aligned with the Companys reportable segments For all

periods presented in the statement of operations financial services expense has been disaggregated into financial

services interest expense and financial services provision for credit losses and the remaining amount has been

combined with selling administrative and engineering expense

To conform with the current year presentation restructuring expense for 2008 is presented separately in the

statement of operations

As discussed in Note the Company announced in October 2009 its intent to divest the MV business

Accordingly MV is now presented as discontinued operation for all periods presented

Share-Based Award Compensation Costs The Company recognizes the cost of its share-based awards in

its statement of operations The total cost of the Companys equity awards is equal to their grant date fair value

and is recognized as expense on straight-line basis over the service periods of the awards The total cost of the

Companys liability for cash-settled awards is equal to their settlement date fair value The liability for cash-

settled awards is revalued each period based on recalculated fair value adjusted for vested awards Total share-

based award compensation expense recognized by the Company during 2009 2008 and 2007 including stock

option and nonvested stock awards was $17.6 million $24.5 million and $21.0 million respectively or $11.0

million $15.3 million and $13.0 million net of taxes respectively

Income Tax Expense The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits

in the provision for income taxes

New Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards Recently Adopted

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141 revised 2007 Business Combinations which was

codified into ASC Topic 805 Business Combinations ASC Topic 805 ASC Topic 805 changes the

accounting for business combinations in number of areas including the treatment of contingent consideration

pre-acquisition contingencies transaction costs in-process research and development and restructuring costs In

addition under ASC Topic 805 changes in an acquired entitys deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions

after the measurement period will impact income tax expense ASC Topic 805 is effective for the Company

beginning in fiscal year 2009 This standard will change the Companys accounting treatment for business

combinations on prospective basis

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities an amendment of FASB Statement No 133 which was codified into ASC Topic 815 ASC Topic

815 requires enhanced disclosures about an entitys derivative and hedging activities Entities are required to

provide enhanced disclosures about how and why an entity uses derivative instruments how derivative

instruments and related hedge items are accounted for under pre-codification guidance contained in SFAS

No 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity and its related interpretations and

how derivative instruments and related hedge items affect an entitys financial position financial performance

and cash flows The Company adopted ASC Topic 815 as of January 2009 see Note 11 for further discussion

In June 2008 the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FSP Emerging Issues Task Force EITF 03-6-1

Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities

ASC Topic 260-10-55 ASC Topic 260-10-55 addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payment

transactions are participating securities prior to vesting and therefore need to be included in the earnings

allocation in computing earnings per share under the two-class method as described in SFAS No 128 Earnings

Per Share ASC Topic 260 Under the guidance of ASC Topic 260-10-55 unvested share-based payment
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awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid or unpaid are

participating securities and must be included in the computation of earnings per
share pursuant to the two-class

method All prior period earnings per share information must be adjusted retrospectively The Company adopted

ASC Topic 260-10-55 as of January 2009 see Note 20 for further discussion

In December 2008 the FASB issued FSP No SFAS 132R-i Employers Disclosures about

Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets ASC Topic 715-20-65 ASC Topic 715-20-65 requires additional fair value

disclosures about employers pension and postretirement benefit plan assets consistent with guidance contained

in ASC Topic 820 Specifically employers are required to disclose information about how investment allocation

decisions are made the fair value of each major category of plan assets and information about the inputs and

valuation techniques used to develop the fair value measurements of plan assets The Company adopted ASC

Topic 715-20-65 as of December 31 2009 see Note 15 for further discussion

In April 2009 the FASB issued three FSPs intended to provide additional application guidance and enhance

disclosures regarding fair value measurements and impairments of securities

FSP No FAS 157-4 Determining Fair Value When the Volume and Level of Activity for the Asset or

Liability Have Significantly Decreased and Identifying Transactions That Are Not Orderly

ASC Topic 820-10-65-4

FSP No FAS 107-1 and APB 28-1 Interim Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC Topic 825-10-65-1 and

FSP No FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2 Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-Temporary

Impairments ASC Topic 320-10-65-1

ASC Topic 820-10-65-4 provides additional guidance for estimating fair value in accordance with SFAS

No 157 Fair Value Measurements ASC Topic 820 when the volume and level of activity for the asset or

liability have significantly decreased in relation to normal market activity ASC Topic 820-10-65-4 also includes

guidance on identifying circumstances that indicate transaction is not orderly The Company adopted ASC

Topic 820-10-65-4 as of March 30 2009 As the new standard only clarified existing guidance there was no

material effect on the Companys consolidated financial statements and notes

ASC Topic 825-10-65-1 amends FASB Statement No 107 Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial

Instruments ASC Topic 825 to require disclosures about fair value of financial instruments for interim

reporting periods of publicly traded companies as well as in annual financial statements This new standard also

amends Accounting Principles Board APB Opinion No 28 Interim Financial Reporting ASC Topic 270 to

require those disclosures in summarized financial information at interim reporting periods The Company

adopted ASC Topic 825-10-65-1 as of March 30 2009 see Notes and 11 for further discussion

ASC Topic 320-10-65-1 amends the other-than-temporary impairment guidance for debt securities to make

the guidance more operational and to improve the presentation and disclosure of other-than-temporary

impairments on debt and equity securities in the financial statements This new standard does not amend existing

recognition and measurement guidance related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities The

Company adopted ASC Topic 320-10-65-1 as of March 30 2009 Upon adoption the Company recorded an

increase to retained earnings of $22.5 million $14.4 million net of tax and decrease to accumulated other

comprehensive income of $22.5 million $14.4 million net of tax See Note for further discussion of the effect

of adopting ASC Topic 320-10-65-1 on the Companys consolidated financial statements and notes

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 165 Subsequent Events ASC Topic 855 ASC Topic 855

establishes the criteria for subsequent events including the period after the balance sheet date during which

management of reporting entity shall evaluate events or transactions that may occur for potential recognition or

disclosure in the financial statements the circumstances under which an entity shall recognize events or
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transactions occurring after the balance sheet date in its financial statements and the disclosures that an entity

shall make about events or transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date The Company was required to

adopt ASC Topic 855 as of June 28 2009 and made the appropriate disclosure in Notes

Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 166 Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets an

amendment of FASB Statement No 140 SFAS No 166 amends the guidance within ASC Topic 860

Transfers and Servicing primarily by removing the concept of qualifying special purpose entity as well as

removing the exception from applying FASB Interpretation No 46R Consolidation of Variable Interest

Entities Upon the effective adoption date formerly qualifying special purpose entities as defined under

previous accounting standards must be evaluated for consolidation within an entitys financial statements

Additionally the guidance within ASC Topic 860 will require enhanced disclosures about the transfer of

financial assets as well as an entitys continuing involvement if any in transferred financial assets

In June 2009 the FASB issued SFAS No 167 Amendments to FASB Interpretation No 46R SFAS

No 167 amends the guidance within ASC Topic 810 Consolidations by adding previously considered

qualifying special purpose
entities the concept of these entities was eliminated by SFAS No 166 In addition

companies must perform an analysis to determine whether the companys variable interest or interests give it

controlling financial interest in variable interest entity Companies must also reassess on an ongoing basis

whether the company is the primary beneficiary of variable interest entity

The Company is required to adopt the new guidance contained within ASC 810 and ASC 860 as of

January 2010 The new guidance will require consolidation of the existing qualifying special purpose entities

QSPEs that are not currently recorded on the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet resulting in an estimated

increase in finance receivables and debt of $1.89 billion Consolidation of currently unconsolidated QSPEs will

also result in an increase in the allowance for finance credit losses for newly consolidated finance receivables

along with changes to the timing and line item reporting of revenue and expense in the Companys Consolidated

Statement of Operations Additionally as part of the consolidation of these finance receivable securitization

trusts the investment in retained securitization interests will be eliminated and no future valuations will be

required In accordance with the new guidance the Company will initially measure the assets and liabilities of

the former QSPEs at their carrying values the amounts at which the asset and liabilities would have been carried

in the Consolidated Financial Statements if ASC Topic 810 had been effective when the Company first met the

conditions as the primary beneficiary

The cumulative effect of adopting these new accounting standards as of January 2010 based on financial

information as of December 31 2009 would result in an estimated aggregate after-tax charge to retained

earnings in the range of $35.0 million to $45.0 million which includes the impact of establishing the initial

allowance for finance credit losses The actual impact of adopting the new accounting standards on January

2010 could differ as several uncertainties in the application of these new standards are resolved
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Additional Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Information

The following information represents additional detail for selected line items included in the consolidated

balance sheets at December 31 and the statements of cash flows for the years
ended December 31

Balance Sheet Information

Inventories net in thousands

2009 2008

Components at the lower of FIFO cost or market

Raw materials and work in process $104641 $140854

Motorcycle finished goods 168002 175438

Parts and accessories and general merchandise 84823 102983

Inventory at lower of FIFO cost or market 357466 419275

Excess of FIFO over LIFO cost 34437 40134

$323029 $379141

Inventory obsolescence reserves deducted from FIFO cost were $34.7 million and $24.1 million as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Property plant and equipment at cost in thousands

2009 2008

Land and related improvements 59922 59603

Buildings and related improvements 474891 469580

Machinery and equipment 2311779 2277593

Construction in progress 112498 131257

2959090 2938033

Less accumulated depreciation 2052184 1881105

906906 $1056928

Accrued liabilities in thousands

2009 2008

Payroll performance incentives and related expenses $137523 $158128

Restructuring reserves 67711 2149

Warranty and recalls 68044 64543

Sales incentive programs 62206 84683

Income taxes 16038 10770

Fair value of derivative financial instruments 16293 23503

Other 146269 159690

$514084 $503466

Components of accumulated other comprehensive loss net of tax in thousands

2009 2008

Cumulative foreign currency
translation adjustment 46103 15171

Unrealized loss on investment in retained securitization interest 3484 2671
Unrealized net loss on derivative financial instruments 8940 7701
Unrecognized pension and postretirement benefit plan liabilities 451577 527325

$417898 $522526
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Cash Flow Information

The reconciliation of net loss income to net cash provided by used by operating activities of continuing

operations is as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities

Netlossincome 55116 654718 933843

Loss from discontinued operations 125757 29517

Income from continuing operations 70641 684235 933843

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities

Depreciation 246344 220755 204172

Provision for employee long-term benefits 118201 76426 75683

Contributions to pension and postretirement plans 233224 19517 15302
Stock compensation expense 17576 24473 20974

Loss gain on off-balance sheet securitizations 5370 36033
Net change in wholesale finance receivables 332167 99373 22816

Origination of retail finance receivables held for sale 1180467 2788463 2919937
Collections on retail finance receivables held for sale 919201 507106 110756

Proceeds from securitization of retail finance receivables 467722 2486780

Impairment of retained securitization interests 45370 41403 9932

Lower of cost or fair market value adjustment on finance

receivables held for sale 5895 37764

Goodwill and other impairments 46410

Pension and postretirement healthcare plan curtailment and

settlement
expense 37814

Provision for credit losses 169206 39555 11252

Deferred income taxes 6931 46729 60779

Foreign currency adjustments 22234 2892 14581

Other net 76445 53978 23977

Changes in current assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net 8809 2710 26399
Finance receivables accrued interest and other 3360 7149 19680
Inventories 85472 42263 48019
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 239009 45998 41210

Restructuring reserves 65988 2149

Derivative instruments 4711 11962 3492

Other 30123 3855 6011

Total adjustments 538369 1292264 135697

Net cash provided by used by operating activities of continuing

operations 609010 608029 798146

Cash paid during the period for interest and income taxes in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Interest $336453 $128006 81474

Income taxes $123232 $413998 $568815

Interest paid represents interest payments of HDFS included in financial services expense and interest

payments of the Company included in interest expense
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Non-cash investing activity during the period in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Investment in retained securitization interests received in

connection with securitizations during the year $87171 $170173

MV Agusta Acquisition and Planned Divestiture

On August 2008 the Company completed of its purchase of privately-held Italian motorcycle maker MV Agusta

MV The Company acquired 100 percent of MV shares for total consideration of 68.3 million $105.1 million which

included the satisfaction of existing bank debt for 47.5 million $73.2 million The Company financed the transaction

and MVs initial working capital requirements through 130.0 million of debt under existing credit facilities

The operating results of MV which were part of the Motorcycles segment have been included in the

Companys consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition Pro forma information reflecting this

acquisition has not been disclosed as the pro forma impact on consolidated net income would not be material

The following table summarizes the fair values of the MV assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date

of acquisition in thousands

Current assets net of cash acquired 60483

Property plant and equipment 39469
Goodwill 85750

Intangible assets 52811

Other noncurrent assets 3739

Total assets 242252

Current liabilities 123119

Noncurrent liabilities 23579

Total liabilities 146698

Net assets acquired 95554

In conjunction with the acquisition of MV the Company recorded goodwill of $85.8 million none of which

is tax deductible and intangible assets with an initial fair value of $52.8 million Of the total intangible assets

acquired $8.1 million was assigned to patents with useful lives of ten years $6.3 million was assigned to

miscellaneous intangibles with useful lives of seven years and $18.3 million was assigned to trademarks that are

not subject to amortization The remaining $20.1 million was assigned to research and development assets that

were written off subsequent to the acquisition date in accordance with pre-codification guidance contained in

FASB Interpretation Number FIN Applicability of FASB Statement No to Business Combinations

Accounted for by the Purchase Method This resulted in one-time
expense of $20.1 million

In October 2009 the Company unveiled new business
strategy to drive growth through focus of efforts

and resources on the unique strengths of the Harley-Davidson brand and to enhance productivity and profitability

through continuous improvement The Companys Board of Directors approved and the Company committed to

the divestiture of MV as part of this strategy As result MV is now presented as discontinued operation for all

periods presented
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The following table summarizes the net revenue pre-tax loss and loss per common share from discontinued

operations for the periods noted in thousands except per share amounts

Twelve months ended August 2008

December 31 2009 December 31 2008

Revenue 56729 15893

Loss before income taxes $165383 $31944

Loss per common share 0.54 0.13

During 2009 the Company recorded an impairment charge of $115.4 million which represented the excess

of net book value of the held-for sale assets over the fair value less selling costs The impairment charge is

included in loss from discontinued operations and consisted of $85.5 million goodwill impairment $19.8 million

fixed asset impairment and $10.1 million intangible asset impairment

The effective tax rate for MVs income tax benefit during 2009 and 2008 was 24.0% and 7.3% respectively

The 2009 income tax benefit includes $42.0 million benefit associated with expected tax deductions resulting

from losses incurred on the Companys investments in and loans made to MV These benefits were calculated net

of $26.0 million that the Company deemed to be uncertain tax benefits

At December 31 2009 assets of discontinued operations consisted of $35.6 million of accounts receivable

net $36.0 million of inventories $31.2 million of property plant and equipment net and $78.4 million of other

assets At December 31 2009 liabilities of discontinued operations consisted of $55.7 million of accounts

payable and accrued liabilities and $13.8 million of other liabilities

Restructuring Expense and Other Impairments

2009 Restructuring Plan

During 2009 in response to the U.S economic recession and worldwide slowdown in consumer demand

the Company committed to volume reduction and combination of restructuring actions 2009 Restructuring

Plan in the Motorcycles and Financial Services segments which are expected to be completed by 2012 The

2009 Restructuring Plan was designed to reduce excess capacity exit certain business operations and lower the

Companys cost structure The Companys planned actions include

consolidating its two engine and transmission plants in the Milwaukee area into its facility in

Menomonee Falls Wisconsin

closing its distribution facility in Franklin Wisconsin and consolidating Parts and Accessories and

General Merchandise distribution through third party

discontinuing the domestic transportation fleet

consolidating its vehicle test facilities from three locations in Alabama Arizona and Florida into one

location in Arizona

restructuring its York Pennsylvania motorcycle production facility to focus on the core operations of

motorcycle assembly metal fabrication and paint and

exiting the Buell product line

The 2009 Restructuring Plan includes reduction of approximately 2700 to 2900 hourly production

positions and approximately 720 non-production primarily salaried positions within the Motorcycles segment

and approximately 100 salaried positions in the Financial Services segment These reductions began in 2009 and

are expected to be completed during 2011

Restructuring charges consist of employee severance and termination costs accelerated depreciation on the

long lived assets that will be exited as part of the 2009 Restructuring Plan and other related costs As of

December 31 2009 approximately 2000 employees have left the Company under the 2009 Restructuring Plan
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The following table summarizes the 2009 Restructuring Plan reserve recorded in accrued liabilities as of

December 31 2009 in thousands

Motorcycles Related Products Financial Services

Employee Employee
Severance and Accelerated Severance and Consolidated

Termination Costs Depreciation Other Total Termination Costs Other Total Total

Restructuring

expense $103769 26905 72278 $202952 $1679 $1623 3302 $206254

Utilized cash 29885 40856 70741 1460 1197 2657 73398
Utilizednoncash 37814 26905 64719 426 426 65145

Balance December 31

2009 36070 31422 67492 219 219 67711

Other restructuring costs include items such as the exit costs for terminating supply contracts lease

termination and moving costs

2008 Restructuring Plan

During the second quarter of 2008 the Company finalized plan to ship fewer motorcycles to its worldwide

dealer network in 2008 than it shipped in 2007 The Company executed this reduction through temporary plant

shutdowns adjusted daily production rates and workforce reduction involving approximately 730 positions As

result of the workforce reduction plan the Company recorded $12.4 million charge during 2008 The total

restructuring charge consisted of $7.6 million of employee severance benefits and $4.8 million of special retiree

benefits for those individuals eligible to receive benefits All employees and contract workers affected by the

2008 Restructuring Plan departed from the Company during 2008

The following table summarizes the Companys 2008 Restructuring Plan reserve activity during 2008 and

2009 in thousands

Employee Severance and
Termination Costs

Original reserve 7594

Utilized cash 5445

Balance December 31 2008 2149
Utilized cash 2149

Balance December 31 2009

Buell Asset Impairment

During October 2009 the Company unveiled new strategy that is designed to strengthen the Harley

Davidson brand for long-term future growth by focusing exclusively on the Harley-Davidson brand As result

the Company announced it was exiting the Buell product line during the fourth quarter of 2009 The Company
determined that an evaluation of the carrying value of the Buell fixed assets was necessary

and the Company
recorded fixed asset impairment charge of $18.0 million in 2009
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Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in each of the Companys reporting segments for the years

ended December 31 2009 and 2008 were as follows in thousands

Financial

Motorcycles Services Total

December 31 2007 $32560 28840 61400

Currency translation 1269 1269

December3l2008 $31291 $28840 $60131

Impairment 28387 28387

Currency translation 609 609

Other 500 453 953

December 31 2009 $31400 31400

As result of the Companys lower retail sales volume projections and the decline in operating performance

at HDFS during 2009 due to significant write-downs of its loan portfolio and investment in retained

securitization interests the Company performed an impairment test of the goodwill balance associated with

HDFS as of June 28 2009 The results of the impairment test indicated the current fair value of HDFS had

declined below its carrying value and as such the Company recorded an impairment charge of $28.4 million

during 2009

Finance Receivables

Finance receivables held for investment net at December 31 for the past five years were as follows in

thousands

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Wholesale

United States 787891 $1074377 $1132748 $1206753 $1040220

Europe 86947 66421 59960

Canada 82110 89859 108756 65538 50097

Total wholesale 870001 1164236 1328451 1338712 1150277

Retail

United States 3835235 514637 485579 409788 319856

Canada 256658 226084 228850 174894 149597

Total retail 4091893 740721 714429 584682 469453

4961894 1904957 2042880 1923394 1619730

Allowance for credit losses 150082 40068 30295 27283 26165

4811812 1864889 2012585 1896111 1593565

Investment in retained securitization

interests 245350 330674 407742 384106 349659

$5057162 $2195563 $2420327 $2280217 $1943224

Finance receivables held for sale at December 31 for the past five years were as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Retail

United States $2443965 $781280 $547106 $299373
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During the second quarter of 2009 the Company reclassified $3.14 billion of finance receivables held for

sale at the lower of cost or fair value to finance receivables held for investment net due to the Companys
decision to structure securitization transactions in manner that will not qualify for accounting sale treatment

under the provisions of ASC Topic 860-40 Included in finance receivables held for sale at December 31 2008 is

lower of cost or market adjustment of $31.7 million Included in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet at

December 31 2009 and 2008 are finance receivables of $2.81 billion and $649.8 million respectively which

were restricted as collateral for the payment of secured borrowings and other related obligations as discussed in

Note

HDFS has cross-border outstandings to Canada as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 of $77.1 million

$75.8 million and $92.2 million respectively

HDFS provides wholesale financing to the Companys independent dealers Wholesale loans to dealers are

generally secured by financed inventory or property and are originated in the U.S and Canada Effective

January 2008 the finance receivables and related assets of the international wholesale operations located in

Oxford England were transferred at book value to Harley-Davidson Europe Ltd subsidiary of HDMC
Beginning in 2008 HDMC assumed responsibility for the collection of all wholesale receivables in Europe

HDFS provides retail financial services to customers of the Companys independent dealers in the United

States and Canada The origination of retail loans is separate and distinct transaction between HDFS and the

retail customer unrelated to the Companys sale of product to its dealers Retail loans consist of secured

promissory notes and installment loans HDFS holds either titles or liens on titles to vehicles financed by

promissory notes and installment loans As of December 31 2009 and 2008 approximately 11% of gross

outstanding finance receivables were originated in Texas

At December 31 2009 and 2008 unused lines of credit extended to HDFS wholesale finance customers

totaled $1.16 billion and $941.9 million respectively Approved but unfunded retail finance loans totaled $123.9

million and $263.1 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

Wholesale finance receivables are related primarily to motorcycles and related parts and accessories sales to

independent dealers and are generally contractually due within one year Retail finance receivables are primarily

related to sales of motorcycles to the dealers customers On December 31 2009 contractual maturities of

finance receivables held for investment excluding retained securitization interests were as follows in

thousands

United

States Canada Total

2010 $1237998 $113302 $1351300
2011 469432 33233 502665
2012 525964 37263 563227
2013 589318 41780 631098

2014 660328 46845 707173

Thereafter 1140086 66345 1206431

Total $4623126 $338768 $4961894

As of December 31 2009 all finance receivables due after one year were at fixed interest rates
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The allowance for finance credit losses on finance receivables held for investment is comprised of

individual components relating to wholesale and retail finance receivables Changes in the allowance for finance

credit losses on finance receivables held for investment for the years ended December 31 were as follows in

thousands

2009 2008 2007

Balance at beginning of year 40068 30295 $27283

Provision for finance credit losses 169206 39555 11252

Charge-offs net of recoveries 59192 29782 8240

Balance at end of year $150082 40068 $30295

The increase in the provision for credit losses during 2009 primarily resulted from the reclassification of

$3.14 billion of finance receivables held for sale to finance receivables held for investment at the end of the

second quarter of 2009 The reclassification was due to the structure of the Companys May 2009 term asset-

backed securitization transaction and managements intent to structure subsequent securitization transactions in

manner that would not meet the requirements of accounting sale treatment The reclassification resulted in an

additional provision for credit losses of $72.7 million

The carrying value of retail and wholesale finance receivables contractually past due 90 days or more at

December 31 for the past five
years were as follows in thousands

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

United States $24629 $23678 $6205 $4476 $2574

Canada 2161 1275 1759 1561 1442

Europe 386 452 283

Total $26790 $24953 $8350 $6489 $4299

Off-Balance Sheet Finance Receivable Securitization Transactions

During 2008 and 2007 the Company sold $540.0 million and $2.53 billion respectively of retail

motorcycle loans through securitization transactions utilizing QSPEs see Note These sales resulted in cash

proceeds of $467.7 million and $2.49 billion during 2008 and 2007 respectively There were no off-balance

sheet securitization transactions during 2009 The Company retains an interest in excess cash flows subordinated

securities and cash reserve account deposits collectively referred to as investment in retained securitization

interests component of finance receivables held for investment in the Companys Consolidated Balance

Sheets The Company retains servicing rights and receives annual servicing fees approximating 1% of the

outstanding securitized retail loans HDFS serviced $1.89 billion and $3.25 billion of securitized retail loans as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The total investment in retained securitization interests received in

connection with securitizations during the
year

for the last three years is disclosed under non-cash investing

activities in Note In conjunction with sales prior to 2009 HDFS had investments in retained securitization

interests of $245.4 million and $330.7 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

The Companys investment in retained securitization interests excluding servicing rights is subordinate to

the interests of securitization trust investors Such investors have priority interests in the cash collections on the

retail loans sold to the securitization trust after payment of servicing fees and in the cash reserve account

deposits These priority interests ultimately could impact the value of the Companys investment in retained

securitization interests Investors do not have recourse to the assets of HDFS for failure of the obligors on the

retail loans to pay when due The investment in retained securitization interests is recorded at fair value Key

assumptions in the valuation of the investment in retained securitization interests and in calculating the gain or

loss on current year securitizations are credit losses prepayments and discount rate
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As discussed in Note the Company adopted ASC Topic 320-10-65-1 on March 30 2009 In accordance

with the new standard if management has no intent to sell the other-than-temporarily impaired investment and it

is more likely than not that it will not be required to sell only the credit loss component of the impairment is

recognized in earnings while the rest of the impairment is recognized as an unrealized loss in other

comprehensive income The credit loss component recognized in earnings is identified as the amount of cash

flows not expected to be received over the remaining life of the investment as projected using assumptions for

credit losses prepayments and discounts rates as discussed below

Upon adoption of ASC Topic 320-10-65-1 the Company recorded an increase to the opening balance of

retained earnings of $22.5 million $14.4 million net of tax and decrease to accumulated other comprehensive

income of $22.5 million $14.4 million net of tax to reclassify the non-credit component of $52.2 million of

previously recognized impairments on its investment in retained securitization interests The credit component of

previously recognized impairments on its investment in retained securitization interests was $29.7 million The

fair value of the investment in retained securitization interests did not change

During the nine months from the date of adoption to December 31 2009 the Company recorded other-than-

temporary impairments related to its investment in retained securitization interests The impairments were due to

higher actual and anticipated credit losses partially offset by slowing in actual and expected prepayment speeds

on certain securitization portfolios As prescribed by ASC Topic 320-10-65-1 the Company recognized the

credit component of the other-than-temporary impairment in earnings and the non-credit component in other

comprehensive income as the Company does not intend to sell the investment and it is more likely than not that

the Company will not be required to sell it prior to recovery of its cost basis The components of the impairment

are as follows in thousands

Nine months ended

December 31
2009

Total other-than-temporary impairment losses $22240

Portion of loss reclassified from other comprehensive income 6000

Net impairment losses recognized in earnings $28240

The following activity only applies to other-than-temporary impairments on investment in retained

securitization interests for which component of the impairment is recognized in earnings and component is

recognized in other comprehensive income The total credit component of other-than-temporary impairments

recognized in earnings for all investment in retained securitization interests still held as of December 31 2009 is

as follows in thousands

Nine months ended

December 31
2009

Balance beginning of period $29686

Credit component recognized in earnings during the period 28240

Reductions due to sale/repurchase 954

$56972

The Company exercised its 10% clean up call repurchase option for certain securitization trusts

Prior to March 30 2009 if an impairment existed and management deemed it to be other-than-temporary

the entire impairment was recorded in the consolidated statements of operations During the three months ended

March 29 2009 the Company recorded an other-than-temporary impairment charge of $17.1 million related to

its investment in retained securitization interests which included both the credit and non-credit components
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During 2008 the Company recorded an other-than-temporary impairment charge of $41.4 million related to

its investment in retained securitization interests The decline in fair value below amortized cost was due to

higher actual and anticipated credit losses on certain securitization portfolios and an increased discount rate in

the fourth quarter of 2008 from 12% to 18% This charge was recorded as reduction of financial services

revenue

The following table summarizes the amortized cost fair value and gross
unrealized gains and losses of the

investment in retained securitization interests in thousands

December 31 2009

Investment in Retained

Total Investment Securitization Interests Investment in Retained

in Retained Currently in Loss Position Securitization Interests

Securitization Interests for less than 12 Months Currently in Gain Position

Amortized cost $250793 $161857 $88936

Gross unrealized gains 1645 1645

Gross unrealized losses 7088 7088

Fair value $245350 $154769 $90581

The unrealized loss position is primarily due to difference between the discount rate used to calculate fair

value at December 31 2009 and the initial rate used to value the retained securitization interests at their

inception The discount rate used at December 31 2009 to calculate fair value was 15% discount rate of 12%

was used to calculate the portion of unrealized gain/loss on the securitization and the initial value of the

investment in retained securitization interests None of the investments in retained securitization interests have

been in continuous loss position for more than twelve months

The investment in retained securitization interests has no stated contractual maturity date Historically the

investment in retained securitization interests has life of approximately four years

At the date of the transaction the following weighted-average key assumptions were used to calculate the

loss on the securitization completed in 2008

2008

Prepayment speed Single Monthly Mortality 2.00%

Weighted-average life in years 1.95

Expected cumulative net credit losses 4.25%

Residual cash flows discount rate 12.00%

As of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively the following weighted-average key assumptions were

used to value the investment in retained securitization interests

2009 2008

Prepayment speed Single Monthly Mortality
1.71% 1.88%

Weighted-average life in years 2.07 2.09

Expected cumulative net credit losses 5.70% 4.63%

Residual cash flows discount rate 14.79% 17.89%

Expected cumulative net credit losses are key assumption in the valuation of the investment in retained

securitization interests As of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively weighted-average expected net

credit losses for all active securitizations were 5.70% 4.63% and 3.89% The table below summarizes as of

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively expected weighted-average cumulative net credit losses by

year of securitization expressed as percentage of the original balance of loans securitized for all securitizations

completed during the years noted
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Expected weighted-average cumulative net credit losses as of 2008 2007 2006 2005

December 31 2009 5.75% 6.12% 5.32% 4.87%

December 31 2008 4.50% 4.66% 4.78% 4.66%

December 31 2007 3.88% 4.00% 4.13%

Detailed below at December 31 2009 and 2008 is the sensitivity of the fair value to immediate 10% and

20% adverse changes in the weighted-average key assumptions for the investment in retained securitization

interests dollars in thousands

2009 2008

Carrying amount/fair value of retained interests $245350 $330674

Weighted-average life in years 2.07 209

Prepayment speed assumption monthly rate L71 1.88%

Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change 2400 5700

Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change 4600 11300

Expected cumulative net credit losses 5.70% 4.63%

Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change 36400 36400

Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change 72200 72700

Residual cash flows discount rate annual 14.79% 17.89%

Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change 4500 8600

Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change 9000 16800

These sensitivities are hypothetical and should not be considered to be predictive of future performance

Changes in fair value generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of change in assumption to

change in fair value may not be linear Also in this table the effect of variation in particular assumption on

the fair value of the retained interest is calculated independently from any change in another assumption In

reality changes in one factor may contribute to changes in another which may magnify or counteract the

sensitivities Furthermore the estimated fair values as disclosed should not be considered indicative of future

earnings on these assets

The table below provides information regarding certain cash flows received from and paid to all motorcycle

loan securitization trusts during the years
ended December 31 2009 and 2008 in thousands

2009 2008

Proceeds from new securitizations 467722

Servicing fees received 26693 43049

Other cash flows received on retained interests 69418 132594

10% clean-up call repurchase option $161390 $150240

Managed retail motorcycle loans consist of all retail motorcycle installment loans serviced by HDFS

including those held by securitization trusts and those held by HDFS As of December 31 2009 and 2008

managed retail motorcycle loans totaled $5.59 billion and $6.03 billion respectively of which $1.89 billion and

$3.25 billion respectively were securitized The principal amount of managed retail motorcycle loans 30 days or

more past due was $324.1 million and $339.1 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The

principal amount of securitized retail motorcycle loans 30 days or more past due was $183.7 million and $225.0

million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively Managed loans 30 days or more past due exclude loans

reclassified as repossessed inventory Credit losses net of recoveries of the managed retail motorcycle loans

were $167.4 million $138.7 million and $106.5 million during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively Securitized

retail motorcycle loan credit losses net of recoveries were $94.6 million $107.9 million and $93.9 million

during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively
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Secured Borrowings

Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Conduit Facility

In December 2008 HDFS transferred $666.7 million of U.S retail motorcycle finance receivables to

special purpose entity SPE which in turn issued $500.0 million of debt to third-party bank-sponsored asset-

backed commercial paper
conduits The SPE funded the purchase of the finance receivables from HDFS

primarily with cash obtained through the issuance of the debt In April 2009 HDFS replaced its December 2008

asset-backed commercial paper conduit facility agreement with new agreement 2009 Conduit Loan

Agreement

As part of the April 2009 transaction HDFS transferred an additional $354.4 million of U.S retail

motorcycle loans to the SPE and increased the debt issued to the third-party bank sponsored conduits from

$500.0 million to $640.2 million HDFS is the primary beneficiary of the SPE and the finance receivables

transfer does not satisfy the requirements for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860 Therefore the

assets and associated debt are included in the Companys financial statements The SPE is separate legal entity

and as such the assets of the SPE are restricted as collateral for the payment of the debt or other obligations

arising in the transaction and are not available to pay other obligations or claims of the Companys creditors

The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement provides for total aggregate commitment of up to $1.20 billion based

on among other things the amount of eligible U.S retail motorcycle loans held by the SPE as collateral The

interest rates for this debt provide for interest on the outstanding principal based on prevailing commercial paper

rates or LIBOR plus specified margin to the extent the advance is not funded by conduit lender through the

issuance of commercial paper The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement also provides for an unused commitment fee

based on the unused portion of the total aggregate commitment of $1.20 billion There is no amortization

schedule however the debt is reduced monthly as available collections on the related finance receivables are

applied to outstanding principal with the balance due at maturity Unless earlier terminated or extended by

mutual agreement of HDFS and the lenders the 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement will expire on April 29 2010 at

which time HDFS will be obligated to repay any amounts outstanding in full

At December 31 2009 HDFS had no borrowings outstanding under the asset-backed commercial paper

conduit facility The SPE held $55.2 million of finance receivables and $3.6 million of cash collections restricted

as collateral for the payment of fees associated with the unused portion of the total aggregate commitment of

$1.20 billion The assets of the SPE totaled $73.0 million at December 31 2009 and are included primarily in

finance receivables and other current assets in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheet

At December 31 2008 the assets of the SPE totaled $686.3 million The SPE held finance receivables of

$649.8 million and cash collections of $24.1 million restricted as collateral for the payment of $500.0 million of

short-term asset-backed commercial paper conduit facility debt which is included in the Companys
Consolidated Balance Sheet

For the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 the SPE recorded interest
expense on the debt of $41.1

million and $3.7 million respectively which is included in HDFS interest expense component of Financial

Services expense The weighted average interest rate of the outstanding asset-backed commercial paper conduit

facility which includes the impact of the interest rate swap agreements was 8.33% and 6.97% at December 31
2009 and 2008 respectively
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On-Balance Sheet Finance Receivable Securitizations

In 2009 HDFS transferred $3.08 billion of U.S retail motorcycle loans to four separate SPEs The SPEs in

turn issued the following secured notes with the related maturity dates and interest rates in thousands

Weighted-Average

Principal Rate at Date of

Issue Date Amount Issuance Maturity Date

May 2009 $500000 2.77% May 2010 January 2017

July 2009 $700000 2.11% July 2010- February 2017

October 2009 $700000 1.16% October 2010 April 2017

December 2009 $562499 1.55% December 2010- June 2017

These term asset-backed securitization transactions were eligible collateral under the Federal Reserve

Bank of New Yorks Term Asset-backed securities Loan Facility TALF program The notes are secured by

future collections of the purchased U.S retail motorcycle loans The structure of these term asset-backed

securitization transactions did not satisfy the requirements for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860

therefore the securitized U.S retail motorcycle loans resulting secured borrowings and other related assets and

liabilities of the SPEs are included in the Companys consolidated financial statements as HDFS is the primary

beneficiary of the SPEs

The SPEs are separate legal entities and the U.S retail motorcycle loans that have been included in the term

asset-backed securitizations are only available for payment of the secured debt and other obligations arising from

the term asset-backed securitization transactions and are not available to pay other obligations or claims of the

Companys creditors until the associated secured debt and other obligations are satisfied Cash and cash

equivalent balances held by the SPEs are used only to support the on-balance sheet securitizations There is no

amortization schedule for the secured notes however the debt is reduced monthly as available collections on the

related U.S retail motorcycle loans are applied to outstanding principal The expected life for each issuance

ranges from one to four years due to estimated credit losses and prepayment speeds

The assets of the SPEs totaled $2.93 billion at December 31 2009 and are included primarily in finance

receivables held for investment and restricted cash component of other current assets in the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheet At December 31 2009 the SPEs held finance receivables of $2.75 billion restricted

as collateral for the payment of $2.16 billion secured notes of which $921.1 million is classified as current

portion of long term debt and $1.24 billion is classified as long-term debt in the Companys Consolidated

Balance Sheet The SPEs also held $164.1 million of cash restricted for payment on the outstanding debt at

December 31 2009 During 2009 the SPEs recorded interest expense on the secured notes of $17.3 million

which is included in HDFS interest expense component of Financial Services expense

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents marketable securities

trade receivables finance receivables held for investment net finance receivables held for sale trade payables

debt foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps derivative instruments are discussed further in Note 11
Under U.S GAAP certain of these items are required to be recorded in the financial statements at fair value

while others are required to be recorded at historical cost
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The following table summarizes the fair value and carrying value of the Companys financial instruments at

December 31 2009 in thousands

2009 2008

Fair Value Carrying Value Fair Value Carrying Value

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $1630433 $1630433 568894 568894

Marketable securities 39685 39685

Accounts receivable net 269371 269371 265319 265319

Restricted cash 167667 167667

Derivatives 13678 13678 31508 31508

Finance receivables held for sale $2443965 $2443965

Finance receivables held for investment $4802322 $4811812 $1864889 $1864889

Investment in retained securitization interests 245350 245350 330674 330674

Liabilities

Accounts payable 162515 162515 303272 303272

Derivatives 16293 16293 23503 23503

Unsecured commercial paper 325099 325099 $1416449 $1416449
Asset-backed commercial paper conduit

facility 500000 500000

Credit facilities 448049 448049 390932 390932

Medium-term notes $2152612 $2103396 $1034907 $1607506

Senior unsecured notes 816998 600000

On-balance sheet securitization debt $2166056 $2159585

Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted Cash Accounts Receivable Net and Accounts Payable With the

exception of certain money-market investments these items are recorded in the financial statements at historical

cost The historical cost basis for these amounts is estimated to approximate their respective fair values due to the

short maturity of these instruments

Marketable Securities Marketable securities are recorded in the financial statements at fair value The fair

value of marketable securities is based primarily on quoted market prices Changes in fair value are recorded net

of tax as other comprehensive income and included as component of shareholders equity

Finance Receivables Held for Investment Net Retail and wholesale finance receivables included in

finance receivables held for investment are recorded in the financial statements at historical cost less an

allowance for credit losses The fair value of retail finance receivables is generally calculated by discounting

future cash flows using an estimated discount rate that reflects current credit interest rate and prepayment risks

associated with similar types of instruments The historical cost basis of wholesale finance receivables

approximates fair value because they either are short-term or have interest rates that adjust with changes in

market interest rates

The investment in retained securitization interests which is component of finance receivables held for

investment in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is recorded in the financial statements at fair value and is

estimated based on the present value of future expected cash flows using managements best estimates of the key

assumptions

Finance Receivables Held for Sale Finance receivables held for sale in the aggregate were recorded at the

lower of cost or estimated fair value HDFS used discounted cash flow methodologies to estimate the fair value

of finance receivables held for sale that incorporate appropriate assumptions for discount rate funding costs and

credit enhancement as well as estimates concerning credit losses and prepayments that in managements

judgment reflected assumptions marketplace participants would have used
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Debt Debt is generally recorded in the financial statements at historical cost The carrying value of debt

provided under credit facilities approximates fair value since the interest rates charged under the facilities are tied

directly to market rates and fluctuate as market rates change The carrying value of commercial paper

approximates fair value due to its short maturity The carrying value of debt provided under the asset-backed

commercial paper
conduit facility approximates the fair value since the interest rates charged on the outstanding

portion are tied directly to market rates and fluctuate as market rates change

The fair values of the medium-term notes maturing in December 2012 December 2014 and June 2018 are

estimated based upon rates currently available for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities The

medium-term notes maturing in December 2010 are carried at fair value and include fair value adjustment due

to the interest rate swap agreement designated as fair value hedge which effectively converts portion of the

note from fixed to floating rate

The fair value of the senior unsecured notes is estimated based upon rates currently available for debt with

similar terms and remaining maturities

The fair value of the debt related to on-balance sheet securitization transactions is estimated based on

pricing currently available for transactions with similar terms and maturities

10 Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value in the financial statements some of these are

measured on recurring basis while others are measured on non-recurring basis Assets and liabilities measured

on recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value each time financial statement is prepared Assets

and liabilities measured on non-recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value when significant event

occurs In determining fair value of assets and liabilities the Company uses various valuation techniques The

availability of inputs observable in the market varies from instrument to instrument and depends on variety of

factors including the type of instrument whether the instrument is actively traded and other characteristics

particular to the transaction For many financial instruments pricing inputs are readily observable in the market

the valuation methodology used is widely accepted by market participants and the valuation does not require

significant management discretion For other financial instruments pricing inputs are less observable in the

market and may require management judgment

The Company assesses the inputs used to measure fair value using three-tier hierarchy The hierarchy

indicates the extent to which inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market Level inputs

include quoted prices for identical instruments and are the most observable Level inputs include quoted prices

for similar assets and observable inputs such as interest rates foreign currency exchange rates commodity rates

and yield curves Level inputs are not observable in the market and include managements judgments about the

assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability The use of observable and

unobservable inputs is reflected in the hierarchy assessment disclosed in the table below
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents information about the Companys assets and liabilities measured at fair value

on recurring basis as of December 31 2009 and 2008 in thousands

Significant

Quoted Prices in Other Significant

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable

Balance as of Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

December 312009 Level Level Level

Assets

Cash equivalents $1298254 $1298254
Derivatives 13678 13678

Investment in retained securitization interests 245350 245350

$1557282 $1298254 $13678 $245350

Liabilities

Derivatives 16293 $16293

Significant

Quoted Prices in Other Significant

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable

Balance as of Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

December 31 2008 Level Level Level

Assets

Cash equivalents $380082 $380082

Derivatives 31508 31508

Investment in retained securitization interests .. 330674 330674

$742264 $380082 $31508 $330674

Liabilities

Derivatives 23503 $23503

The investment in retained securitization interests is valued using discounted cash flow methodologies

incorporating assumptions that in managements judgment reflect assumptions marketplace participants would

use at December 31 2009 and 2008 The following table presents additional information about the investment in

retained securitization interests which is measured at fair value on recurring basis using significant

unobservable inputs Level in thousands

2009 2008

Balance beginning of period $330674 $407742

Realized losses/gains included in financial services revenuea 13683 18808

Unrealized gains losses included in other comprehensive incomeO 21219 29090
Sales repurchases and settlements net 92860 66786

Balance end of period $245350 $330674

As discussed in Note realized losses/gains included in financial services revenue includes an other-than-temporary impairment

charge of $45.4 and $41.4 million for the year ended December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

For the year ended December 31 2009 $6.0 million of net unrealized losses were reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive

income into financial services revenue

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

At December 31 2009 the assets and liabilities of MV which are held for sale and presented as discontinued

operations were carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated selling costs using significant

unobservable inputs Level During 2009 the Company recorded an impairment charge of $115.4 million which

represented the excess of net book value of the held-for sale assets over the expected fair value less selling costs
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The impairment charge is included in loss from discontinued operations and consisted of an $85.5 million goodwill

impairment $19.8 million fixed asset impairment and $10.1 million intangible asset impairment Please refer to

Note for information concerning the assets and liability balances of discontinued operations at December 31

2009 In determining the fair value of MV the Company utilized discounted cash flow methodologies which require

the Company to make assumptions and apply judgment to estimate macro economic factors such as interest rates

motorcycle industry economic factors and the future profitability of MVs business strategies In addition the

Company considered information gained through its efforts to sell MV

At December 31 2008 finance receivables held for sale in the aggregate were carried at the lower of cost or

estimated fair value and were measured at fair value on non-recurring basis using significant unobservable

inputs Level During 2008 the Company recorded non-cash charges of $37.8 million due to decline in the

fair value below cost on finance receivables held for sale The fair value of the finance receivables held for sale

at December 31 2008 was $2.44 billion which was net of $31.7 million valuation adjustment There were no

finance receivables held for sale at December 31 2009 HDFS used discounted cash flow methodologies to

estimate the fair value of finance receivables held for sale that incorporated appropriate assumptions for discount

rate funding costs and credit enhancement as well as estimates concerning credit losses and prepayments

11 Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing business operations The primary
risks are foreign

currency exchange rate risk interest rate risk and commodity price risk To reduce such risks the Company selectively

uses derivative financial instruments All hedging transactions are authorized and executed pursuant to regularly

reviewed policies and procedures which prohibit the use of financial instruments for speculative trading purposes

All derivative instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value see Note In accordance with

ASC Topic 815 the accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative instrument depends on whether it has

been designated and qualifies as part of hedging relationship and further on the type of hedging relationship

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as fair value hedges along with the gain or loss on the

hedged item are recorded in current period earnings For derivative instruments that are designated as cash flow

hedges the effective portion of gains and losses that result from changes in the fair value of derivative

instruments is initially recorded in other comprehensive income OCI and subsequently reclassified into

earnings when the hedged item affects income The Company assesses at both the inception of each hedge and

on an on-going basis whether the derivatives that are used in its hedging transactions are highly effective in

offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items Any ineffective portion is immediately recognized in

earnings No component of hedging derivative instruments gain or loss is excluded from the assessment of

hedge effectiveness Derivative instruments which do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value

and any changes in fair value are recorded in current period earnings

The Company sells its products internationally and in most markets those sales are made in the foreign

countrys local currency As result the Companys earnings can be affected by fluctuations in the value of the

U.S dollar relative to foreign currency The Companys most significant foreign currency risk relates to the Euro

and the Australian dollar The Company utilizes foreign currency contracts to mitigate the effect of the Euro and

the Australian dollar fluctuations on earnings The foreign currency contracts are entered into with banks and

allow the Company to exchange specified amount of foreign currency for U.S dollars at future date based on

fixed exchange rate

The Company utilizes natural gas contracts to hedge portions of the cost of natural gas
consumed in the

Companys motorcycle production operations

The Companys earnings are affected by changes in interest rates HDFS utilizes interest rate swaps to

reduce the impact of fluctuations in interest rates on its unsecured commercial paper by converting portion

from floating rate basis to fixed rate basis Similarly HDFS utilizes interest rate swaps with its medium-term

notes however the impact is to convert from fixed rate basis to floating rate basis HDFS also entered into
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derivative contracts to facilitate its first quarter 2008 term asset-backed securitization transaction as well as its

third quarter 2007 term asset-backed securitization transaction These derivatives which hedge assets held by an

off-balance sheet QSPE do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment Additionally to facilitate asset-backed

commercial paper conduit facility agreements that the Company entered into in December 2008 and April 2009
HDFS entered into derivative contracts certain of which do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment

The following table summarizes the fair value of the Companys derivative financial instruments in

thousands

Derivatives Designated As Hedging Instruments Under ASC Topic 815

Foreign currency contracts3

Natural gas contracts3

Interest rate swaps unsecured commercial paper3

Interest rate swaps medium-term notes4

Total

Included in other current assets

Included in accrued liabilities

Derivative designated as cash flow hedge

Derivative designated as fair value hedge

December 31 2009

Notional Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

Value Fair Value Fair Value2

$144805 6599

3312 51

177800 9694

150000 6072

$475917 $6123 $16293

The following table summarizes the amount of gains and losses for the year ended December 31 2009

related to derivative financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges in thousands

Cash Flow Hedges

Foreign currency contracts

Natural gas contracts

Interest rate swaps unsecured commercial paper

Interest rate swaps conduit facility

Total

Cash Flow Hedges 2009

Foreign currency contracts1 $13520
Natural gas contracts 2713
Interest rate swaps unsecured commercial paper2 8817
Interest rate swaps conduit facility2 6452

________

Total $4462
______

Gain/loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income AOCI to income is included in cost of goods sold

Gain/loss reclassified from AOCI to income is included in EIDFS interest expense component of Financial Services expense

Derivatives Not Designated As Hedging Instruments Under ASC Topic 815

Derivatives securitization transactions

Derivatives conduit facility

Notional

Value

$254904

575164

$830068

December 31 2009

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives

Fair Value Fair Value2

352

7203

$7555

Amount of Loss

Recognized in OCI

2009

$4402

1329
1299
1447

$8477

Amount of GainlLoss
Reclassified from AOCI into Income

Expected to be Reclassified

Over the Next Twelve Months

4686
51

6186

1082
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For the year ended December 31 2009 the cash flow hedges were highly effective and as result the

amount of hedge ineffectiveness was not material No amounts were excluded from effectiveness testing

The following table summarizes the amount of gains and losses for the year ended December 31 2009

related to derivative financial instruments designated as fair value hedges in thousands

Amount of Loss

Recognized in Income on Derivative

Fair Value Hedges 2009

Interest rate swaps medium-term notes $3626

Amount of Gain

Recognized in Income on Hedged Debt

Fair Value Hedges 2009

Interest rate swaps medium-term notes1 3626

Gain/loss recognized in income is included in HDFS interest expense component of Financial Services expense

The following table summarizes the amount of gains and losses for the
year

ended December 31 2009

related to derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments in thousands

Amount of Gain/Loss

Recognized in Income on Derivative

Derivatives not Designated as Hedges 2009

Derivatives securitization transactions1 1177

Derivatives conduit facility1 2101

924

Gainlloss recognized in income is included in HDFS operating expense component of Financial Services expense
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12 Comprehensive Income

The following tables set forth the reconciliation of net loss income to comprehensive income for the
years

ended December 31 in thousands

Net loss income

Other comprehensive income net of tax

Foreign currency
translation adjustment

Investment in retained securitization

interest

Unrealized net gains losses arising

during the period

Less net losses reclassified into net

income

Derivative financial instruments

Unrealized net losses arising during

period 4242
Less net losses reclassified into net

income 3003 1239 17616
______

Marketable securities

Unrealized gains on marketable

securities

Less net losses reclassified into net

income

Pension and postretirement benefit plans

Amortization of actuarial loss 11761

Amortization of net prior service

cost 2679

Pension and postretirement plan funded

status adjustment 29111

Less actuarial loss reclassified into net

income due to settlement 884
Less actuarial loss reclassified into net

income due to curtailment 8393
Less prior service cost reclassified into

net income due to curtailment

Comprehensive income

Debt with contractual terms less than one year is generally classified as short-term debt and consisted of the

following as of December 31 in thousands

2009 2008

Unsecured commercial paper $189999 $1238649

Asset-backed conduit facility 500000

$189999 $1738649

2009

$55l 16

30932

9760

3840 13600

2008 2007

654718 933843

44012 30753

18838 11945

_______
18838 11945

6060 27175

11556 14205 12970

76

1252

_______
76

______

7376 11521

3116 3447

347165 47346

336673

266827

1252

62314

$1003247

13 Debt

22920 75748

63925
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Debt with contractual term greater than one year is generally classified as long-term debt and consisted of

the following as of December 31 in thousands

2009 2008

Unsecured commercial paper 135100 177800

Bank borrowings

Credit facilities 448049 390932

Secured debt

On-balance sheet securitization debt 2159585

Unsecured notes

5.00% Medium-term notes due in 2010 $200.0 million par value 206065 209684

5.25% Medium-term notes due in 2012 $400.0 million par value 399734 399643

5.75% Medium-term notes due in 2014 $500.0 million par value 499222

6.80% Medium-term notes due in 2018 $1000.0 million par value 998375 998179

15.00% senior unsecured notes due in 2014 $600.0 million par value 600000

Gross long-term debt 5446130 2176238

Less current portion of long-term debt 1332091

Long-term debt 4114039 $2176238

Current portion of long-term debt consists of $206.1 million of medium-term notes due in December 2010

$205.0 million of credit facilities debt related to the MV acquisition and subsequent working capital advances

and $921.0 of on-balance sheet securitization debt

The Company has classified $378.2 million and $568.7 million related to its unsecured commercial paper

and its Global Credit Facilities as long-term debt as of December 31 2009 and 2008 This amount has been

excluded from current liabilities because it is supported by the Global Credit Facilities and is expected to remain

outstanding for an uninterrupted period extending beyond one year from the balance sheet date

Commercial paper maturities may range up to 365 days from the issuance date The weighted-average

interest rate of outstanding commercial paper balances was 2.87% and 3.14% at December 31 2009 and 2008

respectively The December 31 2009 and 2008 weighted-average interest rates include the impact of interest rate

swap agreements

In April 2009 the Company and HDFS entered into new $625.0 million 364-day credit facility New
364-Day Credit Facility to refinance and replace the existing $950.0 million 364-day credit facility 2008

364-Day Credit Facility which was set to mature in July 2009 The New 364-Day Credit Facility matures in

April 2010 In connection with the New 364-Day Credit Facility the Company and HDFS also amended the

existing three-year credit facility agreement which matures in July 2011 The amendments to the three-year

credit facility were to conform to the terms of the New 364-Day Credit Facility The New 364-Day Credit

Facility and the amended three-year credit facility agreement together the Global Credit Facilities bear interest

at various variable interest rates which may be adjusted upward or downward depending on certain criteria such

as credit ratings The Global Credit Facilities also require the Company to pay fee based upon the
average daily

unused portion of the aggregate commitments under the Global Credit Facilities HDFS may issue unsecured

commercial
paper in the aggregate equal to the unused portion of the Global Credit Facilities

During April 2009 HDFS entered into new revolving asset-backed conduit facility agreement 2009

Conduit Loan Agreement to refinance and replace the existing $500.0 million asset-backed conduit facility

agreement 2008 Conduit Loan Agreement The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement provides for the extension of

credit by group of third-party bank sponsored conduits some of which were party to the 2008 Conduit Loan

Agreement The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement provides for total revolving borrowings of up to $1.20 billion

based on among other things the amount of eligible U.S retail motorcycle loan collateral As part of the April
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2009 transaction HDFS increased the U.S retail motorcycle loan collateral by $354.4 million and also increased

the debt issued to the third-party bank sponsored conduits from $500.0 million to $640.2 million At

December 31 2009 HDFS had no outstanding borrowings under the 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement

This debt provides for interest on outstanding principal based on prevailing commercial paper rates or

LIBOR plus specified margin to the extent the advance is not funded by conduit lender through the issuance

of commercial paper The 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement also provides for an unused commitment fee based on

the unused portion of the total aggregate commitment or $1.20 billion There is no amortization schedule

however the debt is reduced monthly as available collections on the related finance receivable collateral are

applied to outstanding principal with the balance due at maturity Unless earlier terminated or extended by

mutual agreement of HDFS and the lenders the 2009 Conduit Loan Agreement will expire on April 29 2010 at

which time HDFS will be obligated to repay any amounts outstanding in full

In 2009 HDFS transferred $3.08 billion of U.S retail motorcycle loans to four separate SPEs The SPEs in

turn issued $2.46 billion of secured notes respectively with various maturities and interest rates to investors in

on-balance sheet securitization transactions These term asset-backed securitization transactions were eligible

collateral under the TALF program The notes are secured by future collections of the purchased U.S retail

motorcycle loans The structure of these term asset-backed securitization transactions did not satisfy the

requirements for accounting sale treatment under ASC Topic 860-40 therefore the securitized U.S retail

motorcycle loans resulting secured borrowings and other related assets and liabilities of the SPEs are included in

the Companys consolidated financial statements as HDFS is the primary beneficiary of the SPEs On-balance

sheet securitization transactions are further discussed in Note

HDFS Medium Term Notes collectively the Notes provide for semi-annual interest payments and

principal due at maturity At December 31 2009 and 2008 the Notes included fair value adjustment increasing

the balance by $6.1 million and $9.7 million respectively due to interest rate swap agreements designated as fair

value hedges The effect of the interest rate swap agreements is to convert the interest rate on portion of the

Notes from fixed to floating rate which is based on 3-month LIBOR Unamortized discounts on the Notes

reduced the balance by $2.7 million and $2.2 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

HDFS has revolving credit line with the Company whereby HDFS may borrow up to $210.0 million at

market rates of interest As of December 31 2009 and 2008 HDFS had no borrowings owed to the Company

under the revolving credit agreement

The Company has support agreement with HDFS whereby if required the Company agrees to provide

HDFS with financial support in order to maintain HDFS fixed-charge coverage at 1.25 and minimum net worth

of $40.0 million Support may be provided at the Companys option as capital contributions or loans

Accordingly certain debt covenants may restrict the Companys ability to withdraw funds from HDFS outside

the normal course of business No amount has ever been provided to HDFS under the support agreement

HDFS and the Company are subject to various operating and financial covenants related to the Global

Credit Facilities asset-backed commercial paper conduit facility and various operating covenants under the

Notes The more significant covenants are described below

The covenants limit the Companys and HDFS ability to

incur certain additional indebtedness

assume or incur certain liens

participate in merger consolidation liquidation or dissolution and

purchase or hold margin stock
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Under the financial covenants of the Global Credit Facilities and the asset-backed commercial paper conduit

facility the debt to equity ratio of HDFS and its consolidated subsidiaries cannot exceed 10.0 to 1.0 and HDFS

must maintain consolidated tangible net worth of not less than $500.0 million In addition the Company must

maintain minimum interest coverage ratio of 2.5 to 1.0 and maximum ratio of consolidated debt excluding

HDFS and certain intercompany debt to consolidated EBITDA of 2.75 to No financial covenants are required

under the Notes

At December 31 2009 and 2008 HDFS and the Company remained in compliance with all of these

covenants

14 Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31 consists of the following in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Current

Federal 94984 $376796 $510299

State 5201 21174 27076

Foreign 1395 29044 35229

101580 427014 572604

Deferred

Federal 10665 36368 51903
State 22690 2225 5089

Foreign 5586 6735 1636

6439 45328 58628

Total $108019 $381686 $513976

The components of income before income taxes for the years ended December 31 were as follows in

thousands

2009 2008 2007

Domestic $185435 992796 $1340617

Foreign 6775 73125 107202

$178660 $1065921 $1447819

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount that would be provided by applying the statutory

U.S corporate income tax rate due to the following items for the years
ended December 31

2009 2008 2007

Provision at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State taxes net of federal benefit 2.7 1.5 1.5

Domestic manufacturing deduction 1.0 1.3

Research and development credit 1.7 0.5 0.4

Unrecognized tax benefits including interest and penalties 2.3 1.1 0.6

Valuation allowance adjustments 12.4

Goodwill impairment 5.6

Other ft3 01

Provision for income taxes 60.5% 35.8% 35.5%
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The principal components of the Companys deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 include

the following in thousands

2009 2008

Deferred tax assets

Accruals not yet tax deductible $125393 76532
Pension and postretirement benefit plan obligations 202332 291328

Stock compensation 24103 24141

Net operating loss carryforward 22170 22490
Valuation allowance 22170
Other net 81464 83995

433292 498486

Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation tax in excess of book 70018 66034
Other net 6085 20885

76103 86919

Total $357189 $411567

The Company reviews its deferred tax asset valuation allowances on quarterly basis or whenever events

or changes in circumstances indicate that review is required In determining the requirement for valuation

allowance the historical and projected financial results of the legal entity or consolidated
group recording the net

deferred tax asset is considered along with any positive or negative evidence such as tax law changes Since

future financial results and tax law may differ from previous estimates periodic adjustments to the Companys
valuation allowances may be necessary

At December 31 2009 the Company had approximately $431.7 million state net operating loss carry-

forwards expiring between 2013-2024 The Company had deferred tax asset of $22.2 million as of

December 31 2009 for the benefit of these losses valuation allowance of $22.2 million has been established

against the deferred tax asset due to change in Wisconsin state law in the early part of 2009

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for

income taxes Changes in the Companys gross liability for unrecognized tax benefits excluding interest and

penalties were as follows in thousands

2009 2008

Unrecognized tax benefits beginning of period $79027 $72519

Increase in unrecognized tax benefits for tax positions taken in prior period 2050 3556
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits for tax positions taken in prior period 2715 377
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits for tax positions taken in the current period 2079 5448
Settlements with taxing authorities 2595 2119

Unrecognized tax benefits end of period $77846 $79027

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31 2009 that if recognized would affect the

effective tax rate was $57.3 million

The total gross amount of interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits recognized during

2009 in the Companys Consolidated Statements of Operations was $5.3 million

The total gross amount of interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits recognized at

December 31 2009 in the Companys Consolidated Balance Sheets was $27.4 million
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The Company does not expect significant increase or decrease to the total amounts of unrecognized tax

benefits during the fiscal year ended December 31 2010 However the Company is under regular audit by tax

authorities The Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns and

that its annual tax provision includes amounts sufficient to pay any assessments Nonetheless the amounts

ultimately paid if any upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from

the amounts accrued for each year

The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the United States federal and Wisconsin

state jurisdictions and various other state and foreign jurisdictions The Company is no longer subject to income

tax examinations for Wisconsin state income taxes before 1998 or for United States federal income taxes before

2002

15 Employee Benefit Plans and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company has several defined benefit pension plans and several postretirement healthcare benefit plans

which cover substantially all employees of the Motorcycles segment The Company also has unfunded

supplemental employee retirement plan agreements SERPA with certain employees which were instituted to

replace benefits lost under the Tax Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1993

Pension benefits are based primarily on years of service and for certain plans levels of compensation

Employees are eligible to receive postretirement healthcare benefits upon attaining age 55 after rendering at least

10 years of service to the Company Some of the plans require employee contributions to partially offset benefit

costs
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Obligations and Funded Status

The information following provides detail of changes in the benefit obligations changes in the fair value of

plan assets and funded status as of the Companys December 31 2009 and 2008 measurement dates in

thousands

Postretirement

Pension and SERPA Healthcare Benefits

2009 2008 2009 2008

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation beginning of period $1178283 $1033635 372631 332139

Effects of change in measurement date 21974 5765
Service cost 47308 51363 11390 13078

Interest cost 74578 68592 22449 21640
Plan amendments 620 1685 9559
Actuarial losses gains 12774 36861 7279 13934

Plan participant contributions 5593 6920 991 952

Benefits paid net of Medicare Part subsidy 52224 42747 18341 19758

Special retiree benefits 4881

Curtailments 17790
_________

5001
________

Benefit obligation end of period 1284722 1178283 377283 372631

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets beginning of period 690558 1067865 96606 136080

Effects of change in measurement date 15210 2808

Actual return on plan assets 159153 357793 21166 41045
Company contributions 223044 1103 10180 18414

Plan participant contributions 5593 6920 991 952

Benefits paid 52224 42747 19800 20603

Fair value of plan assets end of period 1026124 690558 109143 96606

Funded status of the plans December31 258598 487725 $268140 $276025

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31

Accrued benefit liability other current liabilities 13266 3722 3668 1617
Accrued benefit liability other long-term liabilities 245332 484003 264472 274408

Net amount recognized 258598 487725 $268140 $276025
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Benefit Costs

Components of net periodic benefit costs for the years
ended December 31 in thousands

Pension and Postretirement

SERPA Healthcare Benefits

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Service cost $47308 $51363 $51647 11390 $13078 $12880

Interest cost 74578 68592 59762 22449 21640 19579

Expected return on plan assets 86225 88061 80835 11175 11232 9984
Amortization of unrecognized

Prior service cost credit 5553 6158 6691 1299 1123 1123
Netloss 12755 6414 11675 5924 5501 6938

Net curtailment loss 29390 7014

Settlement loss 1411

Special retiree benefits 4881

Net periodic benefit cost 84770 44466 48940 34303 32745 $28290

In connection with the 2009 Restructuring Plan discussed in Note the Company recorded curtailment

charge of $36.4 million on its pension and post-retirement healthcare plans during 2009 In addition the

Company recorded $1.4 million settlement charge on its SERPA plans during 2009

As discussed in Note the Company recorded restructuring reserve of $4.8 million in 2008 related to

postretirement healthcare benefits which is included as special retiree benefits in the table above

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income net of tax at December 31 2009 which

have not yet been recognized in net periodic benefit cost are as follows in thousands

Pension and Postretirement

SERPA Healthcare Benefits Total

Prior service cost credit 9628 $10796 1168
Net actuarial loss 359371 93373 452744

$368999 82577 $451576

Amounts expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost net of tax during the year the ended

December 31 2010 are as follows in thousands

Pension and Postretirement

SERPA Healthcare Benefits Total

Prior service cost credit 2852 $2228 624

Net actuarial loss 14811 5669 20480

$17663 3441 $21104
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Assumptions

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost as of

December 31 2009 December 31 2008 and September 30 2007 are as follows

Pension and Postretirement

SERPA Healthcare Benefits

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

Assumptions for benefit obligations

Discount rate 6.00% 6.10% 6.30% 5.65% 6.10% 6.30%

Rate of compensation 3.66% 3.66% 4.00% n/a n/a nla

Assumptions for net periodic benefit cost

Discount rate 6.10% 6.30% 5.90% 6.10% 6.30% 5.90%

Expected return on plan assets 8.25% 8.50% 8.50% 8.25% 8.50% 8.50%

Rate of compensation increase 3.64% 4.00% 3.3 1% n/a n/a n/a

Pension and SERPA Accumulated Benefit Obligation

Each of the Companys pension and SERPA plans has separately determined accumulated benefit

obligation ABO and plan asset value The ABO is the actuarial
present value of benefits based on service

rendered and current and past compensation levels This differs from the projected benefit obligation PBO in

that it includes no assumption about future compensation levels The total ABO for all the Companys pension

and SERPA plans combined was $1.21 billion and $1.11 billion as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

The following table summarizes information related to Company pension plans with PBO in excess of the

fair value of plan assets in millions

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

Pension plans with PBOs in excess of fair value of plan assets

PBO $1234.9 $1128.7

Fair value of plan assets $1026.1 690.6

Number of plans

The following table summarizes information related to Company pension plans with an ABO in excess of

the fair value of plan assets in millions

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

Pension plans with ABOs in excess of fair value of plan assets

ABO $1174.3 $1070.0

Fair value of plan assets $1026.1 690.6

Number of plans

The Companys SERPA plans which can only be funded as claims are paid had projected and accumulated

benefit obligations of $49.8 million and $38.9 million respectively as of December 31 2009 and $49.5 million

and $41.4 million respectively as of December 31 2008

Plan Assets

The Company employs total return investment approach whereby mix of equities and fixed-income

investments is used to maximize the long-term return of plan assets for prudent level of risk The investment

portfolio contains diversified blend of equity and fixed-income The Companys overall targeted asset
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allocation range at December 31 2009 as percentage of total market value was approximately 75% equity and

25% fixed-income Equity holdings primarily include investments in small- medium- and large-cap companies

in the U.S including Company stock investments in developed and emerging foreign markets and alternative

investments such as private equity and real estate Fixed-income holdings consist of U.S government and agency

securities state and municipal bonds corporate bonds from diversified industries and foreign obligations In

addition cash balances are maintained at levels adequate to meet near term plan expenses and benefit payments

Investment risk is measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through quarterly investment portfolio reviews

The following tables present the fair values of the plan assets related to the Companys pension and

postretirement healthcare plans within the fair value hierarchy as defined in Note 10

The fair values of the Companys pension plan assets as of December 31 2009 are as follows in

thousands

Significant

Quoted Prices in Other Significant

Active Markets for Observable Unobservable

Balance as of Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

December 312009 Level Level Level

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 238489 $238489

Equity holdings

U.S companies 468078 466434 1644

Foreign companies 79879 79286 593

Harley-Davidson common stock 32095 32095

Pooled equity funds 8784 8784

Limited partnership interests 30332 30332

Other 2482 2482

Total equity holdings 621650 586599 2237 32814

Fixed-income holdings

U.S Treasuries 40004 40004

Federal agencies 42817 42817

Corporate bonds 76624 76624

Foreign bonds 5966 5966

Municipal bonds 574 574

Total fixed-income holdings 165985 165985

Total pension plan assets $1026124 $586599 $406711 $32814

Included in the pension plan assets are 1273592 shares of the Companys common stock at December 31

2009 The market value of these shares as of December 31 2009 was $32.1 million

The following table presents reconciliation of the fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs Level as of December 31 2009 in thousands

Limited Partnership

Total Interests Other

Balance beginning of period $29513 $26931 $2582

Actual return on plan assets

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date 1325 1167 158

Purchases sales and settlements 1976 2234 258

Balance end of period $32814 $30332 $2482
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The fair values of the Companys postretirement healthcare plan assets which did not contain any Level

assets as of December 31 2009 are as follows in thousands

Significant

Quoted Prices in Other

Active Markets for Observable

Balance as of Identical Assets Inputs

December 312009 Level Level

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5732 5732

Equity holdings

U.S companies 78304 77846 458

Foreign companies 8849 8476 373

Pooled equity funds 967 967

Total equity holdings 88120 87289 831

Fixed-income holdings

U.S Treasuries 3271 3271

Federal agencies 5747 5747

Corporate bonds 5418 5418

Foreign bonds 513 513

Municipal bonds 342 342

Total fixed-income holdings 15291 15291

Total postretirement healthcare plan assets $109143 $87289 $21854

No plan assets are expected to be returned to the Company during the fiscal year-ended December 31 2010

For 2010 the Companys overall expected long-term rate of return on assets is 8.25% The expected long-

term rate of return is based on the portfolio as whole and not on the sum of the returns on individual asset

categories The return is based on historical returns adjusted to reflect the current view of the long-term

investment market

Postretirement Healthcare Cost

The weighted-average health care cost trend rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit

obligation of the health care plans was as follows

2009 2008

Healthcare cost trend rate for next year 7.5% 8.0%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline the ultimate rate 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2014 2014

This healthcare cost trend rate assumption can have significant effect on the amounts reported

one-percentage-point change in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would have the following effects in

thousands

One One
Percent Percent

Increase Decrease

Total of service and interest cost components in 2009 472 489
Accumulated benefit obligation as of December 31 2009 $11853 11193
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Future Contributions and Benefit Payments

Due to significant declines in worldwide financial market conditions during 2008 the funded status of the

Companys pension and postretirement healthcare plans was adversely affected During 2009 the Company

contributed $233.2 million to its pension SERPA and postretirement healthcare plans The Company is currently

evaluating additional contributions to further fund its pension plans even though no additional contributions are

expected to be required in 2010 The Company expects it will continue to make on-going contributions related to

current benefit payments for SERPA and postretirement healthcare plans

The expected benefit payments and Medicare subsidy receipts for the next five years and thereafter are as

follows in thousands

Postretirement Medicare

Pension SERPA Healthcare Subsidy

Benefits Benefits Benefits Receipts

2010 50288 $13265 24931 887

2011 55500 5599 29988 1038

2012 59183 7685 32256 1244

2013 61141 7351 32269 1438

2014 63409 5334 32485 1635

2015-2019 $370199 $19201 $166102 $11362

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company has various defined contribution benefit plans that in total cover substantially all full-time

employees Employees can make voluntary contributions in accordance with the provisions of their respective plan

which includes 40 1k tax deferral option The Company expensed $3.4 million $14.4 million and $11.7 million

for matching contributions during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

16 Leases

The Company operates certain administrative manufacturing warehouse and testing facilities and equipment under

lease arrangements that are accounted for as operating leases Total rental expense was $10.1 million $1 1.1 million and

$9.7 million for 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Future minimum operating lease payments at December 31 2009 were as follows in thousands

2010 $11985

2011 6871

2012 5152

2013 4900

2014 3659

After 2014 17002

Total operating lease payments $49569

17 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to lawsuits and other claims related to environmental product and other matters In

determining required reserves related to these items the Company carefully analyzes cases and considers the

likelihood of adverse judgments or outcomes as well as the potential range of possible loss The required

reserves are monitored on an ongoing basis and are updated based on new developments or new information in

each matter
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Environmental Protection Agency Notice

The Company has received formal written requests for information from the United States Environmental

Protection Agency EPA regarding certificates of conformity for motorcycle emissions and related

designations and labels ii aftermarket parts and iiiwarranty claims on emissions related components The

Company has submitted written
responses to the EPAs inquiry and has engaged in discussions with the EPA It

is possible that result of the EPA investigation will be some form of enforcement action by the EPA that will

seek fine or other relief However at this time the Company does not know and cannot reasonably estimate the

impact of
any

remedies the EPA might seek

Shareholder Lawsuits

In re Harley-Davidson Inc Securities Litigation was consolidated shareholder securities class action

lawsuit filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin On October 2006 the

Lead Plaintiffs filed Consolidated Class Action Complaint which named the Company and certain former

Company officers as defendants that alleged securities law violations and sought unspecified damages relating

generally to the Companys April 13 2005 announcement that it was reducing short-term production growth and

planned increases of motorcycle shipments On December 18 2006 the defendants filed motion to dismiss the

Consolidated Complaint On October 2009 the judge granted defendants motion to dismiss and the clerk of

court entered judgment dismissing the consolidated lawsuit No appeal was taken from the final judgment and the

dismissal of the action is now final

On August 25 2005 class action lawsuit alleging violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security

Act ERISA was filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin On October

2006 the ERISA plaintiff filed an Amended Class Action Complaint which named the Company the Harley-

Davidson Motor Company Retirement Plans Committee the Companys Leadership and Strategy Council and

certain current or former Company officers or employees as defendants In general the ERISA complaint included

factual allegations similar to those in the consolidated securities class action and alleged on behalf of participants

in certain Harley-Davidson retirement savings plans that the plan fiduciaries breached their ERISA fiduciary

duties On December 18 2006 the defendants filed motion to dismiss the ERISA complaint On October

2009 the judge granted defendants motion to dismiss and the clerk of court entered judgment dismissing the

class action lawsuit No appeal was taken from the final judgment and the dismissal of the action is now final

Three shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Eastern District

of Wisconsin on June 2005 October 25 2005 this lawsuit was later voluntarily dismissed and December

2005 and two shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court on July 22 2005

and November 16 2005 against some or all of the following current or former directors and officers of the

Company Jeffrey Bleustein James Ziemer James Brostowitz Barry Allen Richard Beattie

George Conrades Judson Green Donald James Sara Levinson George Miles Jr James

Norling James McCaslin Donna Zarcone Jon Flickinger Gail Lione Ronald Hutchinson

Kenneth Sutton Jr and John Hevey The lawsuits also name the Company as nominal defendant In general

the shareholder derivative complaints include factual allegations similar to those in the class action complaints

and allegations that officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to the Company On February 14 2006
the state court consolidated the two state court derivative actions and appointed Lead Plaintiffs and Lead

Plaintiffs counsel and on April 24 2006 the state court ordered that the consolidated state court derivative

action be stayed until after motions to dismiss the federal securities class action are decided On February 15

2006 the federal court consolidated the federal derivative lawsuits with the securities and ERISA actions for

administrative purposes On February 2007 the federal court appointed Lead Plaintiff and Co-Lead Plaintiffs

Counsel in the consolidated federal derivative action

On November 24 2009 both federal court derivative plaintiffs moved to voluntarily dismiss their lawsuits

and all claims without prejudice On November 30 2009 the federal court entered orders granting the motions

and dismissing the federal court derivative lawsuits without prejudice and those cases are now closed The
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parties have agreed that the lead plaintiff in the consolidated state court derivative action may have until

February 19 2010 to file an amended complaint in that action and that defendants may have until March 26

2010 to respond to any amended complaint

The Company believes the allegations in the state court derivative lawsuit are without merit and it intends to

vigorously defend against the suit should the plaintiffs file an amended complaint The Company is unable to

predict the scope or outcome or quantify their eventual impact if any on the Company At this time the

Company is also unable to estimate associated
expenses or possible losses The Company maintains insurance

that may limit its financial exposure
for defense costs and liability for an unfavorable outcome should it not

prevail for claims covered by the insurance coverage

York Environmental Matters

The Company is involved with government agencies and
groups

of potentially responsible parties in various

environmental matters including matter involving the cleanup of soil and groundwater contamination at its

York Pennsylvania facility The York facility was formerly used by the U.S Navy and AMF prior to the

purchase of the York facility by the Company from AMF in 1981 Although the Company is not certain as to the

full extent of the environmental contamination at the York facility it has been working with the Pennsylvania

Department of Environmental Protection PADEP since 1986 in undertaking environmental investigation and

remediation activities including an ongoing site-wide remedial investigation/feasibility study RIJFS In January

1995 the Company entered into settlement agreement the Agreement with the Navy The Agreement calls for

the Navy and the Company to contribute amounts into trust equal to 53% and 47% respectively of future costs

associated with environmental investigation and remediation activities at the York facility Response Costs The

trust administers the payment of the Response Costs incurred at the York facility as covered by the Agreement

In February 2002 the Company was advised by the EPA that it considers some of the Companys

remediation activities at the York facility to be subject to the EPAs corrective action program under the

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act RCRA and offered the Company the option of addressing corrective

action under RCRA facility lead agreement In July 2005 the York facility was designated as the first site in

Pennsylvania to be addressed under the One Cleanup Program The program provides more streamlined and

efficient oversight of voluntary remediation by both PADEP and EPA and will be carried out consistent with the

Agreement with the Navy As result the RCRA facility lead agreement has been superseded

Although the RIIFS is still underway and substantial uncertainty exists concerning the nature and scope of

the additional environmental investigation and remediation that will ultimately be required at the York facility

the Company estimates that its share of the future Response Costs at the York facility will be approximately $5.9

million The Company has established reserves for this amount which are included in accrued liabilities in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets

The estimate of the Companys future Response Costs that will be incurred at the York facility is based on

reports of independent environmental consultants retained by the Company the actual costs incurred to date and

the estimated costs to complete the necessary investigation and remediation activities Response Costs related to

the remediation of soil are expected to be incurred over period of several years ending in 2015 Response Costs

related to ground water remediation may continue for some time beyond 2015

Product Liability Matters

Additionally the Company is involved in product liability suits related to the operation of its business The

Company accrues for claim exposures that are probable of occurrence and can be reasonably estimated The

Company also maintains insurance coverage for product liability exposures The Company believes that its

accruals and insurance coverage are adequate and that product liability will not have material adverse effect on

the Companys consolidated financial statements
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18 Capital Stock

Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 800000000 shares of common stock of $.01 par value There were

234.3 million and 232.8 million common shares outstanding as of December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively

During 2008 and 2007 the Company repurchased 6.4 million and 20.4 million shares of its common stock

at weighted-average prices of $40 and $56 respectively These repurchases were made pursuant to the following

authorizations in millions of shares

Shares Repurchased
Authorization Remaining at

Board of Directors Authorization 2009 2008 2007 December 312009

1997 Authorization 0.7 5.8

2005 Authorization 2.8

2006 Authorization 3.1 16.9

2007 Authorization 3.3 16.7

Total 6A 2ft4 225

1997 Authorization The Company has an authorization from its Board of Directors originally adopted

December 1997 to repurchase shares of its outstanding common stock under which the cumulative number of

shares repurchased at the time of any repurchase shall not exceed the sum of the number of shares issued in

connection with the exercise of stock options occurring on or after January 2004 plus 1% of the issued and

outstanding common stock of the Company on January of the current year adjusted for
any

stock split

2005 Authorization In April 2005 the Companys Board of Directors separately authorized the Company

to buy back up to 20.0 million shares of its common stock with no dollar limit or expiration date This

authorization was exhausted during 2007

2006 Authorization In October 2006 the Companys Board of Directors separately authorized the

Company to buy back up to 20.0 million shares of its common stock with no dollar limit or expiration date This

authorization was exhausted during 2008

2007 Authorization In December 2007 the Companys Board of Directors separately authorized the

Company to buy back up to 20.0 million shares of its common stock with no dollar limit or expiration date There

are 16.7 million shares remaining under this authorization at December 31 2009

Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue 2000000 shares of preferred stock of $1.00 par
value The Company

has designated 500000 of the 2000000 authorized shares of preferred stock as Series Junior Participating

preferred stock Preferred Stock Each share of Preferred Stock none of which is outstanding is entitled to

10000 votes per share subject to adjustment and other rights such that the value of one ten-thousandth

interest in share of Preferred Stock should approximate the value of one share of common stock

Preferred Stock is reserved for issuance in connection with the Companys outstanding Preferred Stock

purchase rights Rights On February 17 2000 the Board of Directors of the Company declared dividend of

one Right for each outstanding share of common stock payable upon the close of business on August 20 2000 to

the shareholders of record on that date Under certain conditions each Right entitles the holder to purchase one

ten-thousandth of share of Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $175 subject to adjustment The Rights are

only exercisable if person or group has acquired 15% or more of the outstanding common stock or has

announced an intention to acquire 25% or more of the outstanding common stock either or are
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Triggering Event If there is 15% acquiring party then each holder of Right other than the acquiring party

will be entitled to purchase at the exercise price Preferred Stock having market value of two times the exercise

price

In addition prior to the acquisition of 50% or more of the outstanding common stock by an acquiring party

the Board of Directors of the Company may exchange the Rights other than the Rights of an acquiring party

which have become void in whole or in part at an exchange ratio of one share of common stock or one

ten-thousandth of share of Preferred Stock or share of the Companys preferred stock having equivalent

rights privileges and preferences per Right subject to adjustment The Rights expire upon the close of business

on August 20 2010 subject to extension

19 Share-Based Awards

The Company has share-based compensation plan which was approved by its Shareholders in April 2009

Plan under which the Board of Directors may grant to employees share-based awards including nonqualified

stock options stock appreciation rights SARs shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units RSUs The

options and SARs granted under the Plan have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying

stock at the date of grant and generally vest ratably over four-year period with the first 25% becoming

exercisable one year after the date of grant The options and SARs expire 10
years

from the date of grant Shares

of restricted stock and RSUs that have been issued under the Plan generally vest over periods ranging from to

years
with certain of the shares and RSUs subject to accelerated vesting should the Company meet certain

performance conditions Dividends are paid on shares of restricted stock and dividend equivalents are paid on

RSUs At December 31 2009 there were 15.4 million shares of common stock available for future awards under

the Plan

Stock Options

The Company estimates the grant date fair value of its option awards granted using lattice-based option

valuation model The Company believes that the lattice-based option valuation model provides more precise

estimate of fair value than the Black-Scholes option pricing model Lattice-based option valuation models utilize

ranges of assumptions over the expected term of the options The Company uses weighted-average of implied

and historical volatility to determine the expected volatility of its stock The Company uses historical data to

estimate option exercise and employee termination within the valuation model The expected term of options

granted is derived from the output of the option valuation model and represents the average period of time that

options granted are expected to be outstanding The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the

option is based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant

Assumptions used in calculating the lattice-based fair value of options granted during 2009 2008 and 2007

were as follows

2009 2008 2007

Expected average term in years 7.5 5.9 5.1

Expected volatility 53% 79% 37% 44% 21% 24%

Weighted average volatility 56% 39% 22%

Expected dividend yield 3.3% 2.0% 1.4%

Risk-free interest rate 0.3% 2.8% 1.9% 3.7% 4.7% 5.1%

109



The following table summarizes the stock option transactions for the year ended December 31 2009 in

thousands except for per share amounts

Weighted-

Average

Options Price

Options outstanding beginning of period 5552 49

Options granted 3420 13

Options exercised

Options forfeited 1299 36

Options outstanding end of period 7673 35

Exercisable end of period 3898 47

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the years
ended December 31 2009 2008 and

2007 was $5 $10 and $15 respectively

As of December 31 2009 there was $19.6 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to stock

options that is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of 2.7
years

The following table summarizes the aggregate intrinsic value related to options outstanding exercisable and

exercised as of and for the years ended December 31 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Exercised $1044 $12010

Outstanding $35713 11 9613

Exercisable 5183 9613

The Companys policy is to issue new shares of common stock upon the exercise of employee stock options

The Company has continuing authorization from its Board of Directors to repurchase shares to offset dilution

caused by the exercise of stock options which is discussed in Note 18

Stock options outstanding at December 31 2009 options in thousands

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average

Price Range Contractual Life Options Exercise Price

$10.01 to$20 9.1 2705 $12

$20.01 to $30 9.4 345 $22

$30.01 to $40 7.0 1342 $38

$40.01 to $50 2.8 788 $42

$50.01 to $60 4.4 1423 $52

$60.01 to $70 6.1 1070 $65

Options outstanding 6.8 7673 $35

Options exercisable 4.9 3898 $47

Stock Appreciation Rights SARs

SARs vest under the same terms and conditions as options however they are settled in cash equal to their

settlement date fair value As result SARs are recorded in the Companys consolidated balance sheets as

liability until the date of exercise
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The fair value of each SAR award is estimated using lattice-based valuation model In accordance with

SFAS No 123R the fair value of each SAR award is recalculated at the end of each reporting period and the

liability and
expense adjusted based on the new fair value and the percent vested

The assumptions used to determine the fair value of the SAR awards at December 31 2009 were as follows

Expected average term in years 6.1

Expected volatility 40% 47%

Expected dividend yield 1.6%

Risk-free interest rate 0.04% 3.85%

The following table summarizes the SAR transactions for the year ended December 31 2009 in thousands

except for per share amounts

Weighted-

Average

SARs Price

Outstanding beginning of period 195 47

Granted 260 13

Exercised

Forfeited 91 16

Outstanding end of period 364 30

Exercisable end of period 20 39

The weighted-average fair value of SARs granted during the years ended December 31 2009 and 2008 was

$5 and $10 respectively

Restricted Nonvested Stock

The fair value of restricted shares is determined based on the market price of the Companys shares on the

grant date The following table summarizes the restricted share transactions for the year ended December 31

2009 in thousands except for
per

share amounts

Grant Date

Restricted Fair Value

Shares Per Share

Nonvested beginning of period 1049 $51

Granted 1195 $13

Vested 309 $23

Forfeited 330 $19

Nonvested end of period 1605 $35

As of December 31 2009 there was $18.9 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted

stock that is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period of 2.7 years

Restricted Stock Units RSUs

Restricted stock units vest under the same terms and conditions as restricted stock however they are settled

in cash equal to their settlement date fair value As result RSUs are recorded in the Companys consolidated

balance sheets as liability until the date of vesting
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The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the market price of the Companys shares on the grant date

The following table summarizes the restricted share transactions for the year ended December 31 2009 in

thousands except for per share amounts

Weighted-Average
Grant Date

Restricted Fair Value

Stock Unit Per Share

Nonvested beginning of period 73 $53

Granted 101 $12

Vested 16 $29

Forfeited 24 $46

Nonvested end of period .... .... 134 $27

20 Earnings Per Share

As discussed in Note the Company was required to adopt ASC Topic 260-10-55 as of January 2009

Under the guidance of ASC Topic 260-10-55 unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable

rights to dividends or dividend equivalents whether paid or unpaid are participating securities and must be

included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two-class method as described in ASC Topic

260 The Company has share-based compensation plan under which employees may be granted share-based

awards including shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units RSUs Non-forfeitable dividends are paid

on unvested shares of restricted stock and non-forfeitable dividend equivalents are paid on unvested RSUs As

such shares of restricted stock and RSUs are considered participating securities under the two-class method of

calculating earnings per
share The two-class method of calculating earnings per share did not have material

impact on the Companys earnings per
share calculation as of December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per
share from continuing

operations for the years ended December 31 in thousands except per share amounts

2009 2008 2007

Numerator

Income from continuing operations used in computing basic and diluted

earnings per share 70641 $684235 $933843

Denominator

Denominator for basic earnings per share-weighted-average common

shares 232577 234225 249205

Effect of dilutive securities employee stock compensation plan 996 252 677

Denominator for diluted earnings per share-adjusted weighted-average shares

outstanding 233573 234477 249882

Earnings per common share from continuing operations

Basic 0.30 2.92 3.75

Diluted 0.30 2.92 3.74

Options to purchase 5.0 million 5.2 million and 1.4 million weighted-average shares of common stock

outstanding during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively were not included in the Companys computation of

dilutive securities because the exercise price was greater than the market price and therefore the effect would

have been anti-dilutive
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21 Business Segments and Foreign Operations

Business Segments

The Company operates in two business segments Motorcycles and Financial Services The Companys

reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services They are managed

separately based on the fundamental differences in their operations

The Motorcycles segment designs manufactures and sells at wholesale primarily heavyweight engine

displacement of 651 cc touring custom and performance motorcycles as well as line of motorcycle parts

accessories general merchandise and related services

The Financial Services segment provides wholesale and retail financing and insurance and insurance-related

programs primarily to Harley-Davidson and Buell dealers and their retail customers HDFS conducts business

principally in the United States and Canada

Information by industry segment is set forth below for the years ended December 31 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Revenue

Motorcycles $4287130 $5578414 $5726848

Financial Services 494779 376970 416196

$4781909 $5955384 $6143044

Operating income loss

Motorcycles 314055 976402 $1213392

Financial Services2 117969 82765 212169

196086 $1059167 $1425561

Motorcycles operating income for 2009 includes total restructuring and impairment charges of $221.0 million and $12.4 million in

restructuring charges for 2008 see Note

Financial Services operating loss for 2009 includes restructuring charge of $3.3 million see Note

Financial Services operating loss income for 2009 and 2008 includes lower of cost or market adjustment of $5.9 million and $37.8

million respectively see Note 10
Financial Services operating loss income for 2009 2008 and 2007 includes an impairment charge of $45.4 million $41.4 million and

$9.9 million respectively see Note

Financial Services revenue includes $14.7 million $18.0 million and $27.7 million of interest that HDMC

paid to HDFS on wholesale finance receivables in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively This interest was paid on

behalf of HDMC independent dealers as way to enable dealers to manage seasonal increases in inventory

The offsetting cost of these interest incentives was recorded as reduction to Motorcycles revenue
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Information by industry segment is set forth below as of December 31 in thousands

Financial

Motorcycles Services Consolidated

2009

Total assetsa $3277925 $5877593 $9155518

Depreciation 238276 8068 246344

Capital expenditures 111316 5432 116748

2008

Total assetsb $2743856 $5084769 $7828625

Depreciation 212915 7840 220755

Capital expenditures 224623 4336 228959

2007

Total assets $2209531 $3447075 $5656606

Depreciation 197655 6517 204172

Capital expenditures 232139 9974 242113

2009 total assets for the Motorcycles segment includes assets of discontinued operations of $181.2 million

2008 total assets for the Motorcycles segment includes assets of discontinued operations of $238.7 million

Geographic Information

Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following amounts relating to geographic locations

for the years ended December 31 in thousands

2009 2008 2007

Revenue from Motorcyclesa

United States $2910094 $3844053 $4208016

Europe 700882 888020 790150

Japan 255901 279369 229759

Canada 175964 256640 230230

Australia 137626 168122 162689

Other foreign countries 106663 142210 106004

$4287130 $5578414 $5726848

Revenue from Financial Servicesa

United States 466161 348461 381001

Europe 3164 3166 13638

Canada 25454 25343 21557

494779 376970 416196

Long-lived assetsb

United States 918659 $1100858 $1173169

International 65412 63040 66988

984071 $1163898 $1240157

Revenue is attributed to geographic regions based on location of customer

Long-lived assets include all long-term assets except those specifically excluded under ASC Topic 280 Segment Reporting such as

deferred income taxes and finance receivables
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22 Related Party Transactions

The Company has the following material related party transactions director of the Company is Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer and an equity owner of Fred Deeley Imports Ltd Deeley Imports the exclusive

distributor of the Companys motorcycles in Canada The Company recorded motorcycles and related products

revenue and financial services revenue from Deeley Imports during 2009 2008 and 2007 of $177.2 million

$258.3 million and $231.9 million respectively and had accounts receivables balances due from Deeley Imports

of $13.9 million and $31.5 million at December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively All such products were

provided in the ordinary course of business at prices and on terms and conditions that the Company believes are

the same as those that would result from arm s-length negotiations between unrelated parties

23 Supplemental Consolidating Data

The supplemental consolidating data for the periods noted is presented for informational purposes The

supplemental consolidating data may be different than segment information presented elsewhere due to the

allocation of intercompany eliminations to reporting segments All supplemental data is presented in thousands

Year Ended December 312009

Motorcycles Related Financial

Products Operations Services Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Revenue

Motorcycles and related products

Financial services

Total revenue

Costs and expenses

Motorcycles and related products cost

of goods sold

Financial services interest expense

Financial services provision for credit

losses

Selling administrative and engineering

expense

Restructuring and other impairments

expense

Goodwill impairment
_________ ________ _________

Total costs and expenses

Operating income loss

Investment income

Interest expense

Income loss before provision for income

taxes

Provision for benefit from income taxes

Income loss from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations net of

tax

908

908

$4287130

494779

4781909

$4287130

4287130

2900934

852073

220976

3973983

313147

4254

21680

295721

140565

155156

125757

29399

495687

495687

283634

169206

128219

3302

28387

612748

117061

117061

32546

84515

84515

2900934

283634

169206

908 979384

224278

28387

908 4585823

196086

4254

21680

178660

108019

70641

125757

55116Net income loss
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Year Ended December 31 2008

Costs and expenses

Motorcycles and related products cost of goods

sold

Financial services interest expense

Financial services provision for credit losses

Selling administrative and engineering

expense

Restructuring and other impairments

expense

Goodwill impairment

Total costs and
expenses

Operating income

Costs and expenses

Motorcycles and related products cost of goods

sold

Financial services interest expense

Financial services provision for credit losses

Selling administrative and engineering

expense

Total costs and
expenses

Income from operations

136763

39555

942839 122816

12475

4602584

980759

11296

4542

987513

353641

633872
29517

604355

81475

11252

3647270
136763

39555

5501 1060154

12475

5501 4896217

1059167

11296

4542

1065921

381686

684235

29517

654718

3612748

81475

11252

14317 1012008

14317 4717483

1425561

Revenue

Motorcycles and related products

Financial services

Total revenue

Financial

Services Operations

377542

377542

Eliminations Consolidated

Motorcycles

Related

Products

Operations

$5583343

5583343

3647270

$4929
572

5501

$5578414
376970

5955384

299134

78408

78408

28045

50363

50363

Investment income

Interest expense

Income before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Income from continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax

Net income

Revenue

Motorcycles and related products

Financial services

Total revenue

Year Ended December 312007

Financial

Services Operations Eliminations Consolidated

7841 $5726848
422672 6476 416196

422672 14317 6143044

Motorcycles

Related

Products

Operations

$5734689

5734689

3612748

907184

4519932

1214757

22258

1237015
438728

798287

Investment income

Income before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income

119141

211868

210804

210804

75248

$135556

22258

1447819

513976

933843
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ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Marketable securities

Accounts receivable net

Finance receivables held for investment

net

Inventories

Assets of discontinued operations

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Finance receivables held for investment net

Property plant and equipment net

Goodwill

Deferred income taxes

Other long-term assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Liabilities of discontinued operations

Short-term debt

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Pension liability

Postretirement healthcare benefits

Other long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies Note 17
Total shareholders equity

141097

447021

69535

204959

862612

600000

245332

264472

143905

$1630433

39685

87561 269371

1436114

323029

181211

179685

282421

87561 4341949

3621048

906906

31400

2581 177504

63817 76711

$153959$91555 18

87561$ 162515

2581 514084

69535

189999

_________
1332091

90142 2268224

4114039

245332

264472

155333

Motorcycles Related

Products Operations

December 31 2009

Financial

Services Operations Eliminations Consolidated

$1141862 488571

39685

356932

323029

181211

130884

60864

2234467

872336

31400

169843

123838

$3431884

1436114

48801

221557

2195043

3621048

34570

10242

16690

$5877593

108979

69644

189999

1127132

1495754

3514039

11428

856372

$5877593

1315563

$3431884

63817 2108118

$153959 $9155518
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ASSETS

December 31 2008

Motorcycles Related Financial

Products Operations Services Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Finance receivables held for sale

Finance receivables held for investment

net

Inventories

Assets of discontinued operations

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses
and other current assets

Total current assets

Finance receivables held for investment net

Property plant and equipment net

Goodwill

Deferred income taxes

Other long-term assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Liabilities of discontinued operations

Short-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Pension liability

Postretirement healthcare benefits

Other long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies Note 17

Total shareholders equity

261180

427308

77941

766429

181597

484003

274408

142755

568894

306433 265319

2443965

1378461

379141

238715

123327

128730

306433 5526552

817102

1056928

60131

2176 288240

90953 79672

$399562 $7828625

$306433$ 303277

2176 503466

77941

1738649

308609 2623333

2176238

484003

274408

155040

295512

571752

379141

238715

86523

83736

1655379

1019013

31291

281527

156208

$3143418

273382

2443965

1378461

36804

44994

4177606

817102

37915

28840

8889

14417

$5084769

348530

78334

1738649

2165513

1994641

12285

912330

$5084769

1294226

$3143418

90953 2115603

$399562 $7828625
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238276

118201

233224
16326

18023

37814

26914

22234
8828

226334

85472

213750
65346

10591
2005

384922

540078

71298
18805
1208

91311

827749

295512
24664

827749

6063

$1141862

Year ended December 31 2009

8068

1250

1180467
919201

45370

5895

28387

169206

19983

67617

217525

217525

3360

242784
642

5880
28118

178720 332167

263235 332167

496514

2413192

263083
1103807

513168
167667

861981

404
215189

55116
125757

70641

246344

118201

233224
17576

332167

1180467
919201

45370

5895

46410

37814

169206

6931

22234
76445

8809

3360
85472

239009
65988

4711
30123

538369

609010

116748
1378226

607168

61170

39685
2834

863487

496514

595026

2413192
263083

1083331
513168
167667
93807

1920
170

11

1381937

6789

1134249

71298
18805
1208

91311
1042938

568894
24664

1042938
6063

1630433

Motorcycles

Related Financial Eliminations

Products Services

Operations Operations Adjustments Consolidated

29399 84515
125757

155156 84515

332167

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income loss
Loss from discontinued operations

Income loss from continuing operations

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation

Provision for employee long-term benefits

Contributions to pension and postretirement plans

Stock compensation expense

Net change in wholesale finance receivables

Origination of retail finance receivables held for sale

Collections of retail finance receivables held for sale

Impairment of investment in retained securitization interests

Lower of cost or FMV adj on finance receivables HFS
Goodwill and other impairments

Curtailment and settlement expense

Provision for credit losses

Deferred income taxes

Foreign currency adjustments

Other net

Change in current assets and current liabilities

Accounts receivable

Finance receivables aceroed interest and other

Inventories

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Restructuring reserves

Derivative instruments

Other

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by used by operating activities of continuing operations

Cash flows from investing activities of continuing operations

Capital expenditures

Origination of finance receivables held for investment

Collections of finance receivables held for investment

Collection of retained securitization interests

Purchase of marketable securities

Other net

Net cash used by investing activities of continuing operations

Cash flows from financing activities of continuing operations

Proceeds from issuance of medium-term notes

Proceeds from issuance of senior unsecured notes

Proceeds from seeuritization debt

Repayments of securitization debt

Net inerease/decrease in credit facilities and unsecured commercial paper

Net repayments of asset-backed commercial paper

Net change in restricted cash

Dividends paid

Purchase of common stock for treasury

Excess tax benefits from share based payments

Issuance of common stock under employee stock option plans

Net cash provided by financing activities of continuing operations

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations

Cash flows from investing activities of discontinued operations

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations beginning of period

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Less Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations end of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

111316 5432
4569104
4130213

61170

39685
2834

148167 383153

3190878

3523045

332167

595026

20476

93807
1920

170

11

519956

7193

919060

215189

273382

215189

488571
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Year ended December 312008

Motorcycles

Related Eliminations

Products Financial

Operations Services Adjustments Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income 604355 50363 654718

Loss from discontinued operations 29517 29517

Income from continuing operations 633872 50363 684235

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation 212915 7840 220755

Provision for employee long-term benefits 76426 76426

Contributions to pension and postretirement plans 19517 19517
Stock compensation expense 22391 2082 24473

Loss on current year securitizations 5370 5370

Net change in wholesale finance receivables 99373 99373

Origination of retail finance receivables held for sale 2788463 2788463
Collections of retail finance receivables held for sale 507106 507106

Proceeds from securitization of retail finance receivables 467722 467722

Impairment of investment in retained securitization interests 41403 41403

Lower of cost or FMV adj on finance receivables HFS 37764 37764

Provision for credit losses 39555 39555

Deferred income taxes 36103 10626 46729
Foreign currency adjustments 2892 2892

Other net 16723 37255 53978

Change in current assets and current liabilities

Accounts receivable 155130 157840 2710

Finance receivables accrued interest and other 7149 7149
Inventories 42263 42263
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 30220 106626 90848 45998

Restructuring reserves 2149 2149

Derivative instruments 9829 2133 11962
Other 6546 2691 3855

Total adjustments 94328 1552957 166365 1292264

Net cash provided by used by operating activities of continuing operations 728200 1502594 166365 608029

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures 224623 4336 228959

Origination of finance receivables held for investment 4934387 4325766 608621
Collections of finance receivables held for investment 4875060 4426070 448990

Collection of retained securitization interests 93747 93747

Proceeds from transfer of finance receivables from HDFSE to EDE 65961 65961
Sales and redemptions of marketable securities 2543 2543

Other net 2575 2575

Net cash used by provided by investing activities 224655 96045 166265 294875

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of medium-term notes 993550 993550

Repayment of medium-term note 400000 400000
Net increase in credit facilities and unsecured commercial paper 193749 567316 761065

Net borrowings of asset-backed commercial paper 490000 490000

Dividends paid 302314 302314
Purchase of common stock for treasury 250410 250410
Excess tax benefits from share based payments 320 320

Issuance of common stock under employee stock option plans 1179 1179

Net cash used by provided by financing activities of continuing operations 357476 1650866 1293390

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations 15814 4438 100 20352

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents of continuing operations 130255 239879 370134

Cash flows from discontinued operations

Cash flows from operating activities of discontinued operations 75028 75028
Cash flows from investing activities of discontinued operations 99963 99963
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents of discontinued

operations 4439 4439

179430 179430

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents 49175 239879 190704

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 369351 33503 402854

Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations beginning of period

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 49175 239879 190704

Less Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations end of period 24664 24664

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 295512 273382 568894
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Year ended December 31 2007

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation

Provision for employee long-term benefits

Contributions to pension and postretirement plans

Stock compensation expense

Gain on current year securitizations

Net change in wholesale finance receivables

Origination of retail finance receivables held for sale

Collections of retail finance receivables held for sale

Proceeds from securitization of retail finance receivables

Impairment of investment in retained securitization interests

Provision for credit losses

Deferred income taxes

Foreign currency adjustments

Other net

Change in current assets and current liabilities

Accounts receivable

Finance receivables accrued interest and other

Inventories

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Other

Motorcycles

Related Financial Eliminations

Products Services

Operations Operations Adjustments Consolidated

798287 135556 933843

204172

75683

15302
20974

36033
22816

2919937
110756

2486780

9932

11252

60779
14581
23977

398144

16247
30000

260805 260805
1153439 1153439

3066 3066

21478 21478

1389700 351897 1037803

18300 1878 3513 12909

162201 2256 164457

207150 31247 238397

369351 33503 402854

6517

2304

36033

2919937
110756

2486780

9932

11252

6317

12265

22816

197655

75683

15302
18670

54462
14581
11712

93232

48019
46486

119631

122987

26399
19680
48019
41210

2519

135697

798146

19680

128263
4145 1626

Total adjustments 306929 468798 26172
__________

Net cash provided by used by operating activities 1105216 333242 26172
___________

Cash flows from investing activities

Capital expenditures 232139 9974 242113
Origination of finance receivables held for investment 5695230 5180871 514359
Collections of finance receivables held for investment 5572508 5203530 368978
Collection of retained securitization interests 118175 118175
Purchase of marketable securities 467609 467609
Sale of marketable securities 1125344 1125344
Other net 2789 2789

Net cash provided by used by investing activities 428385 14521 22659 391205

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from medium-term notes 398144

Net decrease in credit facilities and unsecured commercial paper 16247
Repayment of senior unsubordinated debt 30000
Dividends paid

Purchase of common stock for treasury

Excess tax benefits from share based payments

Issuance of common stock under employee stock option plans

Net cash used by provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period
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SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Quarterly financial data unaudited

In millions except per share data

Motorcycles

Revenue

Operating income

loss

Financial Services

Revenue

Operating income

loss

Consolidated

Income loss before

taxes

Income loss from

continuing

operations

Loss from discontinued

operations

Net income loss
________

Earnings loss per common

share from continuing

operations

Basic

Diluted

Loss per common share from

discontinued operations

Basic 0.05

Diluted 0.05

Earnings loss per common

share

0.06 0.13 0.07 0.31 0.06

0.06 0.13 0.07 0.31 0.06

1st Quarter 2nst Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Mar 29 Mar 30 June 28 June 29 Sep 27 Sep 28 Dec 31 Dec 31
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

$1278.4 $1306.3 $1135.7 $1572.6 $1108.5 $1421.5 764.5 $1278.0

231.0 256.1 174.2 308.7 130.7 249.4 $221.8 162.2

104.7 93.3 124.0 106.8 137.0 112.0 129.2 64.9

11.2 34.9 90.5 37.1 31.5 35.6 7.1 24.9

234.4 293.1 83.2 348.1 99.2 286.7 $238.1 138.0

128.1 187.6 33.4 222.8 56.4 181.9 $147.2 91.9

10.7 13.6 29.9 15.4 71.5 14.1

117.4 187.6 19.8 222.8 26.5 166.5 $218.7 77.8

0.55 0.79 0.14 095 0.24 0.78 0.63 0.40

0.55 0.79 0.14 0.95 0.24 0.78 0.63 0.40

Basic 0.51 0.79 0.08 0.95 0.11 0.71 0.94 0.34

Diluted 0.50 0.79 0.08 0.95 0.11 0.71 0.94 0.34
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Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Rule 13a-15b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act as of the

end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 0-K the Companys management evaluated with the

participation of the Companys President and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Companys disclosure controls and

procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15e under the Exchange Act Based upon their evaluation of these

disclosure controls and procedures the President and Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of

the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K to ensure that information required to be disclosed by

the Company in the reports it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and

reported within the time period specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and to

ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports it files or submits under the

Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Companys management including its President and

Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding disclosure

Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The report of management required under this Item 9A is contained in Item of Part II of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K under the heading Managements Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The attestation report required under this Item 9A is contained in Item of Part II of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K under the heading Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control

over Financial Reporting

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in the Companys internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

quarter ended December 31 2009 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the

Companys internal control over financial reporting
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information included or to be included in the Companys definitive proxy statement for the 2010 annual

meeting of shareholders which will be filed on or about March 12 2010 the Proxy Statement under the

captions Questions and Answers about the Company Who are our executive officers for SEC purposes

Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters Audit Committee Election of Directors Section

16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance Audit Committee Report and Independence of

Directors is incorporated by reference herein

The Company has adopted the Harley-Davidson Inc Financial Code of Ethics applicable to the Companys

chief executive officer the chief financial officer the principal accounting officer and the controller and other

persons performing similar functions The Company has posted copy of the Harley-Davidson Inc Financial

Code of Ethics on the Companys website at www.harley-davidson.com The Company intends to satisfy the

disclosure requirements under Item 5.05 of the Securities and Exchange Commissions Current Report on Form

8-K regarding amendments to or waivers from the Harley-Davidson Inc Financial Code of Ethics by posting

such information on its website at www.harley-davidson.com The Company is not including the information

contained on or available through its website as part of or incorporating such information by reference into

this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information included or to be included in the Proxy Statement under the captions Executive

Compensation and Human Resources Committee Report on Executive Compensation is incorporated by

reference herein

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

Information included or to be included in the Proxy Statement under the caption Common Stock

Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management is incorporated by reference herein

The following table provides information about the Companys equity compensation plans including

individual compensation arrangements as of December 31 2009

Number of securities

Weighted- remaining available for

average future issuance under

Number of securities exercise equity compensation

to be issued upon the price of plans excluding

exercise of outstanding securities reflected in

Plan Category outstanding options options the first column

Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders

Management employees 7614217 $35.14 15408503

Equity compensation plans not submitted to

shareholders

Union employees

Kansas City MO 26718

York PA 41645 $38.88 56250

Non employees

Board of Directors 17300 $49.13 9926

58945 $41.89 92894

Total all plans 7673162 $35.19 15501397
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Plan documents for each of the Companys equity compensation plans have been filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on timely basis and are included in the list of exhibits to this annual report on Form 10-K

Equity compensation plans not submitted to shareholders for approval were adopted prior to current regulations

requiring such approval and have not been materially altered since adoption

The material features of the union employees stock option awards are the same as those of the management

employees stock option awards Under the Companys management and union plans stock options have an

exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant expire ten years from the

date of grant and vest ratably over four-year period with the first 25 percent becoming exercisable one year
after the date of grant

Effective December 31 2002 non-employee directors of the Companys Board of Directors were no longer

eligible to receive stock options Prior to December 31 2002 under the Board of Directors plan each

non-employee director who served as member of the Board immediately following the annual meeting of

shareholders was automatically granted an immediately exercisable stock option for the purchase of such number

of shares of Common Stock equal to three times the annual retainer fee for directors divided by the fair market

value of share of Common Stock on the day of grant rounded up to the nearest multiple of 100 Board of

Directors stock options have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date

of
grant and expire ten years from the date of grant

The Director Compensation Policy provides non-employee Directors with compensation that includes an

annual retainer as well as grant of share units The payment of share units is deferred until director ceases to

serve as director and the share units are payable at that time in actual Company stock The Director

Compensation Policy also provides that non-employee Director may elect to receive 50% or 100% of the

annual retainer to be paid in each calendar year in the form of Common Stock based upon the fair market value

of the Common Stock at the time of the annual meeting of shareholders Each Director must receive minimum
of one-half of his or her annual retainer in Company Common Stock until the Director reaches the Director stock

ownership guidelines defined below

In August 2002 the Board approved Director and Senior Executive Stock Ownership Guidelines

Ownership Guidelines which were most recently revised in September 2009 The Ownership Guidelines

stipulate that all Directors hold 15000 shares of the Companys Common Stock and senior executives hold from

7500 to 200000 shares of the Companys Common Stock depending on their level The Directors and senior

executives have five
years

from the date they are elected Director or promoted to senior executive to

accumulate the appropriate number of shares of the Companys Common Stock

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information included or to be included in the Proxy Statement under the caption Certain Transactions

and Corporate Governance Principles and Board Matters Independence of Directors is incorporated by
reference herein

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information included or to be included in the Proxy Statement under the caption Ratification of

Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees Paid to Ernst Young LLP is incorporated

by reference herein
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K

Financial Statements

Consolidated statements of operations for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2009 61

Consolidated balance sheets at December 31 2009 and December 31 2008 62

Consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended

December 31 2009 63

Consolidated statements of shareholders equity for each of the three years in the period

ended December 31 2009 64

Notes to consolidated financial statements 66

Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II Valuation and qualifying accounts 127

Exhibits

Reference is made to the separate Index to Exhibits contained on pages 132 through 136 filed herewith

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts

sufficient to require submission of the schedules
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Schedule II

HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC

CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

In thousands

2009 2008 2007

Accounts receivable allowance for doubtful accounts

Balance at beginning of period 6240 9016 9435
Provision charged to expense 7715 3061 365

Reserve adjustments 674 146 1028
Write-offs net of recoveries 1872 5983 244

Balance at end of period 11409 6240 9016

Finance receivables held for investment allowance for credit losses

Balance at beginning of period 40068 30295 27283
Provision charged to expense 169206 39555 11252

Write-offs net of recoveries 59192 29782 8240
Balance at end of period $150082 40068 30295

Inventories allowance for obsolescence

Balance at beginning of period 24091 $16307 15282

Provision charged to expense 36476 33033 11695

Reserve adjustments 206 286 1116

Write-offs net of recoveries 25616 24963 11786

Balance at end of period 34745 24091 16307

Deferred tax assets valuation allowance

Balance at beginning of period

Allowance for operating loss carryforwards 22170

Balance at end of period 22170

Inventory obsolescence reserves deducted from cost determined on first-in first-out FIFO basis before deductions for last-in first-out

LIFO valuation reserves
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant

has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on

February 23 2010

HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC

By /5/ Keith Wandell

Keith Wandell

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 23 2010

Name Title

IS Keith Wandell
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director

Keith Wandell Principal executive officer

IS John Olin Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

John Olin Principal financial officer

IS Mark Kornetzke
Chief Accounting Officer

Mark Kornetzke Principal accounting officer

IS Barry Allen Chairman and Director

Barry Allen

IS Richard Beattie
Director

Richard Beattie

/5/ Martha Brooks Director

Martha Brooks

IS George Conrades
Director

George Conrades

IS Judson Green
Director

Judson Green

IS Donald James Director

Donald James

IS Sara Levinson Director

Sara Levinson

IS Thomas Linebarger Director

Thomas Linebarger

IS George Miles Jr
Director

George Miles Jr

IS James Norling Director

James Norling

IS Jochen Zeitz
Director

Jochen Zeitz
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

15a3 and 15cI

Exhibit No Description

3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation as amended through August 21 2000 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2008 File No 1-9183

3.2 Harley-Davidson Inc By-Laws as amended through February 11 2010 incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 10 2010

File No 1-9183

4.1 Form of Rights Agreement between the Registrant and Firstar Bank N.A dated February 17 2000

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-A dated

February 18 2000 File No 1-9183

4.2 Form of Rights Agent Agreement between the Registrant and Computershare Investor Services

LLC incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2000 File No 1-9183

4.3 Indenture to provide for the issuance of indebtedness dated as of November 21 2003 between

Harley-Davidson Funding Corp Issuer Harley-Davidson Financial Services Inc and Harley-

Davidson Credit Corp Guarantors to BNY Midwest Trust Company Trustee incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrants Annual Report of Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2005 File No 1-9183

4.4 3-Year Credit Agreement dated as of July 16 2008 among the Company certain subsidiaries of

the Company the financial institutions parties thereto JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as global

administrative agent and global swing line lender Citibank N.A as syndication agent and ABN
Amro Bank N.y BNP Paribas and Deutsche Bank AG New York branch as documentation

agents incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K dated July 16 2008 File No 1-9 183

4.5 Amendment No dated as of April 30 2009 among the Company certain subsidiaries of the

Company the financial institutions parties thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as global

administrative agent to 3-Year Credit Agreement dated as of July 16 2008 among the Company
certain subsidiaries of the Company the financial institutions parties thereto and JPMorgan Chase

Bank N.A as global administrative agent and global swing line lender incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 30 2009 as

amended on August 17 2009 File No 1-9 183

4.6 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of April 30 2009 among the Company certain subsidiaries

of the Company the financial institutions parties thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as

global administrative agent incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrants

Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 30 2009 as amended on May 2009 File No 1-9183

4.7 Loan and Servicing Agreement dated as of April 30 2009 by and among certain subsidiaries of

the Company the financial institutions from time to time party thereto as lenders and

administrative agents JPMorgan Chase Bank NA as Syndication Agent and Program Agent and

Citicorp North America Inc as Syndication Agent incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit

4.3 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 30 2009 as amended on

August 17 2009 File No 1-9 183
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

15a3 and 15c

Exhibit No Description

4.8 Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement dated as of April 30 2009 by and between

certain subsidiaries of the Company incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the

Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 30 2009 as amended on August 17 2009

File No 1-9183

4.9 Letter Agreement dated as of April 30 2009 by and among certain subsidiaries of the Company

the financial institutions from time to time party thereto as lenders and administrative agents

JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as Syndication Agent and Program Agent and Citicorp North

America Inc as Syndication Agent relating to Loan and Servicing Agreement incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 30

2009 as amended on August 17 2009 File No 1-9 183

4.10 Trust Agreement dated as of April 15 2009 between Harley-Davidson Customer Funding Corp

HDCFC and Wilmington Trust Company incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to

the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 12 2009 File No 1-9183

4.11 Indenture dated as of May 2009 between the Harley-Davidson Motorcycle Trust 2009-1 the

Trust and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A the Indenture Trustee

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K

dated May 12 2009 File No 1-9 183

10.1 Harley-Davidson Inc 1995 Stock Option Plan as amended through April 28 2007 incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended April 2007 File No 1-9183

10.2 Harley-Davidson Inc Director Stock Plan as amended and restated effective January 2009

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K

for the
year

ended December 31 2008 File No 1-9 183

10.3 Form of Amended and Restated Transition Agreement as amended through April 25 2008

between the Registrant and each of Ms Lione and Mr McCaslin incorporated herein by reference

to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 30

2008 File No 1-9 183

10.4 Form of Transition Agreement between the Registrant and each of Messrs Levatich Olin and

Wandell

10.5 Transition Agreement between the Registrant and Mr Hund

10.6 Harley-Davidson Management Deferred Compensation Plan as amended and restated effective

January 2009 and further amended March 2009 incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 29

2009 File No 1-9 183

10.7 Form of Life Insurance Agreement between the Registrant and Ms Lione and Mr McCaslin

incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrants Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 1993 File No 1-9 183

Represents management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement in which director or

named executive officer of the Company participated
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

15a3 and 15c

Exhibit No Description

10.8 Form of Amended and Restated Severance Benefits Agreement as amended through April 25
2008 between the Registrant and Ms Lione and each of Messrs Flickinger McCaslin and Richer

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form

l0-Q for the quarter ended March 30 2008 File No 1-9 183

10.9 Form of Severance Benefits Agreement between the Registrant and each of Messrs Hund
Levatich Olin and Wandell

10.10 Form of Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan Agreement between the

Registrant and Mr McCaslin incorporated herein by reference from Exhibit 10.6 to the

Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 28 2008

File No 1-9 183

10.11 Harley-Davidson Pension Benefit Restoration Plan as amended and restated effective January

2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form

10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 File No 1-9183

10.12 Harley-Davidson Retiree Insurance Allowance Plan effective January 2009 together with

amendments adopted through May 31 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to

the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 28 2009

File No 1-9 183

10.13 Harley-Davidson Inc 1998 Non-Exempt Employee Stock Option Plan incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrants Registration Statement on Form S-8 File No 333-75347

10.14 2001 York Hourly-Paid Employees Stock Option Plan incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.17 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31
2000 File No 1-9 183

10.15 Director Compensation Policy effective April 25 2009 incorporated herein by reference from

Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 28
2009 File No 1-9 183

10.16 Deferred Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors as amended and restated effective

January 2009 incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registrants Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the
year

ended December 31 2008 File No 1-9183

10.17 Harley-Davidson Inc 2004 Incentive Stock Plan as amended through April 28 2007

incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2007 File No 1-9183

Represents management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement in which director or

named executive officer of the Company participated
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

15a3 and 15c

Exhibit No Description

10.18 Harley-Davidson Inc 2009 Incentive Stock Plan incorporated herein by reference to Appendix

to the Companys definitive
proxy

statement on Schedule 14A for the Companys Annual Meeting

of Shareholders held on April 25 2009 filed on April 2009 File No 1-9 183

10.19 Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option Agreement of Harley-Davidson Inc under

the Harley-Davidson Inc 1995 Stock Option Plan and the Harley-Davidson Inc 2004 Incentive

Stock Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Registrants Annual Report of

Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31 2005 File No 1-9183

10.20 Form of Notice of Special Grant of Stock Options and Option Agreement of Harley-Davidson

Inc under the Harley-Davidson Inc 1995 Stock Option Plan and the Harley-Davidson Inc 2004

Incentive Stock Plan incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrants Annual

Report of Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005 File No 1-9183

10.21 Form of Notice of Award of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Agreement of Harley-

Davidson Inc under the Harley-Davidson Inc 2004 Incentive Stock Plan incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

March 29 2009 File No 1-9 183

10.22 Form of Notice of Special Award of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Agreement of Harley-

Davidson Inc under the Harley-Davidson Inc 2004 Incentive Stock Plan incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrants Quarterly Report of Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

April 2007 File No 1-9 183

10.23 Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Appreciation Rights and Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement

of Harley-Davidson Inc under the Harley-Davidson Inc 2004 Incentive Stock Plan incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Registrants Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2006 File No 1-9 183

10.24 Form of Notice of Award of Restricted Stock Unit and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement of

Harley-Davidson Inc under the Harley-Davidson Inc 2004 Incentive Stock Plan incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrants Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended April 2007 File No 1-9 183

10.25 Harley-Davidson Inc Employee Short-Term Incentive Plan incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrants Form 10-Q filed May 2005 File No 1-9183

10.26 Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option Agreement of Harley-Davidson Inc under

the Harley-Davidson Inc 2009 Incentive Stock Plan to each of Messrs Hund Levatich Olin and

Wandell incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K dated May 2009 File No 1-9 183

Represents management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement in which director or

named executive officer of the Company participated

132



INDEX TO EXHIBITS

15a3 and 15cI

Exhibit No Description

10.27 Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Agreement of Harley-Davidson

Inc under the Harley-Davidson Inc 2009 Incentive Stock Plan to each of Messrs Hund and

Wandell incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrants Current Report on

Form 8-K dated May 2009 File No 1-9 183

21 List of Subsidiaries

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification pursuant to Rule 3a- 14a

32 Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18

U.S.C 1350

101 Financial statements from the annual report on Form 10-K of Harley-Davidson Inc for the year

ended December 31 2009 filed on February 23 2010 formatted in XBRL the Consolidated

Statements of Operations ii the Consolidated Balance Sheets iiithe Consolidated Statements

of Cash Flows and iv the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements tagged as blocks of text

Represents management contract or compensatory plan contract or arrangement in which director or

named executive officer of the Company participated
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We also believe we have significant oppor

tunity to run our business more effec

tively and efficiently through continuous

improvement in manufacturing product

development and business operations

Our focus on continuous improvement

goes beyond simply reducing costs It

extends to our ability to deliver the right

bikes to the right niarkets at the right

time an essential capability when it comes

to customer satisfaction and effectively

managing supply in line with demand

The transformation currently underway

at our vehicle operations in York Pa dem

onstrates our commitment to reshaping

the face of Harley-Davidson manufacturing

with much greater flexibility and significant

savings from more efficient operation

Just as important is the transformation

under way in Harley-Davidson product

development Our work focuses on product

selection cost reduction and time compres

sion to reduce time to market and consis

tently deliver on customer expectations

Those actions represent important early

steps in what will be an ongoing journey

in continuous improvement

moving with appropriate urgency and mak

ing great progress toward our goal to do

just that We appreciate the trust you have

placed in us to move this company forward

While there is still plenty of hard work

When my journey here at Harley-Davidson

began last May it was obvious that people

were passionate about the brand As have

had the opportunity to get to know our cus

tomers dealers and employees join them at

rallies and events and ride with them it is

clear the passion is far stronger and deeper

than anything could ever have imagined

All of us at Harley-Davidson are fully

committedas one company working as

one team and pulling in one directionto

doing the right things for this company

and for the collective future of all stake-

holders By aligning the organization

behind clear strategic direction we are

ahead could not feel better about the

progress we have made and the path we

have chosen

Sincerely

2009 was indeed year that tested our

company but it was also year of genuine

achievement as we embarked on new

course It was year in which we took

many courageous actiuns to position

Harley-Davidson for the future

Our accomplishments were possible only

through the hard work unwavering spirit

and dedication of our employees dealers

and suppliers who focus every day on

dolivering an outstanding experience for

our customers thank all the members

of our team for their many contributions

As we execute on our strategy we do not

promise easy solutions Consumers will

likely continue to bc cautious in an economic

environment that remains challenging

However we believe our strategy and

the performance measures we have laid out

are based on an appropriate and prudent

approach to the market Delivering on our

plans will take discipline determination and

intense focus but we are confident we can

achieve our goals through our strategy

.WANDLL
PRESIDENT AND
CHIEF EXDCUTIVE OFFICER



The future is calling And its asking more

from us than ever before In 2009 we

answered the call with Harley-Davidsons

go-forward business strategy to Deliver

Results Through Focus

WERE MOVING ON FOUR FRONTS
TO POSITION HAPTEYDAVIUSON
FOR SUSTAINED MEANINGFUL
LONG-TERM RESULTS

Based on four pillarsgrowth continuous

improvement leadership development and

sustainability our strategy has single-

minded focus on the unique strengths of

the Harley-Davidson brand coupled with

an unprecedented commitment of efforts

and resources to enhance productivity

profitability and value

At bigh level we will expand our strength

as one of the most customer-centered

brands in the world anchor our leader

ship of the custom touring and cruiser

motorcycle segments and develop rel

evant products to attract customers in

new demographic segments Well expand

our global presence by accelerating our

reach into key international markets

And of course we remain highly committed

to our core customers From product

development to manufacturing to our

dealer network we are concentrating on

motorcycles and market activities that

create new demand for our motorcycles

and related products

WE BELAnL OUR STRATEGY WILL
EXPAND OUR STRENCTU AS ONE OF
TUE MOST CUSTOMER-CENTERED
BRANDS IN TUE WORLD

These are fi.mdamental points on strate

gic agenda that we must execute in order

to maximize our potential and take full

advantage of our opportunities In short

our strategy to deliver results through

focus is about delivering the full Harley-

Davidson experience in harder-working

smarter and more effective way

02 HARLEY-DAVIDSON INC 2009 ANNUAL REPORT
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GROWTH Harley-Davidson is not oniy one of the strongest brands in the world

it is also we believe brand with tremendous untapped potential We have

chosen to focus our investments behind the Harley-Davidson brand because

we believe it provides superior means for realizing the substantial long-

term opportunities of the global motorcycle industry

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT We do many things very well at Harley-Davidson But

the reality is that there is tremendous opportunity to do many things even

betterin our product development our business processes and our manufac

turing operations Continuous improvement is about much more than reducing

costs We are driving out unnecessary steps and complexity and building in

greater flexibility and efficiency in products path from design to dealership

Its how we get better at managing supply and demand continuously improving

quality and responding faster and more effectively to the needs of our markets

and the desires of riders

LEADERSHIP DEVELOPMENT The third pillar of our strategy is leadership develop

ment the foundation for our ability to compete and win for decades to come

We will only succeed with great peopleindividuals who will challenge the

status quo and who are creative collaborative and accountable To fulfill our

brand and business potential we must prepare strong committed leaders

who live our values and deliver every day

SUSTAINABILITY The stature of our companyand the visibility of our brand in

societygives Harley-Davidson particular obligation to seize the opportunities

of sustainability and giving back We are continually expanding the ways in

which we incorporate social and environmental responsibility in our work our

manufacturing processes and our products
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MACEINES TEAT
nT TEE MINDSET

Everyone has vision of what Harley-

Davidson motorcycle should be And as

we build on our position as the leader of

two-wheeled authenticity were looking

deep into the dreams of new riders long

time customers and young customers alike

to develop motorcycles that fit individual

lives and lifestyles

Theres powerful reason for this

approach it works Motorcycles are all

about emotion and no motorcycles inspire

as much of it as ours

THE EWE COMES REST

More than ever were developing prod
ucts that appeal across generations and

cultures Dark Custom bikes like the Iron

883 and the new Forty-Eight with

their stripped-down rebellious attitude

are drawing in young adult riders Prod

ucts like the Electra Glide Ultra Limited

Tn Glide and motorcycles from Custom

Vehicle Operations deliver premium

experience for our core customers giving

them reasons to trade up and ways to

extend the ride And through customiza

tion and MotorClothes riding gear each

riding experience can truly be individu

alized to fit the owners mindset

THE IHSCIPLII.iE OF PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

The best companies do more than move

the market they move ahead of it To

further strengthen our effectiveness at

delivering twist-of-the-throttle emotion

to diverse customers we are transforming

product development in ways that sharpen

our focus on what riders want deliver

relevant products in each global market

improve speed to market and grow our

family of riders

ros Inspiration comes in many shapes

and colors the 2010 CV0 Ultra Classic Electra

Glide motorcycle in Scarlet Red Pearl with Dark
Slate flames for an ultimate Custom

touring ride and the Iron 883 motorcycle with

its blacked-out street smarts



/1
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BOND TEAT EAS
NO BOUNDABIES

Dave Grohl of the band Foo Fighters with his Many customer journeys lead to Milwaukee Fui iiT Harley Owners Group members in China
customized 2009 Tn Glide Ultra Classic his Randy Haase stops at Harley-Davidsons Juneau taking it to the streets at the countrys second

latest motorcycle acquisitionone of five Harley- Avenue headquarters aimual HOG raUy in Huangahan Anhui province

Davidson motorcycles in his personal collection
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The devotion of our most loyal custom

ers has brought us long way Their

passion will continue to be powerful

force We see it in the motorcycles they

ride the individuality they express and

their dedication to the ultimate riding

experience When you have such an

expansive and devoted global community

of riders its more than business ad

vantage its an obligation we take very

seriously to exceed expectations

Were highly committed to keeping the

Harley-Davidson experience rich and re

warding for our current riders and extend

ing their journey Were also focused on

bringing in more riders like them In fact

about third of new Harley-Davidson

motorcycle purchasers in the core rider

segment are either new to motorcycling

or coming to us from other brands

Naturally our motorcycles are key to

attracting these riders and so are the

great rides rallies and events that go

with them The Harley Owners Group

now with more than million members

in 1458 chapters globally is compelling

connection with riders wherever our mo
torcycles travel HOG riding events like

Million Mile Monday and the Pony Express

Ride and rallies from China to South

Carolina keep our most passionate cus

tomers riding more Were also staying

close to customers at major events like

Daytona and Sturgis where were dial

ing up our focus to deliver custom rally

experience like never before
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urruwi wa
IS ROUND
ON MANY ROADS

For those who dream about their first

Harley-Davidson motorcycle theres

moment when desire turns into ownership

Bringing those moments closer within

reach for young adultswomen and diverse

riders everywhere is one of the things

we and our dealers enjoy the most

Young adults those under age 35hold

our brand in virtually the same high es

teem as long-time customers For this new

generation weve created motorcycles

experiences and entire communities

both rca world and virtual to immerse

them in the brand expand our universe of

enthusiasts and make them customers

for life

Bikes like the iron 883 one of our fast

est-selling motorcycles in 2009 have done

exceedingly well among young adults

Rising country music artist and devoted

Harley-Davidson enthusiast Krista Marie
aboard her V-Rod Muscle motorcycle at

2000 Womens Ride for MDA

Our Hiders Edge New Rider Course is

instrumental in growing new relation

ships helping more than 200000 students

take to the streets with confidence since

2000 Thirty-three percent of them are

under age 35 and 37 percent are women
We continue to introduce ourselves to

prospective owners through venues like

the South By Southwest music and

culture festival online communities and

Garage Party events just for women
And to help new customers feel confi

dent on the machine of their dreams we

developed the Harley-Davidson Fit Shop

which enables dealers to outfit most any

bike for any rider

In short we live by the belief that every

customer is custom Every customer

deserves an individualized experience in

every aspect of ownership whether theyre

long-time rider or just getting started

The Forty-Eight motorcycle with its

peanut tank fat front tir and no-frills Derk

Custom appeal

Chontell Brown Michael Rawls and

John Roberts of New Jersey take in the Daytona
Bike Week scene
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OVER OUR
EANDLEBARS
WE CANSEE
TEE WEOLE WORLD2

The XR1200Xmotorcycle with its race-

inspired riding position and hard-hitting

style is part of the product appeal behind our

market share growth in Europe

Anoop Prakash Managing Director of

Ilarley-Davidson India with media at the

Delhi Auto Expo introducing 12 Harley-Davidson

motorcycle models destined for the India

market in 2010

More leisure time enthusiasm for the brand

and rising disposable income equal opportunity in

India for Harley-Davidson as the ultimate symbol

of freedom of the open road
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Europe continues to be prime Harley-

Davidson destinationan example of how

HarleyDavidson is crossing borders like

never before Our brand has remarkable

global strength and were translating that

appeal in ways that speak powerfully to

local enthusiasts Our motorcycles now

roll out of dealerships in more than 70

countries on six continents By 2014 our

plans call for international retail sales

of Harley-Davidson motorcycles to exceed

40 percent of our total retail unit sales

were fueling demand in more mature

international motorcycle markets Today

were major player in Europe climb-

lug into the number three spot in the

heavyweight segment in 2009 with

market share thats double what it was

decade ago We did it through strong

execution on the basics of product selec

tion distribution effective marketing and

retail execution and above all outstand

ing customer experiences

disciplined systematic approach is

also key to growing our global family in

places like India where we are taking

primary role in defining the emerging

leisure riding market.Weve studied the

market in depth laid the groundwork

and will start selling this summer And

consumer enthusiasm is greater than we

ever imagined We see long-term oppor

tunities in india as disposable incomes

and aspirations rise Over time when

riders look to hit the roads we believe we

will be at the leading edge of the market
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REVVING UP
STREET LEVEL
PASSION

Dealers are the local heartbeat of Harley-

Davidson In cities and towns far and neai

they are the vital connection between rider

and machine fulfilling dreams and build

ing lifelong relationships

THE HW.HEP ROAiI

Dealerships are destinations that bring

the entire Harley-Davidson experience to

Lhe world And dealers are more focused

than ever on exceeding customer expec

tations every day They and their teams

understand the importance of personal

izing every customer interaction from

sales service and customization to great

rides and events They are dedicated to

continuous improvementlearning best

practices from one another and through

Harley-Davidson University And with

the adoption of advanced technology

solutions they are able to stay better

connected with customers and manage

their businesses more effectively

M.ANi POINTS OF CONNECTION

Because customers come into the family

in all kinds of ways dealers understand

that every part of their dealership is an

important opportunity to connect Top

caliber sales and service teams are key

to customer engagement so are test rides

and Authorized Rentals which fuel dreams

and inspire new bike purchases And pre

owned motorcycles are just the ticket

in for some riders starting lifetime of

ownership and customization

Theres reason Harley-Davidson deal

ers are the best in the industry To them

Harley-Davidson is much more than

business its way of life and personal

passion which shows at the street level

in destinations around the world

Tr.ET Great service is point of differentiation

for Harley-Davidson dealers including Harley-

Davidson of North Texas in Carrollton and techni

cian Tom Talamantes

SOTTrM Harley-Davidson Boric the oldest Harley
Davidson dealership in France in its new store

just outside Paris Through great execution of

all the details Harley.Davidson new motorcycle

retail sales rose in France in 2009

up Puu Sharing passion for the brand and

business experience at recent Harley-David

son dealer convention are dealers from left

JoaqnIn Trejos San JosØ Costa Rica fry

Fossaen Onalaska Wis Ferdinand Fischer

Vienna Austria Tan Liii Lin Qingdao China and

Tommie Loos Johannesburg South Africa
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WEREBU
TEE EE$T
DIICES BETER

U9T Har1eyDavidsons Kansas City operations

now build VROdr and Sportster motorcycles on
the same line for greater fiexibifity and efficiency

Attention to quality in every detail remains

top priority at our York facility where

we are transforming our operations for best-in-

class capability
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To succeed as manufacturer in todays

global economy takes lot more than the

latest factory equipment or the right

thickness of steel to form into motorcycle

fenders and gas tanks It takes relentless

commitment to customers and quality

skilled and engaged workforce the agility

to flex with the needs of the marketplace

and drive to continually improve

Today Harley Davidson is focused like

never before on achieving best-in-class

manufacturing environment that maxi

mizes flexibility and efficiency enhances

quality at every step and delivers value for

our customers At the heart of these efforts

is major restructuring of our production

operations that began in 2009

IFLANSFOR MA1IcN LA PROGRESS

The biggest transformation is under way

at our factory in York Pa and by 2012

we will have completely revamped how

we build motorcycles there This restruc

turing will reduce complexity and create

the flexibility to produce multiple product

families on the same assembly line every

day The work thats under way at York

will greatly improve our ability to build

the right bikes at the right time to meet

the needs of our customers

Of course the restructuring of our

production operations is about more than

efficiency it reflects our commitment to

build the best bikes better every day

and deliver quality and value with each

Harley-Davidson motorcycle we make
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The Harley-Davidson family shares

powerful purpose giving back Its as

ingrained in our nature as sharing an

open stretch of road

CHAMPiONiNG CAUSE

In 2007 through The Harley-Davidson

Foundations $1 million gift we teamed

up with the nonprofit Disabled American

Veterans to fund fleet of offices on wheels

that help veterans get the government

benefits to which theyre entitled At more

than 1700 stops over the last three years

including many at Harley-Davidson deal

erships DAV advisers helped some 48000

veterans obtain $540 million in benefits

Giving back is also behind remarkable

thirty-year partnership with the Muscular

Dystrophy Association Since 1980 Harley-

Davidson and MDA have shared the road

in the battle against neuromuscular dis

ease As national MDA sponsor Harley-

Davidson together with riders dealers

employees and suppliers has raised more

than $70 million for patient services and

research through rides and events

shared purpose goes beyond philan

thropy Every clay we look for ways to

incorporate sustainable practices into

our business our manufacturing opera

tions and our products to minimize the

impact we have on the environment For

example as noted in our 2009 Sustain-

ability Report we have reduced green

house gas emissions through changes to

our heat-treating operations and saved

enough natural gas to heat 1312 homes

year And the Harley-Davidson Museum
our newest facilityhas been highly

awarded for transforming brownfield

site into an environmentally sustainable

community resource It all adds up to

respectfor our environment our com

munities and our future

WHEN YOU RIDE
WITH US
WE SHARE
PURPOSE

cm Harleys Heroes DAlI Mobile Service

Office staff counsel veterans at Ft Washington

Harley-Davidson during the Rolling Thunder rally

in Washington D.C

P.TTTaM Since opening in 2008 the Harley-Davidson

Museum in Milwaukee has been recognized for

its environmental sensitivity including 2009

GREENGUARD Indoor Air Quality Certification

ocm Abbey Umali Muscular Dystrophy
Association National Goodwill Ambassador

and Bill Davidson Harley-Davidson Vice

President Core Customer Marketing share

moment at the National HOG Rally in

Oklahoma City
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FINANCIAL IIICIILIOIITS

WOLDW
2990 MOTORCYCLES 089 RELA1E9 090905% 9.0018019199.151109
Dollars in millions

741% 11-0 Motorcycles $3174.8

17.9% Parts Accessories 767.3

6.6% General Merchandise 282.2

1.1% Buell Motorcycles .46.5
0.3% Other 16.3

67.9% United States $2910.1

16.3% Europe 700.9

6.0% Japan 255.9

41% Canada 175.8

32% Australia 137.6

25/o Rest of World 1067

Total Net Revenue $4287.1

In thousands except per-share amounts 2008 2007

515159531 00 OPERATIONS OATh

Motorcycles and related products revenue 4.287180 5578414 5726848

Gross profit 1186 196 1931144 2114100

Selling administrative and engineering expense 851 Li.05 942267 900708

Restructuring expense and other impairments 220976 12475

Operating income from motorcycles and related products 316085 976402 1213392

Financial services revenue 494799 376970 416196

Financial services expense 681018 294205 204027

Restructuring expense 3202

Goodwill impairment 28687

Operating loss income from financial services 117969 82.765 212169

Operating income 198.086 1059167 1425561

Investment income 4254 11296 22258

Interest expense 21680 4542

Income before income taxes 178660 1065921 1447819

Provision for income taxes 108019 381686 513976

Income from continuing operations 70841 684235 933843

Loss from discontinued operations net of tax 125757 29517

Net loss income 58116 654718 933843

Earnings per common share from continuing operations

Basic 0.30 292 3.75

Diluted 0.20 292 3.74

Loss per common share from discontinued operations

Basic 0.54 013
Diluted 0.54 013

Loss earnings per common share

Basic 0.24 2.80 3.75

Diluted 0.24 2.79 3.74

Weighted-average common shares

Basic 9182577 234225 249205

Diluted 235579 234477 249882

Cash dividends per common share 0.40 1.29 1.06

00650UDATED BALANCE SHEET DATA I/IT DECEMBER 91

Total assets 9155518 7828625 5656606

Total debt 5636129 3914887 2099955

Total equity 2108118 2115603 2375491

2991 MOTORCYCLES 089 9915119 99090015 99/980191 999108

Dollars in millions

Total Net Revenue $4287.1
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FINANCIALPERFORMANCE SUMMARY

In 2009 Harley-Davidsons revenue from

motorcycles and related products on

continuing basis decreased 23.1 percent

to $4.29 billion compared to 2008 and

income from continuing operations de

creased 89.7 percent from the prior year

to $70.6 million These results reflect the

performance of the Companys motorcycle

business operating losses at Harley-

Davidson Financial Services and the impact

of restructuring charges

Revenue from sales of Harley-Davidson

motorcycles decreased to $3.17 billion in

2009 decline of 25.2 percent from 2008

on 26.5 percent reduction in shipments

of Harley-Davidson motorcycles Revenue

from Genuine Parts and Accessories in

2009 totaled $767.3 million 10.7 per

cent decrease from the previous year and

General Merchandise revenue was $282.2

million decrease of 10.1 percent com

pared to 2008

During 2009 Harley-Davidson took

actions to lower its cost structure through

eliminating excess capacity reducing

administrative costs and exiting non-core

business operations Consequently 2009

results were significantly affected by

non-recurring charges Harley-Davidson

expects restructuring activities mmounced

in 2009 to deliver between $240 million

and $260 million in annual ongoing sav

ings upon completion of those restruc

turing activities

Harley-Davidsons share price increased

48.5 percent during 2009 and the Company

paid out dividends of $0.40 per share in

2009 Harley-Davidson has paid dividend

every year since 1993

HARLEY-ilAViElSON MOTORCYCLES

Worldwide retail sales of Harley-Davidson

motorcycles declined 227 percent in 2009

compared to 2008

In the United States 2009 retail sales

of 162385 Harley-Davidson motorcycles

decreased 25.8 percent from 2008 and

overall U.S heavyweight market regis

trations declined 36.6 percent For the full

year 2009 retail sales of Harley-Davidson

motorcycles in our international markets

decreased 15.4 percent compared to 2008

For the same period retail sales of Harley-

Davidson motorcycles decreased 11.2 per

cent in the Europe Region 27.2 percent

in the Latin America Region 30.9 percent

in Canada and 9.0 percent in the Asia

Pacific Region

In 2009 the Company shipped 223023

Harley-Davidson motorcycles worldwide

compared to 303479 in 2008 In 2009

35 percent of the Harley-Davidson mo
torcycles shipped went to international

markets compared to 32 percent in 2008

HARi.EY- FiNANCAi SERviCES

Financial Services incurred an operating

loss of $118.0 million in 2009 compared to

operating income of $82.8 million in 2008

largely due to $72.7 million credit loss

provision for one time reclassification

of Held for Sale receivables to Held for

Investment and $28.4 million good

will impairment charge

In dollars
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91ALT-AV%DSON MOTaCTLE
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CORPORATE SUMMARY

U0Z STAT$
ttlCC MOTORCYCLE REOMTRATIORS

H-D vs Industry units in thousands

MARKET SHARE
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ROARC OF ECTOR EARLEYRVOTOE PATRICK AMITB the Companys trademarks are

RRLEYCAVCSOR INC MIFFOF COMPANY Vice President and owned by 00-0 Michigan LLC
LEACERSHIP General Manager subsidiary of the Company

BARRY ALLEN General Merchandise which also manages the

Senior Advisor Providence CHARLES BAKER Companys trademark slsategy

Equity Partners President Vice Presideni
MARK VAN GENDEREN and portfolio The MV Agusia

Allen Enterprises LLC ON Engineering Vice President and Managing trademarks are owned
Director Latin America by ltlV Agusta Motor E.p.A

RICHARD BEATTIE JOANNE BISCHMANN

Cha ma mpson ssdent us ng SAOLE
Thacher Bartlett LLP and Special Events CA LTEY
MARTBA BROOKS RODNEY COPES JON FLICKINGER AFNJAL SNARENOLOTRS

Former President and Chief Senior Vice President Isster- President arsd

Operating Officer Novehs Inc national Sales Marketing Chief Operating Officer The Annual Meeting of

and Business Development Such Motorcycle Company Shareholders will convene at

GEORGE CONRADES 1030 a.m CT on Satusday
Ex ut Cha rn an WILLIAM DAVIDSON

Ap 104 0010 at the

Akama Technolog Sen ceP and Ha ivy Day on scum
Chief Styling Officer 400 Canal Street

JUOSON GREEN
Vice Chairman NAVTEQ WILLIAM DAVIDSON STEVEN CUNNINGHAM

Milwaukee WI sTOOl

Vice President Vice President and Chief LC FORM 100
DONALD JAMES Core Customer Marketing Firsancial Officer Nancy-

copy of the Company
Chairman and Chief Davidson Financial Services

Armual Report as filed with tlse

Executive Officer Deeley KARL KBENLE

Harley-Davidson Canada Senior Vice President LAWRENCE HUND
Securstses and Exchange

Commisason on F0Im SO-K
Fred Deeley Imports Ltd Manufacturing President Harley-Davsdson

may be obtained from the
FinancIal Servsces

SARA LEVINSON FRED GATES Company without charge to

Fosmer President of the Vice President and F5A the shareholders or via the

Womens Grossp of RsdaleInc General Manager 0F.000 LFROLRSRF Companys Web site

York Vehicle Operations

IROMAS LINEBARGER CLA0010 CASTIGLIONI 1.

PresIdent and Chief Ope at ng DONALD 000AN Cha MV Agusta
CL

Officer Cummins Inc Vice President Global
15 S4o

Advanced Manufacturing ENRICO DONOFRIO To obtain information on our

GEORGE MILES JR President and Managing Direct Stock Purchase and

Presidemsi and Chief Executive JAMES HANEY Director MV Agusta Dividend Neinvestmerst Plan

Officer WOED Multimedia Vice President atsd please contact our registrar

Chief Information Officer
COMA1T and transfer agent

JAMES NORLING OAUO8
Former Chairman of MICHAEL HKERHOLD Compulershare CIP

the Board Chartered Vice President and General
RRRrEY.OAYLISOR INC 250 Royall Street

Semiconductor Manager Powertrain
3700 West Juueast Avenue Mail Stop 1A

Manufacturirsg Ltd Operations Pilgrim Road P.O Box 653 Canton MA 02021

now known as
Milwaukee WI 53201-0653 www.compulershare.com

GlnbalFoundnies Inc TIMOTHY HOELTER 414-343-4660 866-360-5339 toll-free

Vice President or 312-360-0339

KEITH WANDELL Government Mfairs
Internet Addresses

President and Chief www.harley-davidson.cosn CORTAC iIRVESTOR

Executive Officer EDWARD KRISHOK www.buell.com REi..ATORI NT

Harley-Davidson Inc Vice President www.mvagusla.com 877-HDSTOCK toll-free

General Counsel 414-343-4792

JOCHEN ZEITZ 51.1ELi IRFonI 50-
or e-mail investor.relatious

Chief Executive Officer and MICHELLE KUMBIER Harley-Davidson Museum
@harley-davidson.com

Chairman of the Board Vice President and 400 Canal Street

Puma AG General Manager Milwaukee WI 53201
Corporate Governance

Materials Management 577-436-8735 materials may be obtained

www.h.dmuseum.com via our Web site at

MATTHEW LEVATICH
www.haxley-davidson.com

President and PLAN OCR N.FOIIYAo0
including our Code of Business

TONIT CALAWAY Chief Operating Officer 877-883-1450 Conduct which is available

Vice President York PA motorcycles in eight languages In addhtion

Human Resources ROBERT LINDLEY Kansas City MO motorcycles we maintain alt ethics

Vice President and
holline at 800-688-2316

PERRY GLASSGOW1 Managing Director Europe The following are among

Vice President Treasurer the Companys trademarks Communication with the

and Controller
JAMES M5CASLIN HARLEY-DAVIDSON HARLEY Board co the Secretary of
Executive Vice Presidenl the Bar Shield Logo Harley-Davidson Inc

SUSAN HENDERSON Corporate Psoduct Planning MOTORCLOTHES RIDERS 3700 West Juneau Avenue
Vice President EDGE HARLEY OWNERS Box 653

Communications JEFFREY MERTEN
GROUR HOG SPORTSTER Milwaukee WI 53201-0603

Vice President and
V-ROD ELECTRA GLIDE

GAIL LIONEl General Manager TRI GLIDE DARK CUSTOM 2010 Harley-Davidson Inc
Executive Vice Presidenl North American Sales STREET GLIDE IRON 883
General Counsel Secrelas-y FORTY-EIGHT GARAGE Design VSA Partners Inc

and Chief Compliance Officer SCOTT CHILLER
PARTY SCREAMIN EAGLE Prhsting Lake Cswity Press

Vice Pressdent and
atsd BUELL The HARLEY- Paper Sappi Ssmnersel

JOHN OLIN General Manager DAVIDSON trademark has Photography Eric Perry
Senior Vice President and Parts arid Accessories

been used since 1003 and Peter Turnley various

Clnef Financial Officer
the Bar sod Shield trademark

MARK-HANS RICHER since at least 1910 The f\0 Mixed Sources

KEITH WANDELO Senior Vice President and BUELL trademark has been

President and Chief Marketing Officer used since 1984 With ihe
so

Chief Executive Officer
exceplionof the MVAgusta

FSC
trademarks substantially all of

12.5 industry data is derived from submissions of motorcycle

retail caSes by each major manufaclsuer to an independent

third party This third paity data is subject to revision and

update 2009 and 2008 U.S industry data includes three-wheeled

vehicles The Company did not ship three-wheeled vehicles

until 2008 and does nut believe three-wheeled vehicle retail

registrations were significant in the U.S for 2007 and prior

Europe data includes registrations in Austria Belgium

Denmark Finland France Germany Greece Italy Netherlands

Norway Portugal Spain Sweden Switzerland and the United

Kingdom The Cnmpany derives its Europe industry data

from information provided by Giral S.A an independent

agency This third party data is subject to revision and update

Europe industry data includes three-wheeled vehicles

The retail registration data for Harley-Davidson motorcycles

presented in these tables may differ sitglslly from the Harley-

Davidson retail sales data presented elsewhere in this report

The Companys source for retail sales presented elsewhere in

this report is sales and warranty registrations provided by

Harley-Davidson dealers as compiled by the Company Tile

differences are not significant and generally relate to the

timing of data submissions to the independent sources

1Corporaie Officer
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We fulfill dreanie inepired by the manyroad of

the world by providing entraordinary

motorcyclee and customer enperiences We fuel

the paion for freedom In our cuetomer
to eiprees their own individuality
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